
 
Agenda

Audit Committee
The Corporation of the City of Brampton

 

 
 

Date: Monday, June 12, 2023
Time: 2:00 p.m.
Location: Hybrid Meeting - Virtual Option & In-Person in Council Chambers – 4th Floor –

City Hall

Members: Regional Councillor D. Keenan, Chair
Regional Councillor P. Vicente, Vice Chair
Regional Councillor N. Kaur Brar
Regional Councillor M. Palleschi
Regional Councillor G. Toor

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For inquiries about this agenda, or to make arrangements for accessibility accommodations
for persons attending (some advance notice may be required), please contact:
Sonya Pacheco, Legislative Coordinator, Telephone 905.874.2178, TTY 905.874.2130
cityclerksoffice@brampton.ca

 
Note: Meeting information is also available in alternate formats upon request.



1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Declarations of Interest under the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act

4. Consent

The Meeting Chair will review the relevant agenda items during this section of the
meeting to allow Members to identify agenda items for debate and consideration, with
the balance to be approved as part of the Consent Motion given the items are
generally deemed to be routine and non-controversial.

5. Presentations\Delegations

5.1 Delegation from Maria Khounshnood, Lead Audit Engagement Partner, KPMG LLP,
re: 2022 Audit Findings Report and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

(See Item 7.1 - Appendix D)

5.2 Staff Presentation re: Development Charges 2023

(See Item 6.1 - Appendix 4)

6. Reports - Internal Audit

6.1 Staff Report re: Development Charges 2023

Recommendation

(See Item 5.2)

6.2 Staff Report re: Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter

Recommendation
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6.3 Staff Report re: Corporate Fraud Governance Structure

Recommendation

6.4 Staff Report re: Internal Audit Work Plan Status Update

To be received

6.5 Staff Report re: Status of Management Action Plans - Q1 2023

To be received

6.6 Staff Report re: Corporate Ethics Hotline Quarterly Report

To be received

7. Reports - Finance

7.1 Staff Report re: 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the City of
Brampton

Recommendation

(See Item 5.1)

8. Other/New Business

8.1 Discussion Item re: Citizen Member Appointments to Audit Committee

Note: The following recommendation of the Citizen Appointments Committee at its
meeting of April 4, 2023 was approved by Council on April 5, 2023:

CAC006-2023
That the Audit Committee assume responsibility for the evaluation and interview
process, as appropriate, for citizen member appointments to the Audit
Committee. 

9. Question Period
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10. Public Question Period

15 Minute Limit (regarding any decision made at this meeting)

During the meeting, the public may submit questions regarding recommendations
made at the meeting via email to the City Clerk at cityclerksoffice@brampton.ca, to
be introduced during the Public Question Period section of the meeting. 

11. Closed Session

Note: A separate package regarding these agenda items are distributed to Members
of Council and senior staff only.

12. Adjournment

Next Regular Meeting: To be determined
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Delegation Request 

Attention:   City Clerk's Office, City of Brampton, 2 Wellington Street West, Brampton ON L6Y 4R2 

Email:                 cityclerksoffice@brampton.ca      Telephone: (905) 874-2100    Fax: (905) 874-2119

Meeting:        City Council              Planning and Development Committee 
Committee of Council      Other Committee: 

Meeting Date Requested: Agenda Item (if applicable):

Name of Individual(s):  

Position/Title:  

Organization/Person  
being represented:

Full Address for Contact: Telephone:

Email: 

Subject Matter 
to be Discussed:

Action 
Requested: 

A formal presentation will accompany my delegation:          Yes               No    

Presentation format:     PowerPoint File (.ppt)    Adobe File or equivalent (.pdf)        
    Picture File (.jpg)             Video File (.avi, .mpg)  Other: 

Additional printed information/materials will be distributed with my delegation:  Yes     No   Attached 

Note: Delegates are requested to provide to the City Clerk’s Office well in advance of the meeting date: 
(i) 25 copies of all background material and/or presentations for publication with the meeting agenda and /or 

distribution at the meeting, and 
(ii) the electronic file of the presentation to ensure compatibility with corporate equipment. 

Once this completed form is received by the City Clerk’s Office, you will be contacted to confirm your placement on the 
appropriate meeting agenda. 
Personal information on this form is collected under authority of the Municipal Act, SO 2001, c.25 and/or the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.P.13 and will be 
used in the preparation of the applicable council/committee agenda and will be attached to the agenda and publicly available at the meeting and om the 
City’s website. Questions about the collection of personal information should be directed to the Deputy City Clerk, Council and Administrative Services, 2 
Wellington Street West, Brampton, Ontario, L6Y 4R2, tel. 905-874-2115. 

Please complete this form for your request to delegate to Council or Committee on a matter where a decision of the 
Council may be required. Delegations at Council meetings are generally limited to agenda business published with the 
meeting agenda. Delegations at Committee meetings can relate to new business within the jurisdiction and authority of 
the City and/or Committee or agenda business published with the meeting agenda. All delegations are limited to five 
(5) minutes.

For Office Use Only: 

Meeting Name: 
Meeting Date: 

✔
Audit Committe - June 12, 2023

June 12, 2023 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the City of  Brampton

Maria Khounshnood

Lead Audit Engagement Partner - KPMG

KPMG LLP

Vaughan Metropolitan Centre, 100 New 
Park Place, Suite #1400, Vaughan, ON, 
L4K 0J3

mkhoushnood@kpmg.ca

2022 Audit Fundings Report and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

None

✔

Submit by Email
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Audit Report 
The Corporation of the City of Brampton  
                             6/12/2023 

 

Date: 2023-06-02 
 
Subject: 

 
Development Charges 2023 

 
Contact: 

 
Claire Fang Mu, Director, Internal Audit, (905) 874 2215, 
fang.mu@brampton.ca 

 
Report Number: 

 
CAO's Office-2023-513 

 
        
          
Recommendations:                                                                    

1. That the report titled: Development Charges Audit Report 2023, to the Audit 
Committee Meeting of June 12, 2023, be received and the recommendations 
contained in Appendix 1: Development Charges Audit 2023 Report be 
approved.  

 

Executive Summary: 

The report highlights inefficiencies, control risks, and system limitations in the 
development charge billing process that could reduce billing accuracy. 

The overall audit was rated as “Improvement Required.”  

The audit noted the following strengths relating to controls and processes around 
Development Charges;  

o In general, development charges are applied correctly and in accordance with 
relevant by-laws  

o Development charge funds collected on behalf of the Region of Peel and the two 
school boards are remitted as per agreement. 

o Processes and system controls are in place to ensure building permits are issued 

only after all development charges have been paid in full 

o Funding activity from development charge reserves to capital projects is reviewed, 
approved and monitored 
 

The issues and associated management action plans are detailed in the body of the 
audit report located in Appendix 1: Development Charges Audit 2023 Report. 

See Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 for the criteria for rating findings and audit report 
rating. 

Please also see Appendix 4 for the presentation slides for this audit report.  

Improvement Required 
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Internal Audit discussed the following improvement opportunities with 
Development Finance: 
 

Process Finding Rating 

1. Billing – Processing 

invoices with frozen 

rates 

Staff must manually enter applicable rates and 
interest charges for invoices with development 
charge rates that are frozen. Manually entering 
multiple fields for each invoice line is inefficient 
and increases the risk of incorrect development 
charge amounts being billed. 
 

 

2. Billing – Updating 

current DC rates to 

existing invoices 

When rates decrease, the system does not 
automatically apply the new lower rate to existing 
invoices and the user is not notified of the rate 
change. The systems limitations to update 
invoice amounts when rates are reduced 
increases the risk of billing inaccuracies 
 

 

3. Billing – Updating 

development charge 

rates in AMANDA 

Development rates entered into AMANDA, the 
City’s IT system, have not always been vetted 
and approved.  
 
i) A report showing development charge rates in 
AMANDA is not available in excel, which does 
not allow for an efficient review of newly entered 
rates; and 
  
ii) Updated rates in AMANDA are not always 
approved by a Manager 
 

 

4. Monitoring of 

Insurance Certificates 

Current certificates of insurance are not always 
on file and follow-up emails to developers 
requesting updated certificates are sometimes 
sent months after the policy has expired.  
 

 

5. Standard Operating 

Procedures (SOPs) 

There are no standard operating procedures 
(SOPs) within Development Finance. There is a 
work instructions document, however, it is from 
2016 and does not reflect current processes or 
systems. 

 

These issues and associated management action plans are discussed in more detail 
in Appendix 1. These issues are rated as per the criteria described in Appendix 2.  
 

 

P2 

P2 

P2 

P2 
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Conclusion: 

Overall, development charge processes operate effectively, and proper oversight is in place 

through reviews, approvals and reconciliations. Nothing has come to our attention that 

indicates that development charges are applied incorrectly or contradict the development 

charges By-laws. However, we have noted the following combination of inefficiencies, control 

risks, and system limitations in the development charge billing process that could reduce 

billing accuracy: 

 Inefficiency in processing invoices with frozen rates due to system limitations 

 Lack of automatic adjustments to development charges when rates decrease  

 Lack of comprehensive controls in the process of updating development charge rates 

in the system 

Staff should implement IT enhancements and strengthen the rate update process to improve 

billing controls and efficiency.  

 

Additionally, staff should improve the monitoring of insurance coverage to ensure that the City 

always has updated Certificates of Insurance on file for developments. 

 
The overall report rating is determined per the audit report rating criteria explained in 
Appendix 3. 
 

 
 
 
Authored by:      Reviewed by:  
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Brad Cecile, Manager                            Claire Fang Mu, Director  
Internal Audit        Internal Audit    
       
    
        
 

Attachments:  
 

Appendix 1: Development Charges Audit Report 2023 
Appendix 2: Criteria for Evaluating Audit Findings 
Appendix 3: Criteria for Audit Report Rating 
Appendix 4: Presentation Slides 
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City of Brampton Internal Audit – Development Charges 
Private & Confidential 
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Audit Name Development Charges 

Sponsor(s) Alex Milojevic – Commissioner, Corporate Support Services; Nash Damer – Treasurer; Maja Kuzmanov - Sr. Manager, 
Accounting Services and Deputy Treasurer; Martin Finnegan - Sr. Manager, Revenue; Raghuram Sanal Kumar - Manager, 
Capital Development & Finance 

Business Unit(s) Revenue Services and Accounting Services Date Issued:  May 23, 2023 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 

Audit rating: Processes around Development Charges activities were rated as "Improvement Required" (See Appendix 3 for the criteria for audit report 

rating). 

 

Based on our review of processes, reports and sample testing, we observed the following strengths: 

 In general, development charges are applied correctly and in accordance with relevant by-laws  

 Development charge funds collected on behalf of the Region of Peel and the two school boards are remitted on a timely basis 

 Processes and system controls are in place to ensure building permits are issued only after all development charges have been paid in full 

 Funding activity from development charge reserves to capital projects is reviewed, approved and monitored 
 

 

Internal Audit staff discussed the following improvement opportunities with Management:  

 Processing invoices with frozen development charge rates is manual and inefficient 

 System control to automatically apply current rates is not functioning when rates decrease 

 Process for updating development charge rates in the system is incomplete 

 Current certificates of insurance are not always on file 

 Standard Operating Procedures are not reviewed and updated timely 
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Conclusion: 

 

Overall, development charge processes are operating effectively, and proper oversight is in place through reviews, approvals and reconciliations. Nothing 

has come to our attention that indicates that development charges are applied incorrectly or contradict the development charges By-laws. However, we 

have noted the following combination of inefficiencies, control risks, and system limitations in the development charge billing process that could reduce 

billing accuracy: 

 Inefficiency in processing invoices with frozen rates due to system limitations as described in finding number 1 

 Lack of automatic adjustments to development charges when rates decrease due to system limitations as described in finding number 2 

 Lack of comprehensive controls in the process of updating development charge rates in the system as described in finding number 3 

Staff should implement IT enhancements and strengthen the rate update process to improve billing controls and efficiency.  

 

Additionally, staff should improve the monitoring of insurance coverage to ensure that the City always has updated Certificates of Insurance on file for 

developments. This is described in finding number 4. 

 

Acting on the recommendations below will improve the City’s administration of development charges. 

 

2.0 Background, Objectives, and Scope 

 
Background 
 
The Province enacted the Development Charges Act in 1997 which granted municipalities the authority to develop by-laws to impose development charges.  
 
Development charges are applied to all new developments and redevelopments in the City (Residential, Industrial and Commercial). These charges are an 
important source of revenue for the City to finance the additional infrastructure needed to service growth. 
 
The Development Charges Act requires that the City undertake a background study to identify infrastructure needs resulting from growth and the associated 
costs before adopting a by-law. The Act requires municipalities to adopt a development charges (DC) by-law every ten years, at a minimum. As a result, 
City conducts development charge studies every five years with the most recent background study completed in 2019.  
 
The City of Brampton adopted the current development charges by-laws in 2019. The rates outlined in the by-laws were set based on the 2019 background 
study. There are 8 by-laws (129-General Government, 130-Library Services, 131-Recreation Services, 132-Fire Services, 133-Public Works, 134-Transit 
Services, 135-Roads and 136-Brampton West; North-South Transportation Corridor).  
 
The Development Charges Act requires the municipality’s Treasurer to provide City Council with a statement about each Reserve Fund established under 
the Act each year.  The statement reflects the opening and closing balances of each year, the current year's distribution of the DC proceeds, any financing 
transfers and the interest earned on the fund. 
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Revenue collected for Development Charges over the last three years was $66M (2020), $86M (2021) and $74M (2022). 
 
In order to improve housing supply and affordability, the Province of Ontario introduced sweeping changes through two pieces of legislation -  Bill 108 More 
Homes, More Choice Act, 2019 and Bill 23, the More Homes Built Faster Act, 2022. The provincial changes will create significant administrative and funding 
challenges for Ontario Municipalities including Brampton. The City is currently awaiting details on how the province will address the shortfall in infrastructure 
funding resulting from these Bills.  
 
The development charges administration process is primarily the responsibility of the City’s Development Finance Unit but also involves Accounting 
Services and Realty Services. 
 
The Development Finance Unit, consisting of five employees, is responsible for ensuring that all financial conditions per the site plan or subdivision 
agreement are complete, indexing development charge rates as required, calculating development charges, invoicing developers and entering development 
charges data into the permit and compliance software (Amanda).  
 
Accounting Services is responsible for recording development charge receipts in the financial statements, completing accounting entries related to capital 
projects and reporting on the development charge reserve funds. 
 
For applications where the City elects that parkland requirements should be satisfied through a cash-in-lieu (CIL) of parkland payment, the value of the 
required payment is determined by Realty Services in response to a request from Park Planning & Development. CIL of parkland is the payment of funds 
equivalent to the value of land that the Developer would have been required to convey to the City for park purposes. The requirements for parkland 
dedication of new developments is defined in the Parkland Dedication By-law.  
 
In most cases, development charges are payable and collected on the date that a building permit is issued, however, development charges for rental, 
institutional and non-profit housing projects are deferred to occupancy and payable in installments with interest in accordance with section 26.1 of the 
Development Charges Act. Cash in lieu of parkland must be paid prior to the developer receiving a building permit. 
 
The City also collects development charges on behalf of Region of Peel, Peel District School board and Dufferin-Peel Catholic District School Board. The 
amounts and conditions of these charges are set out in their respective Development Charge By-laws. All funds collected for these organizations are 
transferred to them the following month. 
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As of December 31, 2022, the balance of Development Charges Reserve Funds is $384 million and the commitments to capital projects from the 
Development Charges Reserve Funds is $314 million meaning 81% of the Development Charges Reserve Funds balance has already been committed to 
capital projects. 
 
 

 
 
 
In May 2023, the province announced that it will be auditing development charges and other funding sources of six Ontario Municipalities, including 
Brampton. The purpose of the audit is to understand any potential or perceived impacts of Bill 23 with regards to changes to development related fees and 
charges. It will also evaluate the accountability, effectiveness and efficiency of the activities and decisions that support investments in growth-related 
infrastructure. 
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Objectives  

The objective of this engagement was to evaluate the effectiveness of processes and controls around Development Charges and ensure compliance to 
legislation, policies and procedures. The audit focused on assessing whether: 
 
 

 Development charges are calculated in accordance with relevant by-laws, Development Charges Act and semi-annual rate updates based on the non-
residential building construction price index  

 Policies and procedures relevant to development charges are current and being followed  

 Insurance certificate and letter of credit or security deposit are in place for each development and meet required standards  

 Building permits are issued only after all required documents are in place and all charges have been collected, where applicable  

 Process is in place to ensure that all development charges payments have been made for all applicable property developments  

 Cash in lieu of parkland charges is supported and approved  

 Development charges receipts are recorded in the applicable general ledger accounts  

 Reserve funds are allocated into capital reserve fund categories in accordance with the City’s development charges by-laws  

 Reserve fund bank reconciliations are performed and approved on a monthly basis   

 Interest earned from the reserve bank accounts is allocated appropriately to the capital expenditure reserve fund categories  

 Development charges collected on behalf of the Region of Peel and the two school boards are accurate and transferred timely  
 
 

 

 
Scope 
 

Our audit focused on development charge activity from January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2022. 
 

The following areas were not included in the scope of this audit: 
 

 Assessment of the development charges background study 

 Development user fees (Audited in 2022) 

 Processes related to planning, design or construction of developments 

 Information technology general controls (“ITGCs”) within Development Finance’s systems and databases 
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3.0  Detailed Audit Findings, Recommendations, and Proposed Management Actions 

 

Re
f # 

Findings 
 

Rating Recommendations 
Management Action Plan, Responsible 

Person(s) and Due Date 

1 Processing invoices where development charge 

rates have been frozen is manual & inefficient 

 
In 2019, the “More Homes, More Choice Act” (Bill 
108) was introduced which allows developers to 
“Freeze” development charge rates at an earlier 
stage of the development process. It also gives 
Municipalities the right to apply interest to any 
development charges that have been frozen. In 
2020, a development charge interest rate policy 
was passed by the City which outlines that an 
interest rate of 5.5% will be applied to all 
developments with rate freezes. 
 
The Development Charge Team currently 
processes development charge invoices with 
frozen rates and the related interest charges 
manually. Staff enter the applicable rates and 
interest charges in each development charge 
category in AMANDA – approximately 20 data 
fields for each invoice.   
 
The above process is inefficient and prone to 
errors. We selected 25 samples for testing. One of 
the samples did not have the correct sub-total 
amount due to a manual keying error although the 
total amount of the invoice was correct. 
 
 
 

P2 City Council requests that the Treasurer 
ensure system capabilities are expanded 
in order to automate the processing of 
development charges invoices where 
rates are frozen and interest is applied.  

Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
will consult with IT staff (AMANDA) to have 
the process automated by Q1 2024*.  
*Subject to availability of IT resources  
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Re
f # 

Findings 
 

Rating Recommendations 
Management Action Plan, Responsible 

Person(s) and Due Date 

 
 
Potential Impact: 
Manually entering multiple fields for each invoice 
line is inefficient and increases the risk of incorrect 
development charge amounts being billed. 
 
Being able to select development charge rates 
from prior periods and the automatic allocation of 
interest to development charge funds will ensure 
the accuracy and efficiency of billing. 
 

2 System control to automatically apply current rates 
is not functioning when rates decrease  
 
When the City of Brampton or Region of Peel 
update their development charge rates, the new 
rates are manually entered in the system and 
amounts on existing invoices are automatically 
updated based on the new rates. 
 
Our discussion with staff and review of the process 
found the following: 
 
When rates increase, the system will automatically 
apply the new higher rate to existing invoices and 
notify the user that an additional amount or “Top 
Up” has been applied. 
 
When rates decrease, however, the system does 
not automatically apply the new lower rate to 
existing invoices and the user is not notified of the 
rate change. 
 
When Bill 23 passed on November 28th, 2022, 
certain services that used to be funded by 

P2 City Council requests the Treasurer to 
implement system controls to ensure 
invoices are automatically adjusted to 
account for both development charge 
rate increases and decreases. 
 
 
 
 

Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
will consult with IT staff (AMANDA) to have 
the process automated by Q1 2024*.  
*Subject to availability of IT resources  
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Re
f # 

Findings 
 

Rating Recommendations 
Management Action Plan, Responsible 

Person(s) and Due Date 

development charges were no longer eligible for 
funding. This resulted in an overall rate decrease 
of development charges applied by the Region of 
Peel.   
 
The new lower rates were updated in the system 
on Nov. 30, when there were nine unpaid invoices 
for four developers. However, the system did not 
automatically adjust the invoices with the new 
lower rates and overcharged the four developers 
by a total of $288K. Prior to our audit, City staff was 
notified of the error by Region of Peel and 
processed credits to correct the overpayments in 
2023. 
 
Enhancing system controls to automatically apply 
new rates for both rate increases and decreases 
will ensure billing accuracy.  
 
Potential Impact: 
The system’s limitations to updating invoice 
amounts when rates are reduced increase the risk 
of billing inaccuracies.  
 

3 Development charges rate updates in the system 

are not properly vetted and approved 

 
On February 1 and August 1 of each year, 
development charge rates for the City of Brampton 
are adjusted based on Statistics Canada’s non-
residential building construction price index. 
Indexing rates helps to mitigate the impact of 
inflation on future growth-related construction 
costs. The new rates are entered into a 
spreadsheet before being manually entered into 
AMANDA. 

P2 City Council requests that the Treasurer 
ensure that all updates of development 
charge rates in the system are properly 
vetted and approved. 

1. Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
will work with IT staff (Amanda) to produce a 
report from Amanda that will show the 
entered rates for comparison with the ones in 
the indexing spreadsheet by Q1 2024.  
 
 
 
2. Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
will develop or amend SOP to ensure 
Manager or designee approves rates and is 
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Re
f # 

Findings 
 

Rating Recommendations 
Management Action Plan, Responsible 

Person(s) and Due Date 

 
Our review of the rate update process found that 
within the current audit period rate updates were 
timely and accurate. The following however was 
also noted: 
 
1) After the updated rates have been manually 
entered in AMANDA, a second individual visually 
compares the rates in the spreadsheet with the 
rates in AMANDA to confirm accuracy. 
 
A report showing the rates in AMANDA is not 
available in excel format. Since rate updates 
require over 180 fields to be entered across 15 
areas, a spreadsheet would allow staff to efficiently 
verify the accuracy of new rates line by line. 
 
 
2) Updated rates in AMANDA are not always 
approved by a Manager. For two of the last three 
updates, the rates were approved in the system by 
the same individual who entered the rates.  
 
It was verified that at the time of these rate changes 
the Manager did not have access to the system. 
 
When updating development charge rates, even 
small errors could have a significant impact on 
development charges so staff should implement 
comprehensive controls to ensure the accuracy of 
rate updates. 
 
Potential Impact: 
Incomplete reconciliations or approvals of rate 
updates can result in incorrect rates going 
undetected which can result in financial loss. 

always a separate staff person as the one 
that inputs the rates by Q4, 2023. 
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Re
f # 

Findings 
 

Rating Recommendations 
Management Action Plan, Responsible 

Person(s) and Due Date 

 

4 Current certificates of insurance are not always on 
file 
 
The Subdivision agreement (Residential) and site 
plan agreement (Non-residential) require 
developers to meet the minimum insurance 
coverage requirement and provide a current 
certificate of insurance (COI). An updated 
certificate of insurance needs to be submitted 
every year, at least 30 days prior to the expiry of 
the current policy. 
 
Our review found that 11 out of the 25 development 
charge samples did not have an updated certificate 
of insurance. 
  
Further, we also found that although staff review 
insurance coverage periodically, follow-up emails 
requesting proof of insurance renewals are 
sometimes sent months after the policy has 
expired.  
 
 
Potential Exposure  
Not having a current Certificate of Insurance does 
not ensure that a developer’s coverage is current 
or sufficient, increasing the liability risk to the City. 
 

P2 City Council requests that the Treasurer 
ensure that developers meet the City’s 
insurance coverage requirement and that 
staff follow up on expiring insurance 
policies timely, and ensure current 
certificates of insurance are always on file. 

Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
will ensure the following steps are taken for 
each development by Q4, 2023. 
 

1. Send reminder letters in all instances 
of expired insurance. 

2. Maintain log and identify the 
defaulters. 
 

Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
will also consult with Manager, Risk & 
Insurance to explore the options to have a 
legislative mechanism to enforce compliance 
by Q1, 2024. 
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Re
f # 

Findings 
 

Rating Recommendations 
Management Action Plan, Responsible 

Person(s) and Due Date 

5 Standard Operating Procedures are not current 

 
There are a number of different processes within 
development finance including entering 
development information, preparing invoices, 
updating rates, collecting and applying cash 
receipts, monthly reconciliations and obtaining 
insurance and security among others. 
 
Currently, there are no standard operating 
procedures (SOPs) within Development Finance. 
There is a work instructions document that 
addresses all process areas, however, it is from 
2016 and does not reflect current processes or 
systems. 
 
Updated procedures and work instructions can be 
a useful guide for current employees and is an 
important tool in the training and orientation of 
future employees. 
 
Potential Exposure 
Not having current SOPs in place can result in 
inconsistent or inappropriate execution of 
processes. 
 

P2 City Council requests that the Treasurer 
ensure all development finance operating 
procedures are documented, reviewed 
and updated periodically. 

Manager, Capital & Development Finance 
has already initiated the task to update 
SOP’s and it will be completed by Q4, 2023. 
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Report Distribution List 

Marlon Kallideen Chief Administrative Officer  

Alex Milojevic Commissioner, Corporate Support Services 

Nash Damer Treasurer 

Maja Kuzmanov Sr. Manager, Accounting Services and Deputy Treasurer 

Martin Finnegan Sr. Manager, Revenue 

Raghuram Sanal Kumar Manager, Capital Development & Finance 

Internal Audit Team 

Claire Mu Director, Internal Audit 

Brad Cecile Manager, Internal Audit 

Min Peng Senior Internal Auditor 
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Appendix 2 – Criteria for Evaluating Audit Findings 

Priority 
Rating 

Description 

Priority 1  

(P1) 

 

 One or more of the following conditions exist that require immediate attention of the Senior Leadership Team.  Corrective actions 
by senior Management must be implemented. 

 Financial impact of both actual and potential losses is material 

 Management's actions, or lack thereof, have resulted in the compromise of a key process or control, which requires immediate 
significant efforts and/or resources (including time, financial commitments, etc.) to mitigate associated risks.  Failure by Management 
to remedy such deficiencies on a timely basis will result in the City being exposed to immediate risk and/or financial loss 

 One more of the following conditions is true: i) management failed to identify key risks, ii) management failed to implement process 
and controls to mitigate key risks 

 Management's actions, or lack thereof, have resulted in a key initiative to be significantly impacted or delayed, and the financial 
support for such initiative will likely be compromised 

 Management failed to implement effective control environment or provide adequate oversight, resulting in a negative pervasive 
impact on the City or potential fraudulent acts by City staff 

 Fraud by Management or staff, as defined by the Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy (Policy 2.14) 
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Priority 2  

(P2) 

One or more of the following conditions exist that require attention by senior Management.  Corrective actions by Management 
should be implemented. 

 Financial impact of both actual and potential losses is significant 

 Management's actions, or lack thereof, may result in a key process or control to be compromised, which requires considerable 
efforts and/or resources (including time, financial commitments etc.) to mitigate associated risks 

 Management correctly identified key risks and have implemented processes and controls to mitigate such risks, however, one or 
more of the following is true: i) the processes and controls are not appropriate or adequate in design, ii) the processes and controls 
are not operating effectively on a consistent basis 

 Management's actions, or lack thereof, have impacted or delayed a key initiative, and the funding for such initiative may be 
compromised 

 Management failed to provide effective control environment or oversight on a consistent basis, resulting in a negative impact on the 
respective division, or other departments 

 Management failed to comply with Council-approved policies, by-laws, regulatory requirements, etc., which may result in penalties 

 Management failed to identify or remedy key control deficiencies that may impact the effectiveness of anti-fraud programs 

Priority 3 
(P3) 

One or more of the following conditions exist that require attention by Management.  Corrective actions by Management should 
be implemented.  

 Financial impact of both actual and potential losses is insignificant 

 A non-key process or control, if compromised, may require some efforts and/or resources (including time, financial commitments, 
etc.) to mitigate associated risks 

 Processes and controls to mitigate risks are in place; however, opportunities exist to further enhance the effectiveness or efficiency 
of such processes and controls.  Management oversight exists to ensure key processes and controls are operating effectively 

 Minimal risk of non-compliance to Council-approved policies, by-laws, regulatory requirements, etc. 

 Low impact to the City's strategic or key initiative 

 Low impact to the City's operations 
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Appendix 3 – Criteria for Audit Report Rating 

Rating Description 

Effective  Key controls are adequately and appropriately designed, and are operating effectively to support objectives and manage risks 

 Audit recommendations resulted in only minor enhancements to the effectiveness or efficiency of controls and processes 

 One or more Priority 3 Findings 

 Insignificant cumulative financial impact when all audit findings have been considered 

 Audit findings would not be subject to a follow-up by Internal Audit  

Improvement 
Required 

 A few control weaknesses were noted that require enhancements to better support objectives and manage risks 

 One Priority 2 and Priority 3 findings 

 Priority 3 findings only where the cumulative financial impact is significant 

 Corrective action and oversight by Management is needed 

 Audit findings could be subject to a follow-up by Internal Audit 

Significant 
Improvement 

Required 

 Numerous key control weaknesses were noted that require significant improvement to support objectives and manage risks 

 One Priority 1 finding or more than one Priority 2 findings and Priority 3 findings 

 Priority 2 and 3 findings only where the cumulative financial impact is significant 

 Corrective action and oversight by senior Management is required 

 Audit findings will be subject to a follow-up by Internal Audit 

Immediate 
Action 

Required 

 Key controls ae either not adequately or appropriately designed and are not operating effectively, or there is an absence of 
appropriate key controls to support objectives and manage risks 

 More than one Priority 1 finding, combined with Priority 2 or 3 findings 

 Regardless of the type of findings, the cumulative financial impact is material to the City's financial statements. 

 Confirmed fraud by Management or staff 

 Corrective action and oversight by Senior Leadership Team is required immediately 

 Follow-up of such audit findings by Internal Audit would be of high priority 
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Development Charges
June 12, 2023, Audit Committee
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Background

Development charges are an important source of revenue for the City.

• They are applied to all new developments and redevelopments in the City. 

• The Development Charges Act grants the City the authority to impose development charges. 

• Development Charges collected for the City: $66M (2020), $86M (2021) and $74M (2022).

Administering development charges

• A development charge background study is conducted every 5 years 

 It Identifies infrastructure needs resulting from growth and the associated costs.

• The City adopts a Development Charges (DC) By-law every 10 years

 The City last completed the background study and enacted the development by-laws In 2019. 

The City collects development charges on behalf of the Region of Peel, Peel District School Board, and 

Dufferin-Peel Catholic District School Board.
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Audit Objectives and Scope

We assessed whether:

1. Development charges are calculated in accordance with relevant by-laws 

2. An insurance certificate and letter of credit or security deposits are in place for each development 

3. Building permits are issued only after all required documents are in place and all charges have been 

collected

4. Process is in place to ensure that development charges payments have been made for applicable property 

developments

5. Cash in lieu of parkland charges are supported and approved

6. Reserve funds are allocated to capital reserve fund according to the development charges by-laws

7. Development charges collected on behalf of Peel Region and the school boards are accurate and 

transferred timely

Audit Period: development charges activity from January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2022
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Finding #1:  Manual & Inefficient billing for invoices with frozen rates

Condition
• For invoices with development charge rates from prior periods (i.e., frozen rates) the 

applicable retro rates and interest must be entered manually for each development 

charge fund. 

• Staff must enter approximately 20 data fields for each type of development (detached, 

townhouse, condo etc.) for any invoice with frozen rates. 

Impact
• Manually entering multiple fields for each invoice line is inefficient and increases the risk 

of incorrect development charge amounts being billed.
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Finding #2: System control to automatically apply current rates is not 
functioning when rates decrease 

Condition
• Bill 23 rendered certain services no longer eligible for funding from development charges. 

• This resulted in an overall rate decrease of development charges applied by the Region of 

Peel. 

• The system does not automatically apply new lower development charge rates to existing 

invoices, and the user is not notified of the rate change. 

Impact
• This resulted in four developers being overcharged by a total of $288K. 

• City staff were notified of the overbilling by Peel Region, and credits were issued in 2023.
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Finding #3: DC rates updating in the IT System have not always 
been vetted and approved

Condition

• On February 1 and August 1 of each year, development charge rates for the City of 

Brampton are adjusted based on Statistics Canada’s building construction price index. 

• Rate updates in AMANDA are not always approved by a Manager

• A report that shows rates in Excel format is not available in AMANDA (the City’s 

development charge IT system). This does not allow for an efficient review of newly 

entered rates.

Impact

• Lack of vetting and approval for rate updates can result in incorrect rates undetected.

• Small errors in development charge rates can lead to significant differences in the 

calculated development charges.
Page 29 of 196



Finding #4: Current certificates of insurance are not always on file

Condition

• Developers are required to provide an updated certificate of insurance every year, at 

least 30 days prior to the expiry of the current policy.

• 11 out of 25 development charges samples did not have an updated certificate of 

insurance on file. 

• Follow-up emails requesting proof of insurance renewals are sometimes sent months 

after the policy has expired.

Impact 
• Having outdated Certificate of Insurance increases the liability risk to the City.
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Finding #5: Standard Operating Procedures are not current

Condition

• The administration of development charges includes a number of processes, such as 

invoicing, rate updating, cash collection and application, account reconciliations, and 

obtaining insurance and security. 

• There are no standard operating procedures (SOPs) within Development Finance. There 

is an outdated work instruction document that no longer reflects current processes or 

systems. 

Impact

• Not having up-to-date standard operation procedures can result in inconsistent or 

inappropriate execution of processes. SOPs are an important tool in training and 

orientation for current and future employees. 
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Overall, development charge processes operate effectively, and proper oversight 

is in place. 

We noted the following that could reduce billing accuracy:

• Inefficiency in processing invoices with frozen rates due to system limitations

• Lack of automatic adjustments to development charges when rates decrease 

• Lack of comprehensive controls in the process of updating development charge rates in 

the system

Staff should:

• Implement IT enhancements and strengthen the rate update process to improve billing 

controls and efficiency. 

• Improve the monitoring of insurance coverage to ensure that the City always has 

updated Certificates of Insurance on file for developments.

Conclusion
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The Province of Ontario introduced sweeping changes through two pieces of legislation - Bill 23, the 

More Homes Built Faster Act, 2022 and Bill 108, More Homes, More Choice Act, 2019.  A provincial 

audit has been announced. 

Development Charges Audit Provincial Audit

Audit Type Internal Audit Third-party Audit

Objective Evaluate the effectiveness of processes 

and controls around Development 

Charges

1. Understand any potential or perceived 

impacts of Bill 23;

2. Evaluate the accountability,  effectiveness 

and efficiency of the activities that support 

investments in growth-related infrastructure

Scope Jan 1, 2020, to Dec 31, 2022 1. Financial Impact: 2022 to 2031

2. Infrastructure: investment since 2018

Comparison of this audit with the Provincial Development Charges Audit
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The City’s Development Charge Reserve and Spending Commitment
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Thank you!
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Report 
Staff Report 

The Corporation of the City of Brampton  
                                    6/12/2023 
 

Date:   2023-06-01 
 
Subject:  Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter 

Contact: Claire Mu, Director, Internal Audit, 905-874-2215
 fang.mu@brampton.ca  
 
Report Number: CAO's Office-2023-504 
 
 
Recommendations: 

1) That the report titled: Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit 
Charter, to the Audit Committee Meeting of June 12, 2023, be received. 

2) That the combined and updated Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal 
Audit Charter, as set out in Appendix 1: By-law to Establish Audit Committee 
Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter to this report, be approved and 
enacted in a By-law. 

3) That Administrative Authority By-law 216-2017, as amended, be further amended to 
delegate authority to the Director of Internal Audit to make amendments to the 
Schedule contained in the proposed Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Audit 
Charter By-law to make required Schedule updates as set out in the Institute of 
Internal Auditors ("IIA") Standards, with regular reporting to the Audit Committee on 
any changes made to the by-law Schedule.  

 
Overview: 

 This Report includes the combined Audit Committee Terms of Reference and 
Internal Audit Charter attached in Appendix 1: By-law to Establish Audit 
Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter to be approved and 
enacted in a By-law. 

 Also recommended is an amendment to the Administrative Authority By-law 216-
2017 to delegate to the Director of Internal Audit the authority to make changes to 
the proposed Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter 
as contained in the Schedule to the proposed By-law, with limitations. 

 The Audit Committee Terms of Reference are approved at the beginning of each 
term of Council. 
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 The Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter joins the 
terms of reference and audit charter as received at the Audit Committee meeting of 
February 21, 2023, Audit Committee Motion AU9-2023.  

 Two changes are made to the Internal Audit Charter approved in February to 
formalize practices already in place.   

o Internal Audit will not be providing consulting services, except at the request 
of the City Council on governance and risk matters.  

o Internal Audit staff are not permitted to accept temporary assignments to 
other City divisions (including secondments).  

 The documents were combined to avoid duplication and to provide a single 
reference document.  

 This Report includes copies of the terms of reference and audit charter received at 
the February 21, 2023, Audit Committee meeting. See Appendix 2: Internal Audit 
Charter Version 2023 and Appendix 3: Audit Committee Terms of Reference 
2023. Appendix 4 outlines a chronology of changes to the Audit Charter. 

 
Background: 

The Audit Committee was established in 2002 to enable Council members to fulfil their 
oversight capabilities and stewardship responsibilities. The City's Audit Charter and 
Audit Committee Terms of Reference were presented to that committee. 

 The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee are established at the 

beginning of every term of Brampton City Council. Roles and Responsibilities are 

defined in the Audit Committee Terms of Reference. 

 The Audit Charter is a formal document approved by City Council. The Audit 

Charter defines the Internal Audit function's Purpose and Mission, Authority, 

Responsibility, Independence and Objectivity, Scope of Internal Audit Activities, 

and position within the City of Brampton. 

The Internal Audit Division reviews the Charter and the Terms of Reference at the 
beginning of each term of Council, updating either document wherever necessary. In 
addition, the Director of Internal Audit reviews the Internal Audit Charter annually to 
determine if changes are required. These updates may include changes from the 
Institute of Internal Auditors' International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing ("Standards") on which the Charter is based. 

Changes have been made to the Audit Charter in 2019, 2020 and 2021. See Appendix 
4 for a chronological list of changes.  

The Audit Charter and Audit Committee Terms of Reference documents have, until 
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now, been maintained as two separate documents.  

At the September 8, 2020, meeting of the Audit Committee, the committee voted to 
adopt updated versions of the Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit 
Charter into By-law. While the report was received, no motion was presented to City 
Council to adopt the Charter and terms of reference into By-law. Click here for the 
meeting minutes. 

Members of the Audit Committee attending the Council Workshop on January 30, 2023, 
asked Internal Audit staff to combine the Audit Charter and Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference into one document and to present it at the Audit Committee to be approved 
and enacted into By-law. Click here for the meeting agenda.  

Per the January Workshop, Internal Audit presented the report titled: "Update of Internal 
Audit Charter and Audit Committee Terms of Reference" at February 21, 2023, meeting 
of the Audit Committee. The committee formally directed staff to review the Audit 
Committee Terms of Reference and the Audit Charter and provide a draft version of a 
combined document for the next Audit Committee meeting to adopt the combined 
document into By-law. Click here for the meeting minutes.  

Current Situation: 

This report implements the Audit Committee direction, from motion AU9-2023, that staff 
review the Audit Committee Terms of Reference and the Audit Charter and provide a 
draft version of a combined document to the next scheduled Audit Committee meeting. 
The contents of the documents are closely linked and were connected to avoid 
duplication and to provide a single reference document. One guiding document will 
provide efficiency and clarity on the mandate of the Audit Committee. 

Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter By-law 

Internal Audit seeks approval for the Council to enact the Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference and Internal Audit Charter into By-law, as set out in Appendix 1 to this 
report. 

The contents of the terms of reference and Charter were received at the Audit 
Committee meeting of February 21, 2023, Audit Committee Motion AU9-2023. 

Changes to the Audit Charter  

Two changes have been made to the Internal Audit Charter approved in February to 
formalize practices already in place:  

 To maintain independence, due to the small size of the team, Internal Audit will 
not be providing consulting services, except at the request of the City Council on 
governance and risk matters;  

 Internal Audit staff can no longer accept temporary assignments to other City 
divisions (including secondments). The City Solicitor has been consulted on 
adding this condition to the Audit Charter.  

Allowing IA staff to perform consulting services or accept temporary assignments to 
other City divisions poses an operational challenge. It impinges on Internal Audit 
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Independence and Objectivity, as auditors cannot audit their own work. This can limit 
Internal Audit's ability to perform audits with an independent and objective mindset.  

Except for the above changes, the Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal 
Audit Charter documents currently in effect remain the same.  

Delegated Authority 

Internal Audit seeks to amend the Administrative Authority By-law 216-2017 to grant the 
Director of Internal Audit authority to amend the Audit Committee Terms of Reference 
and Internal Audit Charter By-law, with the following limitations. 
 
The Director of Internal Audit's authority to make changes are limited to updating the 
contents, such as to reflect changes to the IIA Standards. The Director is not authorized 
to make changes to the document that could affect funding or the roles and 
responsibilities of the Audit Committee or the Director of Internal Audit and division, 
including the reporting structure. The Director, Internal Audit will regularly report any 
changes to the proposed by-law Schedule to the Audit Committee for reference. 
 
Corporate Implications: 

Financial Implications: nil 

Other Implications: 

That Legal Services take the steps necessary to enact the Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference and Internal Audit Charter into By-law.  

Term of Council Priorities: 

This report achieves the term of Council priority of a Well-Run city by ensuring 
accountable and transparent government through clear roles and responsibilities. 

Conclusion: 

No significant changes resulted from combining the Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference and Internal Audit Charter documents. The contents of the documents are 
closely linked and were joined to avoid duplication and provide a single reference 
document. 

A key feature of this report is to enact the combined Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference and Internal Audit Charter into By-law. This will provide greater stability to the 
Internal Audit function of the City of Brampton. 

 

 
 
Claire Mu 

Director, Internal Audit  
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Attachments: 
Appendix 1: By-law to Establish Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit 
Charter 
Appendix 2: Internal Audit Charter Version 2023 
Appendix 3: Audit Committee Terms of Reference 2023 
Appendix 4: A Chronology of Changes 
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 THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 

BY-LAW 
 Number  ___________- 2023 

  

  

To Establish the Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter  
 

WHEREAS City Council establishes its governance structure for decision-making 
at the start of each Council term; 

AND WHEREAS Council adopted Resolution ________ , at its June 14, 2023 
meeting to consolidate and adopt appropriate terms of reference and audit 
charter for the mandate and responsibilities of the Audit Committee, as well as 
define the role of the Internal Audit Division and relationship with the Audit 
Committee; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of Brampton 
ENACTS as follows: 
 
 
1. That an Audit Committee be established based on the Terms of Reference 

and Charter as set out in Scheduled 1 to this By-law. 
 
 
ENACTED and PASSED this 14th day of June, 2023.  

 

 

 

________________________________ 
Patrick Brown, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
 Peter Fay, City Clerk 

 
 

  

Approved as to 
form. 

20__/month/day 

[insert name] 

Approved as to 
content. 

20__/month/day 

[insert name] 
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Schedule 1 

Establish the Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter 

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Audit Committee: 

A Committee of Council. The Committee was established to enable members of 
Council to further enhance oversight capabilities and stewardship responsibilities. 
Roles and Responsibilities are further defined in the Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference. 

Composition: 

• Minimum of five members of Council 

• The Mayor, who is an ex-officio member 

• Minimum of one to a maximum of three citizen members 

Term of Office: Concurrent with the term of Council, ending November 30, 2026, or 
until successors are appointed 

Established by: Council Resolution 

Meetings: Quarterly, or as required by the Chair 

Reports to: City Council 

Supported by: City Clerk’s Office 

Qualifications: 

Elected Officials: 

• Where feasible, a background in finance, audit, or accounting would provide the 

Committee with additional expertise  

Citizen Member(s): 

• Lives and/or operates a business in Brampton 

• Has a professional Accounting designation with a minimum of 10 years of 

experience 

• Demonstrates skill in strategy and innovation 

• Proficient in accounting and auditing 

• Displays exceptional verbal, written, listening, teamwork and collaboration skills 

Objectives of the Audit Committee: 

The objective of the Audit Committee is to enhance Council’s understanding of 
financial and control reporting both internally (as provided by the City’s Internal Audit 
Division) and statutorily (as provided by the City’s Auditors). The Committee enables 
Council to fulfill its oversight and stewardship responsibilities. The Committee also 
provides a focal point for improved communication between Council, the Internal and 
Statutory Auditors, and Management. The Committee strengthens the impartial, 
objective and independent review of management practices through the internal and 
statutory audit functions. In particular, the Committee’s objectives are to: 

• Demonstrate a higher level of public accountability; 

• Provide additional assurance to the public that City services are administered in 

an effective, efficient and economical manner; 

• Ensure compliance with legislation for public reporting; 

• Ensure compliance with Corporate policies and procedures; 

• Ensure the safeguarding of City assets; and 

• Ensure impartial, objective and independent review of processes for City 

operations. 
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Responsibilities of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is responsible for: 

Statutory Audit Function 

Making recommendations to City Council regarding the following: 

• The selection and dismissal of the City’s statutory Auditor(s) in accordance with 

the requirements of Section 296 of the Municipal Act, 2001; 

• The terms of engagement, fees and scope of the audit services provided; 

• The review and approval of the annual Audited Financial Statements; and 

• The review and receipt of reports. 

Internal Audit Function 

• Reviewing and approving the risk based internal audit work plan as 

recommended by the Director, Internal Audit 

• Reviewing and approving the Internal Audit Charter; 

• Reviewing Internal Audit reports issued during the year; 

• Reviewing the adequacy of management responses to audit concerns in relation 

to the risks and costs involved; 

• Ensuring the Internal Audit recommendations are implemented by reviewing 

Internal Audit’s follow up reports; and 

• Ensuring all Internal Audit activities are free from interference and related 

implications. 

Financial and Other Reporting: 

Reviewing the annual Management Letter prepared by the City’s statutorily 
appointed auditors and the related management responses.  

General 

• Reviewing the Audit Committee mandate periodically; 

• Communicating and meeting independently with the Director, Internal Audit as 

appropriate; and 

• Any other matters that could come within the scope of the auditors. 

2. INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

Purpose and Mission  

The purpose of the City of Brampton’s (“City”) Internal Audit Division (“Internal 
Audit)” is to provide independent and objective assurance services designed to add 
value and improve the operations of the City. To maintain independence, due to the 
small size of the team, Internal Audit will not be providing consulting services, except 
at the request of the City Council on governance and risk matters. The mission of 
Internal Audit is to enhance and protect organizational value by providing risk-based 
and objective assurance, advice and insight. Internal Audit helps the City accomplish 
its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the effectiveness of governance, risk management and control processes. 

Definitions  

2. Audit Committee: 3. A Committee of Council. The Committee was established to 
enable members of Council to further enhance oversight 
capabilities and stewardship responsibilities. Roles and 
Responsibilities are further defined in the Audit Committee 
Terms of Reference. 

4. City Related Boards: 5. Includes Brampton Heritage Board and Brampton Library. 
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6. Consulting Services: 7. Advisory services at the request of City Council to improve the 
City’s governance, risk management, and control processes 
without the Director, Internal Audit and/or the internal auditor 
assuming management responsibility. Examples include 
counsel, advice, facilitation and training. 

8. Council: 9. Municipal Council of the City of Brampton including the Mayor 
and Councillors. 

10. Employee: 11. An individual employed by the City, including those employed 
on contract and volunteers, but does not include those 
retained by the City on a professional services agreement. 

12. Engagement: 13. A specific internal audit assignment, task, or review activity, 
such as an internal audit, control self-assessment review, 
fraud examination, or consultancy. An engagement may 
include multiple tasks or activities designed to accomplish a 
specific set of related objectives. An engagement includes 
financial, operational, compliance, follow up, information 
systems audits, other special audits, or consulting services. 

14. Internal Audit Work 
Plan:  

15. The plan approved by Council listing all engagements to be 
performed by Internal Audit. 

 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit  

Internal Audit will govern itself by adherence to the mandatory elements of The Institute 
of Internal Auditors’ (“the IIA”) International Professional Practices Framework, including 
the Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
(“Standards”), and the Definition of Internal Auditing. The IIA’s Mandatory Guidance 
constitutes the fundamental requirements for the professional practice of internal 
auditing and the principles against which to evaluate the effectiveness of internal audit 
activity’s performance. The Director, Internal Audit will report periodically to the Audit 
Committee regarding Internal Audit’s conformance to the Code of Ethics and the 
Standards. In addition, Internal Audit will adhere to and ensure conformance to the 
guidelines and procedures of ISACA for any engagements involving information 
systems. 

Internal Audit will adhere to the City’s relevant policies and procedures.  

Authority   

The Director, Internal Audit will report functionally to the Audit Committee and 
administratively (i.e. day-to-day operations) to the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”).  

To establish, maintain, and assure that the City’s Internal Audit has sufficient authority 
to fulfill its duties, the Audit Committee will: 

• Approve the Internal Audit Charter. 

• Approve the risk-based Internal Audit Work Plan. 

• Approve Internal Audit’s budget and resource plan. 

• Receive communications from the Director, Internal Audit on Internal Audit’s 

performance relative to its plan and other matters. 

• Participate in the selection of the Director, Internal Audit. 

• Actively participate in discussions about and approving decisions regarding the 

removal of the Director, Internal Audit. 

• Review and approve, together with the CAO, the performance of the Director, 

Internal Audit. 

• Approve decisions relating to the remuneration of the Director, Internal Audit. 

• Make appropriate inquiries of management and the Director, Internal Audit to 

determine whether there is inappropriate scope or resource limitations. 
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The Director, Internal Audit will have unrestricted access to, and communicate and 
interact directly with, the Audit Committee, including private meetings without 
management present. 

The Audit Committee authorizes Internal Audit to: 

• Have full, free, and unrestricted access to all functions, records, properties, and 

personnel necessary to carrying out any engagement, subject to accountability 

for confidentiality and safeguarding of records and information, and applicable 

law. 

• Allocate resources, set frequencies, select subjects, determine scopes of work, 

apply techniques required to accomplish audit objectives, and issue reports. 

• Obtain assistance from the necessary personnel of the City, as well as other 

specialized services from within or outside the City, in order to complete the 

engagement. 

• Conduct any engagement of all City departments and special interest groups, 3rd 

parties (via right to audit clauses where applicable) and City Related Boards. 

It is the duty of any employee of the City or City Related Board having control of records 
to permit the Director, Internal Audit or his/her designate access and examination when 
requested subject to applicable law. It is also the duty of any employee of the City or 
City related Board to fully co-operate with and make full disclosure of all pertinent 
information to the Director, Internal Audit or his/her authorized designate. 

Independence and Objectivity  

The Director, Internal Audit will ensure that Internal Audit remains free from all 
conditions that threaten the ability of internal auditors to carry out their responsibilities in 
an unbiased manner, including matters of audit selection, scope, procedures, 
frequency, timing, and report content. If the Director, Internal Audit determines that 
independence or objectivity may be impaired in fact or appearance, the details of 
impairment will be disclosed to appropriate parties. 

Internal auditors will maintain an impartial, unbiased mental attitude that allows them to 
perform engagements objectively and in such a manner that they believe in their work 
product, that no quality compromises are made, and that they do not subordinate their 
judgment on audit matters to others. 

Internal auditors will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the 
activities audited. Accordingly, internal auditors will not implement internal controls, 
develop procedures, install systems, prepare records, or engage in any other activity 
that may impair their judgment, including: 

• Assessing specific operations for which they had responsibility within the 

previous year. To this end, Internal Audit staff temporary assignments to other 

City divisions (including secondments) will be operationally challenging, and 

therefore, not be permitted.  

• Performing any operational duties for the City or City Related Boards. 

• Initiating or approving transactions external to Internal Audit. 

• Directing the activities of any City employee not employed by Internal Audit, 

except to the extent that such employees have been appropriately assigned to 

auditing teams or to otherwise assist internal auditors. 

The Director, Internal Audit will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over 
any operational activity for the City or City Related Boards. The Director, Internal Audit 
is not authorized to perform any operational duties for the City or City Related Boards. 

Internal auditors will: 

• Disclose any impairment of independence or objectivity, in fact or appearance, to 

appropriate parties. 

• Exhibit professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating, and communicating 

information about the activity or process being examined. 
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• Make balanced assessments of all available and relevant facts and 

circumstances. 

• Take necessary precautions to avoid being unduly influenced by their own 

interests or by others in forming judgements. 

The Director, Internal Audit will confirm to the Audit Committee, at least annually, the 
organizational independence of Internal Audit. 

The Director, Internal Audit will disclose to the Audit Committee any interference and 
related implications in determining the scope of internal auditing, performing work, 
and/or communicating results. 

Scope of Internal Audit Activities  

The scope of internal audit activities encompasses, but is not limited to, objective 
examinations of evidence for the purpose of providing independent assessments to the 
Audit Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management, 
and control processes for the City. Internal Audit assessments include evaluating 
whether: 

• Risks relating to the achievement of the City’s strategic objectives are 

appropriately identified and managed. 

• The actions of the City’s officers, directors, employees, and contractors are in 

compliance with the City’s policies, procedures, and applicable laws, regulations, 

and governance standards. 

• The results of operations or programs are consistent with established goals and 

objectives 

• Operations or programs are being carried out effectively and efficiently. 

• Established processes and systems enable compliance with the policies, 

procedures, laws, and regulations that could significantly impact the City. 

• Information and the means used to identify, measure, analyze, classify, and 

report such information are reliable and have integrity. 

• Resources and assets are acquired economically, used efficiently, and protected 

adequately. 

The Director, Internal Audit will report periodically to the Audit Committee regarding: 

• The Internal Audit Charter. 

• The independence of the Internal Audit activity. 

• The Internal Audit Work Plan and progress against the plan. 

• Internal Audit resource requirements. 

• Results of Internal Audit activities, including significant risk exposures and control 

issues. 

• Conformance with the IIA Code of Ethics and the Standards, and any action 

plans that address any significant conformance issues. 

• Management’s response to risk that, in the Director, Internal Audit’s judgement, 

may be unacceptable to the City. 

The Director, Internal Audit shares information, coordinates activities, and considers 
relying on the work of other internal and external assurance and consulting service 
providers as needed to ensure proper coverage and minimize duplication of efforts. 
Internal Audit may perform advisory activities at the request of City Council, provided 
Internal Audit does not assume management responsibility. 

Opportunities for improving the efficiency of governance, risk management, and control 
processes may be identified during engagements. These opportunities will be 
communicated to the appropriate level of management. 

Responsibility   

The Director, Internal Audit has the responsibility to: 
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• Submit, at least annually, to the Audit Committee, a risk-based Internal Audit 

Work Plan for review and approval. The Internal Audit Work Plan sets out the 

priorities for Internal Audit that: are reflective of the City’s objectives, concerns 

and priorities; are integrated and coordinated with the corporate risk assessment 

and strategic planning process: and, considers input from senior management. 

• Communicate to the Audit Committee the impact of resource limitations on the 

Internal Audit Work Plan. 

• Review and adjust the Internal Audit Work Plan, as necessary, in response to 

changes in the City’s business, risks, operations, programs, systems, and 

controls. 

• Communicate to the Audit Committee any significant interim changes to the 

Internal Audit Work Plan. 

• Ensure each engagement of the Internal Audit Work Plan is executed, including 

the establishment of objectives and scope, the assignment of appropriate and 

adequately supervised resources, the documentation of work programs and 

testing results, and the communication of engagement results with applicable 

conclusions and recommendations to appropriate parties. 

• Follow up on engagement findings and corrective actions, and report periodically 

to the Audit Committee any corrective actions not effectively implemented. 

• Manage and coordinate all fraud investigation activities within City Departments 

and Related Boards. 

• Ensure the principles of integrity, objectivity, confidentiality, and competency are 

applied and upheld. 

• Ensure Internal Audit collectively possesses or obtains the knowledge, skills, and 

other competencies needed to meet the requirements of the Internal Audit 

Charter. 

• Ensure emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing are 

considered. 

• Establish and ensure adherence to policies and procedures designed to guide 

Internal Audit. 

• Ensure adherence to the City’s relevant policies and procedures, unless such 

policies and procedures conflict with the Internal Audit Charter. Any such 

conflicts will be resolved or otherwise communicated to the Audit Committee. 

• Ensure conformance of Internal Audit with the Standards, with the following 

qualifications: 

o If Internal Audit is prohibited by law or regulation from conformance with 

certain parts of the Standards, the Director, Internal Audit will ensure 

appropriate disclosures and will ensure conformance with all other parts of 

the Standards. 

o If the Standards are used in conjunction with requirements issued by 

ISACA, the Director, Internal Audit will ensure that Internal Audit conforms 

with the Standards, even if Internal Audit also conforms with the more 

restrictive requirements of ISACA. 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Program  

Internal Audit will maintain a Quality Assurance and Improvement Program (“QAIP”) that 
covers all aspects of Internal Audit. The program will include an evaluation of Internal 
Audit’s conformance with the Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors 
apply the IIA’s Code of Ethics. The program will also assess the efficiency and 
effectiveness of Internal Audit and identify opportunities for improvement. 

The Director, Internal Audit will communicate to the Audit Committee on Internal Audit’s 
QAIP, including results of internal assessments (both ongoing and periodic) and 
external assessments conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the City. 

 

Page 47 of 196



 

Version 2022  Page 1 
 

Appendix 1 
 

         
 
 
 
 

Corporation of the City of Brampton 
The Office of Internal Audit  

 
INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

 
Purpose and Mission 

The purpose of the City of Brampton’s (“City”) Office of Internal Audit (“Internal Audit”) is 
to provide independent, objective assurance and consulting services designed to add 
value and improve the operations of the City. The mission of Internal Audit is to 
enhance and protect organizational value by providing risk-based and objective 
assurance, advice and insight. Internal Audit helps the City accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
governance, risk management and control processes.  
 
Definitions 

Audit Committee:  A Committee of Council. The Committee was established to 
enable members of Council to further enhance oversight 
capabilities and stewardship responsibilities. Roles and 
Responsibilities are further defined in the Audit Committee 
Terms of Reference. 

City Related Boards: Includes Brampton Heritage Board and Brampton Library.   

Consulting Services Advisory and related client service activities, the nature and 
scope of which are agreed with the client, are intended to 
add value and improve the City’s governance, risk 
management, and control processes without the Director, 
Internal Audit and/or the internal auditor assuming 
management responsibility. Examples include counsel, 
advice, facilitation and training.  

Council: Municipal Council of the City of Brampton and includes the 
Mayor and Councillors. 

Employee: An individual employed by the City, including those 
employed on contract and volunteers, but does not include 
those retained by the City on a professional services 
agreement. 

Engagement:  A specific internal audit assignment, task, or review activity, 
such as an internal audit, control self-assessment review, 
fraud examination, or consultancy. An engagement may 
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include multiple tasks or activities designed to accomplish a 
specific set of related objectives. An engagement includes 
financial, operational, compliance, follow up, information 
systems audits, other special audits, or consulting services. 

Internal Audit Work Plan:  The plan approved by Council listing all engagements to be 
performed by Internal Audit. 

 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit  

Internal Audit will govern itself by adherence to the mandatory elements of The Institute 
of Internal Auditors’ (“the IIA”) International Professional Practices Framework, including 
the Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, and the 
Definition of Internal Auditing. The IIA’s Mandatory Guidance constitutes the 
fundamental requirements for the professional practice of internal auditing and the 
principles against which to evaluate the effectiveness of internal audit activity’s 
performance. The Director, Internal Audit will report periodically to the Audit Committee 
regarding Internal Audit’s conformance to the Code of Ethics and the Standards. In 
addition, Internal Audit will adhere to and ensure conformance to the guidelines and 
procedures of ISACA for any engagements involving information systems. 
 
Internal Audit will adhere to the City’s relevant policies and procedures. 
 
Authority 

The Director, Internal Audit will report functionally to the Audit Committee and 
administratively (i.e. day-to-day operations) to the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”). 
To establish, maintain, and assure that the City’s Internal Audit has sufficient authority 
to fulfill its duties, the Audit Committee will:  
 

 Approve the Internal Audit Charter. 
 Approve the risk-based Internal Audit Work Plan. 
 Approve Internal Audit’s budget and resource plan. 
 Receive communications from the Director, Internal Audit on Internal Audit’s 

performance relative to its plan and other matters. 
 Participate in the selection of the Director, Internal Audit. 
 Actively participate in discussions about and approving decisions regarding the 

removal of the Director, Internal Audit. 
 Review and approve, together with the CAO, the performance of the Director, 

Internal Audit.  
 Approve decisions relating to the remuneration of the Director, Internal Audit. 
 Make appropriate inquiries of management and the Director, Internal Audit to 

determine whether there is inappropriate scope or resource limitations. 
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The Director, Internal Audit will have unrestricted access to, and communicate and 
interact directly with, the Audit Committee, including private meetings without 
management present.  
 
The Audit Committee authorizes Internal Audit to: 
 

 Have full, free, and unrestricted access to all functions, records, properties, and 
personnel necessary to carrying out any engagement, subject to accountability 
for confidentiality and safeguarding of records and information, and applicable 
law. 

 Allocate resources, set frequencies, select subjects, determine scopes of work, 
apply techniques required to accomplish audit objectives, and issue reports. 

 Obtain assistance from the necessary personnel of the City, as well as other 
specialized services from within or outside the City, in order to complete the 
engagement. 

 Conduct any engagement of all City departments and special interest groups, 3rd 
parties (via right to audit clauses where applicable) and City Related Boards. 

 
It is the duty of any employee of the City or City Related Board having control of records 
to permit the Director, Internal Audit or his/her designate access and examination when 
requested subject to applicable law.  It is also the duty of any employee of the City or 
City related Board to fully co-operate with and make full disclosure of all pertinent 
information to the Director, Internal Audit or his/her authorized designate. 
 
Independence and Objectivity 

The Director, Internal Audit will ensure that Internal Audit remains free from all 
conditions that threaten the ability of internal auditors to carry out their responsibilities in 
an unbiased manner, including matters of audit selection, scope, procedures, 
frequency, timing, and report content. If the Director, Internal Audit determines that 
independence or objectivity may be impaired in fact or appearance, the details of 
impairment will be disclosed to appropriate parties.  
 
Internal auditors will maintain an impartial, unbiased mental attitude that allows them to 
perform engagements objectively and in such a manner that they believe in their work 
product, that no quality compromises are made, and that they do not subordinate their 
judgment on audit matters to others.  
 
Internal auditors will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the 
activities audited. Accordingly, internal auditors will not implement internal controls, 
develop procedures, install systems, prepare records, or engage in any other activity 
that may impair their judgment, including: 
 

 Assessing specific operations for which they had responsibility within the 
previous year. 

 Performing any operational duties for the City or City Related Boards. 
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 Initiating or approving transactions external to Internal Audit. 
 Directing the activities of any City employee not employed by Internal Audit, 

except to the extent that such employees have been appropriately assigned to 
auditing teams or to otherwise assist internal auditors.  

 
The Director, Internal Audit will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over 
any operational activity for the City or City Related Boards. The Director, Internal Audit 
is not authorized to perform any operational duties for the City or City Related Boards. 
 
Internal auditors will: 
 

 Disclose any impairment of independence or objectivity, in fact or appearance, to 
appropriate parties. 

 Exhibit professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating, and communicating 
information about the activity or process being examined. 

 Make balanced assessments of all available and relevant facts and 
circumstances. 

 Take necessary precautions to avoid being unduly influenced by their own 
interests or by others in forming judgements. 

 
The Director, Internal Audit will confirm to the Audit Committee, at least annually, the 
organizational independence of Internal Audit.  
 
The Director, Internal Audit will disclose to the Audit Committee any interference and 
related implications in determining the scope of internal auditing, performing work, 
and/or communicating results.  
 
Scope of Internal Audit Activities  

The scope of internal audit activities encompasses, but is not limited to, objective 
examinations of evidence for the purpose of providing independent assessments to the 
Audit Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management, 
and control processes for the City. Internal Audit assessments include evaluating 
whether:  
 

 Risks relating to the achievement of the City’s strategic objectives are 
appropriately identified and managed. 

 The actions of the City’s officers, directors, employees, and contractors are in 
compliance with the City’s policies, procedures, and applicable laws, regulations, 
and governance standards. 

 The results of operations or programs are consistent with established goals and 
objectives 

 Operations or programs are being carried out effectively and efficiently. 
 Established processes and systems enable compliance with the policies, 

procedures, laws, and regulations that could significantly impact the City. 

Page 51 of 196



 

Version 2022  Page 5 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 Information and the means used to identify, measure, analyze, classify, and 
report such information are reliable and have integrity. 

 Resources and assets are acquired economically, used efficiently, and protected 
adequately. 

 
 
The Director, Internal Audit will report periodically to the Audit Committee regarding: 
 

 The Internal Audit Charter. 
 The independence of the Internal Audit activity. 
 The Internal Audit Work Plan and progress against the plan. 
 Internal Audit resource requirements. 
 Results of Internal Audit activities, including significant risk exposures and control 

issues. 
 Conformance with the IIA Code of Ethics and the Standards, and any action 

plans that address any significant conformance issues. 
 Management’s response to risk that, in the Director, Internal Audit’s judgement, 

may be unacceptable to the City.  
 

The Director, Internal Audit shares information, coordinates activities, and considers 
relying on the work of other internal and external assurance and consulting service 
providers as needed to ensure proper coverage and minimize duplication of efforts. 
Internal Audit may perform advisory and related client service activities, the nature and 
scope of which will be agreed with the client, provided Internal Audit does not assume 
management responsibility.  
 
Opportunities for improving the efficiency of governance, risk management, and control 
processes may be identified during engagements. These opportunities will be 
communicated to the appropriate level of management.  
 
Responsibility 

The Director, Internal Audit has the responsibility to:  
 

 Submit, at least annually, to the Audit Committee, a risk-based Internal Audit 
Work Plan for review and approval. The Internal Audit Work Plan sets out the 
priorities for Internal Audit that: are reflective of the City’s objectives, concerns 
and priorities; are integrated and coordinated with the corporate risk assessment 
and strategic planning process: and, considers input from senior management.  

 Communicate to the Audit Committee the impact of resource limitations on the 
Internal Audit Work Plan. 

 Review and adjust the Internal Audit Work Plan, as necessary, in response to 
changes in the City’s business, risks, operations, programs, systems, and 
controls. 

 Communicate to the Audit Committee any significant interim changes to the 
Internal Audit Work Plan. 
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 Ensure each engagement of the Internal Audit Work Plan is executed, including 
the establishment of objectives and scope, the assignment of appropriate and 
adequately supervised resources, the documentation of work programs and 
testing results, and the communication of engagement results with applicable 
conclusions and recommendations to appropriate parties. 

 Follow up on engagement findings and corrective actions, and report periodically 
to the Audit Committee any corrective actions not effectively implemented.  

 Manage and coordinate all fraud investigation activities within City Departments 
and Related Boards. 

 Ensure the principles of integrity, objectivity, confidentiality, and competency are 
applied and upheld. 

 Ensure Internal Audit collectively possesses or obtains the knowledge, skills, and 
other competencies needed to meet the requirements of the Internal Audit 
Charter. 

 Ensure emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing are 
considered. 

 Establish and ensure adherence to policies and procedures designed to guide 
Internal Audit.  

 Ensure adherence to the City’s relevant policies and procedures, unless such 
policies and procedures conflict with the Internal Audit Charter. Any such conflicts 
will be resolved or otherwise communicated to the Audit Committee. 

 Ensure conformance of Internal Audit with the Standards, with the following 
qualifications: 

o If Internal Audit is prohibited by law or regulation from conformance with 
certain parts of the Standards, the Director, Internal Audit will ensure 
appropriate disclosures and will ensure conformance with all other parts of 
the Standards. 

o If the Standards are used in conjunction with requirements issued by 
ISACA, the Director, Internal Audit will ensure that Internal Audit conforms 
with the Standards, even if Internal Audit also conforms with the more 
restrictive requirements of ISACA.  

 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Program  

Internal Audit will maintain a Quality Assurance and Improvement Program (“QAIP”) that 
covers all aspects of Internal Audit. The program will include an evaluation of Internal 
Audit’s conformance with the Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors 
apply the IIA’s Code of Ethics. The program will also assess the efficiency and 
effectiveness of Internal Audit and identify opportunities for improvement.  

The Director, Internal Audit will communicate to the Audit Committee on Internal Audit’s 
QAIP, including results of internal assessments (both ongoing and periodic) and 
external assessments conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the City. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Terms of Reference  

 
 
Composition:  

 Minimum of five members of Council 
 The Mayor, who is an ex-officio member   
 Minimum of one to a maximum of three citizen members  

 
Term of Office: Concurrent with the term of Council, ending November 30, 2022, or 

until successors are appointed 
 
Established by: Council Resolution 
 
Meetings: Quarterly, or as required by the Chair  
 
Reports to: City Council 
 
Supported by: City Clerk’s Office 
 
Qualifications:   
 
Elected Officials: 

 Where feasible, a background in finance, audit, or accounting would provide 
the Committee with additional expertise 

 
Citizen Member(s): 

 Lives and/or operates a business in Brampton 
 Has a professional Accounting designation with a minimum of 10 years 

experience 
 Demonstrates skill in strategy and innovation 
 Proficient in accounting and auditing 
 Displays exceptional verbal, written, listening, teamwork and collaboration 

skills 

 
Objectives of the Audit Committee: 
 
The objective of the Audit Committee is to enhance Council’s understanding of financial 
and control reporting both internally (as provided by the City’s Internal Audit Division) 
and statutorily (as provided by the City’s Auditors). The Committee enables Council to 
fulfill its oversight and stewardship responsibilities. The Committee also provides a focal 
point for improved communication between Council, the Internal and Statutory Auditors, 
and Management. The Committee strengthens the impartial, objective and independent 
review of management practices through the internal and statutory audit functions.  In 
particular, the Committee’s objectives are to: 
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 Demonstrate a higher level of public accountability; 

 Provide additional assurance to the public that City services are administered 
in an effective, efficient and economical manner; 

 Ensure compliance with legislation for public reporting; 

 Ensure compliance with Corporate policies and procedures; 

 Ensure the safeguarding of City assets; and  

 Ensure impartial, objective and independent review of processes for City 
operations 

 
Responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for:  
  

Statutory Audit Function 
Making recommendations to City Council regarding the following: 
 
 The selection and dismissal of the City’s statutory Auditor(s) in accordance 

with the requirements of Section 296 of the Municipal Act, 2001;  
 The terms of engagement, fees and scope of the audit services provided; 
 The review and approval of the annual Audited Financial Statements; and 
 The review and receipt of reports. 

 
Internal Audit Function 
 Reviewing and approving the risk based internal audit work plan as 

recommended by the Director, Internal Audit; 
 Reviewing and approving the Internal Audit Charter; 
 Reviewing Internal Audit reports issued during the year; 
 Reviewing adequacy of the management responses to audit concerns in 

relation to the risks and costs involved; 
 Ensuring the Internal Audit recommendations are implemented by reviewing 

Internal Audit’s follow up reports; 
 Reviewing and approving the Office of Internal Audit’s budget;  
 Participate in the selection of the Director, Internal Audit. 
 Actively participate in discussions about and approving decisions regarding 

the removal of the Director, Internal Audit. 
 Reviewing the adequacy of the authority, responsibilities and functions of the 

City’s Office of Internal Audit, including Internal Audit plans, budget, and the 
scope and results of internal audits and management’s responses thereto;  

 Ensuring all Internal Audit activities are free from interference and related 
implications;   

 Reviewing with the Director, Internal Audit the performance of the Internal 
Audit function; 
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 Reviewing and approving, together with the CAO, the performance of the 
Director, Internal Audit; and  

 Reviewing and approving decisions relating to the remuneration of the 
Director, Internal Audit. 

 
Financial and Other Reporting 
 Reviewing the annual Management Letter prepared by the City’s statutorily 

appointed auditors and the related management responses.  
 

General 
 Reviewing the Audit Committee mandate periodically; 
 Communicating and meeting independently with the Director, Internal Audit 

as appropriate; and 
 Any other matters that could come within the scope of the auditors. 
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Appendix 4: A Chronology of Changes  

The following sets out chronological changes to the Internal Audit Charter since 2019. 

 

2019, March 19, Audit Committee Motion AU010-2019 

The 2019 updates to the charter and terms of reference were the first since 2017. 

The motion to receive was carried. The two policy documents are the following: 

• Internal Audit Charter Version 2019. 

• Audit Committee Terms of Reference Version 2019. 

Click here for the meeting agenda, and here for the meeting minutes.  

 

2020, September 8, Audit Committee Motion AU024-2020 

The “Internal Audit Charter” report was presented to the Audit Committee by Internal 

Audit. The motion carried. Recommendations included: 

• That the report titled Internal Audit Charter be received. 

• That a By-Law be enacted, adopting the updated Internal Audit Charter and Audit 

Committee Terms of Reference attached to the report. 

 

While the report was received, no motion was presented to Council to adopt the 

charter and terms of reference into By-law.  

 

The 2020 Audit Charter updates changed the relationship between Internal Audit, 

the Audit Committee and the CAO.  

• The updated 2020 Internal Audit Charter states, “The CAO is responsible for the 

general management of the affairs of the Internal Audit Division, including the 

appointment, dismissal and remuneration of the Director of Internal Audit.” 

• The Internal Audit Charter 2019 states, “… the Audit Committee will… Approve 

decisions regarding the appointment and removal of the CAE [Director of Internal 

Audit] … Approve decisions relating to the remuneration of the CAE.”  

Click here for the meeting agenda, and here for the meeting minutes.  

 
2021, May 5, City Council Resolution C145-2021 

On May 5, 2021, Council reinstated a previous version of the Internal Audit Charter 

Page 57 of 196

https://www.brampton.ca/EN/City-Hall/meetings-agendas/Audit%20Committee/20190319au_Agenda.pdf
https://www.brampton.ca/EN/City-Hall/meetings-agendas/Audit%20Committee/20190319aumn.pdf
https://www.brampton.ca/EN/City-Hall/meetings-agendas/Audit%20Committee/20200908au_Agenda.pdf
https://www.brampton.ca/EN/City-Hall/meetings-agendas/Audit%20Committee/20200908aumn.pdf


and Audit Committee Terms of Reference from March 2019 to ensure the 

independence and objectivity of the internal audit function. In addition, Council 

provided direction to staff to provide comments with regard to clarification of roles 

and responsibilities. The motion was moved by Regional Councillor Medeiros and 

seconded by all members of the City Council. The motion carried unanimously. 

Click here for the meeting minutes.  

 
2022, May 17, Audit Committee Motion AU017-2022 

As directed by City Council, the CAO’s office updated the Internal Audit Charter and 

Audit Committee Terms of Reference. The report was presented at the May 17, 

2022, meeting of the Audit Committee. It was deferred to the September 27, 2022, 

Audit Committee meeting to allow more time for Councilors to study the report. 

The changes were based on the review of the Internal Audit Charter Version 2019, 

the audit charters of other municipalities and recommendations of The Institute of 

Internal Auditors (IIA). 

The following table is an excerpt from the May report, which identified two areas 

where additional language would provide greater clarity and alignment with the 

current organizational structure. 

Version 2019 Proposed changes (Version 2022) 

To establish, maintain, and assure that 
the City’s Internal Audit has sufficient 
authority to fulfill its duties, the Audit 
Committee will:  

• Approve decisions regarding the 
appointment and removal of the 
CAE.  

To establish, maintain, and assure that the 
City’s Internal Audit has sufficient authority 
to fulfill its duties, the Audit Committee will: 

• Participate in the selection of the 
Director, Internal Audit. 

• Actively participate in discussions 
about and approving decisions 
regarding removal of the Director, 
Internal Audit.  

Director, Internal Audit is referred to as 
Chief Audit Executive (CAE)  

Chief Audit Executive (CAE) removed and 
replaced with Director, Internal Audit 

 

Click here for the meeting agenda, and here for the meeting minutes.  

 
2022, September 27, Audit Committee  

Due to the 2022 municipal election, the September 27 meeting of the Audit 

Committee would have been the last meeting of that council term. However, the 

Audit Committee did not occur due to a lack of quorum. As a result, the “Update of 

Internal Audit Charter and Audit Committee Terms of Reference” was not received 

or approved. 
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Click here for the meeting agenda.  

 
2023, January 30, Council Workshop 

Whereas the Audit Committee Terms of Reference need to be reviewed and 

approved for this term of City Council, the new members of the Audit Committee 

directed staff, at the Council Education session on January 30, 2023, to: 

• Combine the Audit Charter and Audit Committee Terms of Reference into one 
document. 

• Present the Audit Charter and Audit Committee Terms of Reference to be 
approved into By-Law. 

 

Click here for the meeting agenda.  

 

2023, February 21, Audit Committee Motion AU9-2023 

The Audit Committee received the report titled: “Update of Internal Audit Charter and 

Audit Committee Terms of Reference.” 

The Audit Committee directed staff to review the Audit Committee Terms of 

Reference and the Audit Charter and provide a draft version of a combined 

document to the next scheduled Audit Committee meeting.  

The charter and terms of reference approved by the Audit Committee kept the 

changes prepared for the September 27, 2022, meeting of the Audit Committee. In 

addition, the motion resolved that any Internal Audit report directed to the Audit 

Committee by the Director of Internal Audit shall not require prior approval by the 

Chief Administrative Officer or other management staff. The Audit Committee also 

voted to change the number of citizen members to reflect the change in the size of 

the audit committee. 

 

Click here for the meeting agenda, and here for the meeting minutes.  
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Staff Report 
The Corporation of the City of Brampton  
                             6/12/2023 

 

Date: 2023-05-31 
 
Subject: 

 
Corporate Fraud Governance Structure 

 
Contact: 

 
Claire Mu, Director, Internal Audit, 905-874-2215 
fang.mu@brampton.ca 
 

 
Report Number: 

 
CAO's Office-2023-500 

 
Recommendations: 

1. That the report titled: Corporate Fraud Governance Structure to the Audit 
Committee Meeting of June 12, 2023, be received. 

2. That the updated Corporate Fraud Governance Structure and the Corporate 
Fraud Prevention Policy, as set out in Appendix 1, be approved. 

 

Overview: 
 
o The purpose of this report is to communicate and obtain approval for the proposed 

changes to the Corporate Fraud Governance Structure and Corporate Fraud 
Prevention Policy. The changes are necessary to:  

o Separate management’s responsibility (Fraud Prevention Framework) from the 
Internal Audit function (Investigative Process and Reviews); 

o Outlining the handling of fraud allegations implicating identifiable senior 
positions; and 

o Defining and outlining the purpose of the reporting hotline. 

o The scope of the changes includes: 

o Transferring Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy ownership to the City Legal 
Services. 

o Renaming the “Fraud Reporting Hotline” to “Ethics Hotline” to reflect the scope 
of reports the Hotline receives. 

o A copy of the updated Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy is included in Appendix 

1. The previous Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy, GOV-110, dated September 

1, 2019, is set out in Appendix 2. The process for handling allegations received 

via the Hotline is detailed in Appendix 3. 
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Background: 
 

As part of the City of Brampton’s (“City”) commitment to safeguarding its financial 

viability and reputation, a Fraud Framework was established to prevent, detect, and 

report incidents of fraud, waste, and ethics violations (hereafter collectively called 

“fraud”) as well as outlining the related investigative processes. On July 4, 2016, the 

City launched the Corporate Fraud Prevention Hotline (“Fraud Hotline”), which allows 

City employees to report alleged incidents of fraud. The Fraud Hotline enables 

employees to report incidents of suspected fraud anonymously and confidentially 24 

hours a day, seven days a week. Employees can submit a report through a secure third-

party website or phone through a third-party dedicated toll-free number. Employees 

should feel empowered to report incidents of suspected fraud to ensure the City’s 

assets are protected. 

The current Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy took effect on September 1, 2019. It 

established the requirements and responsibilities for the prevention, detection, and 

reporting of fraud, the conduct of fraud investigations, and the consequences when 

fraud is found to have occurred. 

Who Can Use Reporting Hotline? 

The Fraud Prevention Hotline, to be renamed “Ethics Hotline,” is open to current 

employees and contractors of the City of Brampton and is not available to residents. 

Residents can report potential fraud and waste in the City through Service Brampton or 

by following the Public Complaints Process.  

At the request of the Audit Committee, Internal Audit delivered a Staff Information 

Report Regarding the Fraud Hotline Expansion to Brampton Residents at the December 

7, 2021, meeting of the Audit Committee. The report was received by the committee 

under motion AU036-2021. Click here to see a copy of the report. The Committee or 

City Council has taken no further action, and the Ethics Hotline remains restricted to 

current employees and contractors.  

It should be noted that concerning staffing the hotline, Internal Audit was not resourced 

to manage the hotline, or other related support functions, such as information 

campaigns. Internal Audit currently handles allegations reported through the hotline on 

a best-effort basis. The December 7, 2021, information report concludes that additional 

staff is required should the Ethics Hotline be expanded to City residents.   

 
Current Situation:  
 

The experience gained from managing the Fraud Hotline reporting process since the 

last policy update, a renewed focus on meeting the IIA practice standards, a review of 

the City of Brampton Audit Charter, and benchmarking work with other cities have 
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highlighted areas where the fraud governance structure, policies and procedures need 

to be clarified and strengthened.  

The changes presented in this report will enhance existing corporate policies and 

procedures. 

The Policy Changes: What has changed and Why? 

1. The ownership of the Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy is moving from Internal 
Audit to the office of the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”)  

1.1. Ownership of the Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy: City Legal Services 

Ownership of the Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy is moving to the CAO’s 

office. The CAO has delegated responsibility for revising and maintaining the 

Policy to the City Solicitor. 

1.2. Responsibility for Investigations: Internal Audit 

Internal Audit will continue to manage the Hotline Operations. This includes 

coordinating and managing the allegations received via the Hotline and the 

related investigations, providing advisory services on the associated inquiries, 

and regularly updating the City Audit Committee on the allegations received and 

their disposition.  

Why did we change? 

Managing fraud risk and responsibility for managing the Hotline and investigating 

fraud allegations are incompatible roles and should be segregated. Management is 

responsible for managing corporate risk, including fraud risk, while Internal Audit is 

responsible for assessing the City’s Fraud Prevention Policy and practices 

objectively and independently, as well as coordinating/conducting/managing 

investigations of detected fraud and fraud allegations. 

Finally, the current structure does not comply with the City of Brampton Audit 

Charter: “Internal auditors will have no direct operational responsibility or authority 

over any of the activities audited. Accordingly, internal auditors will not implement 

internal controls, develop procedures, install systems, prepare records, or engage in 

any other activity that may impair their judgment.” 

2. Investigations of allegations implicating certain identifiable senior positions will be 

outsourced to third-party investigators.  

Internal Audit will outsource the investigation of all fraud allegations implicating 

identifiable senior positions (the CAO, Department Heads, City Clerk, City Solicitor, 

Director of Human Resources, Director of Internal Auditor, and City Treasurer) to a 

third-party investigator.  
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The new process will remove Internal Audit from handling the allegations and related 
investigations of the identifiable senior positions.  

3. Renaming the Fraud Hotline: Ethics Hotline 

The name “Ethics Hotline” better reflects the mix of allegations coming through the 

Hotline, including violations of ethics and the Code of Conduct, waste, and fraud. 

 

Operational Prerequisites 
 

Specific processes and services are required to implement the policy changes 

effectively. The operational approach described in Appendix 3 was designed with the 

following objectives: 

 Minimizing staff involvement in investigations that involve identifiable senior 

positions; 

 Retaining a third-party investigator as quickly as possible after an allegation 

implicating identifiable senior positions has been submitted to the Ethics Hotline; 

and,  

 Clarifying the handling of allegations that can best be directed toward the 
Accountability Officers defined under the Municipal Act, 2001. 

Internal Audit, in collaboration with Purchasing, is creating a roster of pre-qualified third-

party investigators with standardized agreements to meet these objectives. The RFP to 

build the roster is open and will close on June 22, 2023. 

 

Corporate Implications: 

Financial Implications:  

IA staff will continue to manage the Fraud Hotline on a best-effort basis in 2023. Any 
increase to the operating budget will be assessed during the 2024 budget process.  
 
Other Implications:  

N/A 

 
Term of Council Priorities: 
 
This report fulfills the Council Priority of “Brampton is a well-run city” by enhancing the 
Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy and Fraud Governance Structure, which promotes 
corporate accountability, our values, and governance best practices. 
 
Conclusion: 
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The policy changes, operational approach, and funding requirements identified in this 
report will achieve the objectives of segregating management functions (Fraud 
Prevention Framework) from Internal Audit functions (investigative process), clarifying 
the purpose of the reporting hotline, clarifying the handling of fraud allegations involving 
identifiable senior positions and minimizing Internal Audit staff involvement in those 
investigations.  
 
 
Jointly Authored by:     
 
 

  

Sameer Akhtar  Claire Mu 

City Solicitor, Legal Services  Director, Internal Audit  
 
  

   
   
Marlon Kallideen   

Chief Administrative Officer   

 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Appendix 1: Updated Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy 2023 
Appendix 2: Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy GOV-110- v September 2019 
Appendix 3: Operational Approach 
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          COUNCIL POLICY  

 

Page 1 of 8 

Category:  Governance 

Title: Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy 

Policy Number: TBD 

Approved by: [Committee Recommendation #], [Council Resolution #]  

Administered by: Legal Services 

Effective: June 12, 2023 

 

1. Background  

The City of Brampton (“City”) is committed to maintaining an environment of 
fairness, ethical behaviour, honesty, and intolerance of Fraud. In line with that 
commitment, the City has implemented the Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy to 
reinforce the City’s commitment to Fraud prevention and detection and set out the 
City’s response to allegations of suspected or actual Fraud. 

2. Purpose 

This Policy aims to establish the requirements and responsibilities for the 
prevention, detection, and reporting of Fraud, the conduct of Fraud investigations, 
and the consequences when Fraud has occurred. 

3. Application and Scope 

3.1 This Policy applies to all employees or persons acting on behalf of the City, 
including management, bargaining unit staff, and full-time, part-time, 
permanent, volunteer, and contract employees. 

3.2 This Policy does not apply to the Mayor and Councillors, whom the Council 
Code of Conduct governs. Any allegations implicating the Mayor and 
Councillors may be directed to the Office of the Integrity Commissioner.  

4. Outcomes 

4.1 An environment of fairness, ethical behaviour, honesty, and intolerance of 
Fraud.  

4.2 Commitment to Fraud prevention and detection. 

4.3 Defined roles and responsibilities in response to suspected acts of Fraud. 
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5. Policy Statements 

5.1 This Policy addresses specific guidelines and responsibilities regarding 
actions for detecting, reporting, and investigating Fraud or other similar 
irregularities. 

5.2 The City will identify and promptly investigate any possible Fraud or unethical 
activities against the City and pursue legal remedies when appropriate. 

5.3 The City will take appropriate disciplinary and legal actions against 
employees and entities, up to and including termination of employment or 
contract, restitution, and forwarding information to the appropriate authorities 
for criminal prosecution. 

5.4 This Policy clarifies acts that are considered Fraudulent and describes the 
steps to be taken when Fraud or other related irregularities are suspected or 
have occurred. This statement also includes the procedures to follow in 
accounting for missing funds, restitution, and recoveries. 

5.5 Fraud Assessment and Investigation 

 Internal Audit will carry out an initial assessment. A determination of 

whether the allegation warrants additional investigation will be made 

after completing this assessment. 

 The Director of Internal Audit may delegate the investigation to City 

management, Internal Audit staff, or a third-party investigator. 

Allegations with implications that are in the purview of an Accountability 

Office may be forwarded to the appropriate office.  See “Special Cases” 

for exceptions. 

 Internal Audit requires regular updates, findings, recommendations, and 
confirmation of action taken, if applicable, from City management or a 
third-party investigator.  

 Not all Fraud Allegations will result in an investigation. For example, 
Internal Audit may not investigate allegations that lack relevant details, 
have no reasonable factual basis to proceed, or are false or vexatious. 

 Investigators of suspected Fraud will not disclose or discuss the 
investigation with anyone other than those with a legitimate need to 
know.  
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 Internal Audit, in consultation with Legal Services, may report suspected 
illegal activities to Peel Regional Police or appropriate government 
agency.   

 Every reasonable effort shall be taken to recover losses due to Fraud. 

5.6 Special Cases  

a. Allegations Implicating Identifiable Senior Positions  

Where the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO), Department Heads, City 
Clerk, City Solicitor, Director of Internal Audit, Director of Human 
Resources, or City Treasurer are implicated in allegations of Fraud, a third 
party will be retained to investigate the allegations and transmit their 
findings to Brampton City Council. 

b. Allegations on Matters That Fall Under the Accountability Offices  

From time to time, allegations on matters intended for the Accountability 
Offices as defined in the Municipal Act, 2001 may come through the City’s 
Ethics Hotline. In such cases, Internal Audit will advise the complainant(s), 
forward the allegation to the appropriate City of Brampton’s Accountability 
Office, and close the case. Cases may also be forwarded to the City of 
Brampton’s Accountability Offices if an aspect of an allegation falls within 
their purview. The City has established three Accountability Offices: The 
Integrity Commissioner, Lobbyist Registrar, and Closed Meeting 
Investigator. In addition, the Ontario Ombudsman currently functions as 
Brampton’s Municipal Ombudsman.  

5.7 Protection Against Reprisal 

The City will not tolerate any form of retaliation against persons who, in good 
faith, provide information concerning Fraud. No one governed by this Policy 
shall retaliate against an employee reporting Fraud with the intent of 
adversely affecting the terms or conditions of employment or otherwise. 

5.8 This Policy is designed to augment any other corporate policies containing 
related information. It does not replace or preclude them. To the extent that 
this Policy may conflict with any other corporate policies containing related 
information, this Policy will take precedence to the extent only of such 
conflict. Alternatively, please refer to clause 6.10 of this policy for resolution.  

6. Roles and Responsibilities 

Employee Responsibilities 

6.1 All employees must review this Policy annually and sign an acknowledgment 
form. 
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6.2 When suspected Fraudulent incidents or practices are observed by or made 
known to any person governed by this Policy, the following will be done: 

a) Suspected incidents or practices of Fraud will be reported to the 
supervisor for reporting to the proper management official. When the 
employee believes the supervisor may be involved in inappropriate 
activity, the employee will make the report directly to a higher level of 
management.  

b) All suspected Fraudulent incidents or practices must be reported to the 
City’s Ethics Hotline immediately. Reporting can be done either by the 
employee, their supervisor, or the Human Resources staff that they 
have consulted with. Reporters using the Hotline may choose to remain 
anonymous. 

c) Any City employees will report suspected Fraud to the City’s Ethics 
Hotline and, when doing so, must act in good faith and have reasonable 
grounds for believing the information provided. No person shall make an 
allegation that is known to be false. 

d) The person reporting the Fraud shall provide sufficient information to 
allow a reviewer to assess the allegation. This should include a 
synopsis of the Fraud, specific actions, dates or timelines, and persons 
involved. 

e) All employees must cooperate with Fraud investigations. 

Management Responsibilities 

6.3 Management should be familiar with the types of Fraud in their area and 
create and maintain effective monitoring, review, and control procedures to 
prevent and detect Fraud, misappropriations, and other irregularities. 

6.4 The Corporate Leadership Team is responsible for taking corrective actions 
on confirmed Fraud and engaging Human Resources and Legal Services as 
required. 

Human Resource Responsibility 

6.5 Human Resources will provide all new employees and volunteers with a copy 
of the Policy as part of their orientation. In addition, the new employees and 
volunteers will acknowledge receipt of the Policy in writing. 

6.6 On an annual basis, all employees must read and acknowledge 
understanding of this Policy by signing an acknowledgment form. 

6.7 Human Resources will retain copies of the written acknowledgment by 
individuals who have received this Policy. Acceptable record retention 
includes digital acknowledgement and check-box.  
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Internal Audit Responsibilities 

6.8 Internal Audit is responsible for managing and coordinating the investigation 
of all suspected Fraud and related investigative activities with appropriate 
parties and authorities.  

6.9 Internal Audit shall advise the Council and the Chief Administrative Officer of 
any allegations involving significant and imminent risk to the City. 

City Legal Services Responsibilities 

6.10 City Legal Services owns the City’s Fraud Prevention Policy and is 
responsible for this Policy’s periodic review, revision, and interpretation. 

7. Monitoring and Compliance 

Non-compliance with this Policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination of employment and prosecution by appropriate authorities.   

8. Definition of Fraud 

‘Fraud’ for this Policy means all unethical or dishonest acts, deception, abuse, 
waste, and misconduct including, but not limited to:  

a) Diversion, manipulation, misapplication, mistreatment, or misuse of City 
resources; 

b) A false representation of facts, including making false or misleading 
statements or trying to hide wrongdoing by a person or an organization; 

c) Deception which is intentional and results in a benefit to a person, causes 
damage, harm, or loss to the City or others; 

d) Unnecessary spending or careless squandering of the City’s resources;  

e) Conduct contrary to the Employee Code of Conduct, specifically:  

• Failure to disclose a conflict of interest, whether direct or indirect;  

• Breach of trust;  

• Solicitation of gifts and benefits; and 

• Unauthorized use of City property and Assets for personal benefit, 
gain, or enjoyment.  

Please refer to Appendix A for some examples of Fraud under this Policy. 
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9. References and Resources  

This Policy should be read and applied in conjunction with the following references 
and resources as updated from time to time. Please note that some of the 
following documents may not be publicly available. 

References to related by-laws, Council Policies, and Administrative 
Directives 

• Employee Code of Conduct  

• Employee Expense Policies  

• Information Technology Use Policy   

• Respectful Workplace Policy  

• Purchasing Card Policy PUR-120 

• Purchasing By-Law 19-2018 

• Conflict of Interest Provincial Offences Act Policy  
 

 

References to related corporate-wide procedures, forms, and resources 

• Fraud Service Card  

• ClearView Connects (Ethics Reporting Hotline)  

Revision History 

Date Description 

2018/03/07 Replaces Policy 2.14.0 Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy 

2019/09/25 The annual review resulted in minor edits. Amended by Council 
Resolutions C353-2019 and AU0352019. 

2023/05/25 Policy amended through [CPT to insert resolution number]. 

The review resulted in revisions/additions to clarify the following:  

• City Legal Services, as the Chief Administrative Officer’s 
designate, owns the Fraud Prevention Policy and is 
responsible for the policy’s periodic review, update, and 
interpretation.  

• The City’s Fraud Hotline has been renamed to “Ethics 
Reporting Hotline.” 

• Internal Audit leads the assessment, investigation, and 
reporting processes of allegations received by the Ethics 
Reporting Hotline.  

• Where the CAO, Department Heads, City Clerk, City 
Solicitor, City Treasurer, Director of Human Resources, or 
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Date Description 

Director of Internal Audit are implicated in allegations of 
ethics violations, the investigative process has been updated.  

In addition, minor changes were made to clarify the “Outcomes” and 
“Policy Statement” sections. In addition, “Director, Internal Audit” 
has replaced “Chief Audit Executive.” The revised policy mandated 
reporting of “All suspected fraudulent incidents or practices must be 
reported to the City’s Ethics Reporting Hotline immediately. 
Reporters using the Hotline may choose to remain anonymous.” to 
paragraph 6.2 b) based on benchmarking against other 
municipalities. 

2024/05/01  Next Scheduled Review 
 
 

  

Page 71 of 196



Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy Page 8 of 8 

Appendix A 
 
Some examples of Fraud under this Policy include: 

• Obtaining a benefit or service from the City for which the person does not qualify; 
• Providing a City benefit or service to a person for which that person does not 

qualify; 
• Unauthorized reductions in fees or fines; 
• Suspending or terminating enforcement action based on a personal relationship; 
• Bid-fixing; 
• Authorizing contracts in violation of city purchasing laws; 
• Failure to disclose an actual or potential conflict of interest; 
• Accepting bribes or kickbacks;  
• Accepting gifts over $50;  
• Carrying on a personal business during City of Brampton work hours using City 

resources; 
• Wilful destruction of City property; 
• Forgery or alteration of a cheque, document, or account belonging to the City; 
• Misappropriation or embezzlement of City funds, securities, supplies, or other 

Assets;  
• Unauthorized personal use of Assets;  
• Personal use of procurement cards (P-Card) without reimbursement; 
• Making an allegation of Fraud known to be false; 
• Profiting as a result of insider knowledge; 
• Theft of cash, cheques, procurement cards, or other Assets; 
• Falsifying records such as timecards, expense reports, or official documents; 
• Any activity (including computer-related) involving the alteration, destruction, 

forgery, or manipulation of data for Fraudulent purposes or misappropriation of 
City-owned software, hardware, or other Assets; 

• Breach of federal, provincial, or municipal legislation; 
• Disclosure of confidential information for personal gain; 
• Accepting or seeking anything of material value from contractors, vendors, or 

persons providing services/material to the City or City job applicants; 
• Unauthorized use or misuse of City facilities, equipment, vehicles, or other Assets; 
• Falsifying time worked or leave taken on a timesheet; 
• Retaining ineligible dependents on health care coverage; and 
• Incurring unnecessary costs due to inefficient or negligent practices, systems, or 

controls. 
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 Council Policy 

Category:  Governance 

Title: Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy  

Policy Number: GOV-110 

Approved by: AU035-2019, C353-2019 

Administered by: Office of Internal Audit 

Effective: September 1, 2019 

 

1. Background  

The operation of municipalities is subject to risk of  Fraud.   
 
The City’s goal is to establish and maintain an environment of fairness, ethical behaviour 
and honesty for employees, contractors, suppliers and those with whom the City has a 
relationship. To maintain such an environment requires the active assistance of each and 
every employee every day. 
 
The City is committed to the deterrence, detection and correction of Fraud, 
implementation of measures to prevent, detect and report Fraud, and investigation of any 
suspected acts of Fraud.   

2. Purpose 

The purpose of this Policy is to provide guidance and establish responsibilities for the 
prevention, detection and reporting of Fraud, the conduct of Fraud investigations and the 
consequences when Fraud is found to have occurred. 

3. Application and Scope 

3.1 This Policy applies to:  

 All employees or persons acting on behalf of the City including management, 
bargaining unit staff and regular and temporary employees; and   

 Contractors, vendors and outside agencies doing business with the City who have 
agreed to be bound by this Policy.  
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3.2 This Policy does not apply to the Mayor and Members of Council who are governed 
by a separate Council Code of Conduct.  Any behaviour or activity that contravenes 
that Code may be directed to the Office of the Integrity Commissioner. 

3.3 This Policy applies to acts of unethical or dishonest conduct defined as Fraud for 
the purposes of this Policy.  

4. Outcomes 

4.1 Intended outcomes of this Policy are: 

a. An environment of fairness, ethical behaviour and honesty for our employees, 
contractors, suppliers and other parties with whom the City has established 
a relationship; 
 

b. Zero tolerance for Fraud; and 
  

c. Reasonable efforts to obtain recovery of any losses due to Fraud. 

5. Policy Statements 

5.1 Any person who suspects an act of Fraud by anyone who falls under the scope of 
this Policy must immediately report the event. Reports shall be made directly to the 
Chief Audit Executive (CAE), to their supervisor, or anonymously via the Fraud 
Prevention Hotline. 

5.2 The City will not tolerate any form of retaliation against Whistleblowers who, in good 
faith, provide information concerning Fraud.  

5.3 City staff are responsible for reporting, in good faith, any suspected Fraud. 

5.4 Suspected acts of Fraud will be investigated in an impartial manner regardless of 
the suspected person’s length of service, position, title or relationship to the City. 

5.5 Due to the important and sensitive nature of suspected Fraud, effective professional 
follow-up and investigation is critical.  Persons reporting suspected Fraud should 
not, under any circumstances, perform investigative or other follow-up steps on their 
own. 

5.6 The Office of Internal Audit should be contacted if there are any questions or for 
clarification of what constitutes Fraud. 

6. Definitions  

6.1 In this Policy, 
 
Assets – All property of the City, including but not limited to equipment, financial 
assets, land, vehicles, material, uniforms, cell phones, computers, electronic mail, 
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internet services, records, information and work time; 
 

City – The Corporation of the City of Brampton; 
 

Fraud – All unethical or dishonest acts, deception, abuse, waste and misconduct 
including, but not limited to:  

 
a.  Intentional diversion, manipulation, misapplication, mistreatment or misuse of 

City resources; 
b.  A false representation of facts, including making false or misleading 

statements, or trying to hide wrongdoing by a person or an organization; 
c.  Deception which is intentional and results in a benefit to a person and/or 

causes damage, harm, or loss to the City or others; 
d.  Unnecessary spending or careless squandering of the City’s resources;  
e.  Conduct contrary to the Employee Code of Conduct, specifically:  

 Failure to disclose a conflict of interest of whether direct or indirect;  

 Breach of trust;  

 Solicitation of gifts and/or benefits; and 

 Unauthorized use of City property and Assets for personal benefit, gain 
or enjoyment.  

f.  Examples of fraud under this Policy include: 

 Obtaining a benefit or service from the City for which the person does not 
qualify; 

 Providing a City benefit or service to a person for which that person does 
not qualify; 

 Unauthorized reductions in fees or fines; 

 Suspending or terminating enforcement action based on a personal 
relationship; 

 Bid-fixing; 

 Authorizing contracts in violation of City purchasing laws; 

 Failure to disclose an actual or potential conflict of interest; 

 Accepting bribes or kickbacks;  

 Accepting gifts in excess of $50;  

 Carrying on a personal business during City of Brampton work hours using 
City resources; 

 Wilful destruction of City property; 

 Forgery or alteration of a cheque, document, or account belonging to the 

City; 

 Misappropriation or embezzlement of City funds, securities, supplies or 

other Assets;  

 Unauthorized personal use of Assets;  

 Personal use of procurement cards (P-Card) without reimbursement; 

 Making an allegation of fraud known to be false; 

 Profiting as a result of insider knowledge; 

 Theft of cash, cheques, procurement cards or other Assets; 
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 Falsifying records such as timecards, expense reports or official 

documents; 

 Any activity (including computer related) involving the alteration, 

destruction, forgery or manipulation of data for fraudulent purposes or 

misappropriation of City-owned software, hardware or other Assets; 

 Breach of federal, provincial or municipal legislation; 

 Disclosure of confidential information for personal gain; 

 Accepting or seeking anything of material value from contractors, vendors, 

or persons providing services/material to the City or City job applicants; 

 Unauthorized use or misuse of City facilities, equipment, vehicles or other 
Assets; 

 Falsifying time worked or leave taken on a timesheet; 

 Retaining ineligible dependents on health care coverage; and 

 Incurring unnecessary costs as a result of inefficient or negligent practices, 
systems or controls.  
 

Good Faith – A sincere belief or motive without any malice or the desire to defraud 
others. 
 
Person – Includes individuals and companies; 
 
Whistleblower – A person who, in good faith, reports an activity which he or she 
believes to be Fraud.   

7. Investigating Fraud 

7.1 The Office of Internal Audit has the primary responsibility for the management and 
coordination of the investigation of all suspected Fraud and related investigative 
activities with appropriate parties, as required.  

   
7.2 The Office of Internal Audit and, if applicable, the members of the investigative team 

will have: 
  

 Free and unrestricted access to all City records, except records which are 
protected by law, and premises, whether owned or rented. 

 The authority to examine, copy and/or remove all or any portion of the contents 
of files, desks, cabinets and other storage facilities (whether in electronic or other 
format) without the prior knowledge or consent of any person who might use or 
have custody of such items or facilities when it is within the scope of investigation 
or related follow up activities. 

 
7.3 Any person involved in an investigation of suspected Fraud shall keep the content 

of the investigation confidential. Investigation results will not be disclosed or 
discussed with anyone other than those who have a legitimate need to know.  
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7.4 At the conclusion of an investigation, the CAE will report to a member of the Senior 
Leadership Team whom the CAE considers appropriate on any findings of active 
fraud or a breach of this Policy. 

8. Acting in Good Faith 

8.1 Anyone reporting a Fraud must act in good faith or have reasonable grounds for 
believing the information provided. No person shall make an allegation that is known 
to be false. 
 

8.2 No disciplinary action will be recommended or taken against  a person who makes 
an allegation of fraud in good faith, regardless of the outcome of the investigation. 

9. Whistleblower Protection 

9.1 All Whistleblowers’ identities will remain confidential and anonymous. 

9.2 No one governed by this Policy shall retaliate against a Whistleblower for reporting 
in good faith an act that the Whistleblower believes to be fraudulent or dishonest 
with the intent of adversely affecting the terms or conditions of employment or 
otherwise. 

9.3 Protection from retaliation does not prohibit managers or supervisors from taking 
action, including disciplinary action, as part of their normal duties and based on 
valid performance-related factors. 

10. Fraud Awareness Training 

10.1 Each City employee is required to attend at least one session of Fraud Awareness 
Training every two years.  Coordination and tracking of training will be done by the 
Human Resources Division. 

11. Distribution 

11.1 All newly hired employees and volunteers will be provided with a copy of the Policy 
as part of their orientation and will be required to provide a written 
acknowledgement upon receipt of the Policy. 

11.2 On an annual basis, all employees are required to read and acknowledge 
understanding of this Policy by signing an acknowledgement form. 

12. Related Policies and Administrative Directives 

12.1 This Policy is designed to augment the Corporate policies, identified in Section 15, 
and is not intended to replace or preclude them.  

12.2 To the extent that this Policy may conflict with any other policies containing related 
information, this Policy shall apply.   
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13. Roles and Responsibilities 

13.1 Council is responsible for: 

a. ensuring adequate resources are made available to support investigations. 

13.2 Chief Audit Executive (CAE) is responsible for: 

a. Management and coordination of investigations; 
  

b. Advising Council and, if appropriate, the CAO, of any allegations that, if true, may 
involve significant, imminent risk to the City; 
 

c. Administration, recommended revision, interpretation and application of this 
Policy; and 
 

d. Management and coordination of the investigation of all suspected Fraud and 
related investigative activities with appropriate parties and authorities, as required. 

13.3 Employees with direct reports are responsible for: 

a. Recognizing the types of Fraud, risks and potential exposures within their area of 
responsibility and be alert for any indications of such; 
  

b. Creating and maintaining effective monitoring, review and control procedures to 
prevent and detect Fraud; and 
 

c. Retaining accountability for the effectiveness of the above responsibilities even 
when authority to carry them out is delegated to subordinates. 

13.4 All Employees are responsible for: 

a. Reporting, in good faith, any suspected Fraud. 

13.5 Human Resources Division is responsible for: 

a. Providing a copy of this Policy to all newly hired City employees and volunteers as 
part of their orientation; 
 

b. Retaining a copy of the written acknowledgement that the individual(s) have 
received this Policy; and  

c. Obtaining annual confirmation of adherence to this Policy from all employees. 

13.6 Senior Leadership is responsible for; 

a. Management action on confirmed fraud breach; 
 

b. Creating monitoring for the detection and prevention of fraud.  
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14. Monitoring and Compliance 

14.1 Consequences of non-compliance  

a.  Non-compliance with this Policy by a person who falls under the scope of this 
Policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal and/or 
prosecution by appropriate authorities.  The Director of Human Resources and/or 
the City Solicitor will be consulted by the Chief Audit Executive in advance of such 
action being taken. 

b. Failure to comply by a consultant, vendor, contractor, outside agency, person 
doing business with the City or otherwise within the scope of this Policy,  may result 
in action being taken, including the cancellation of the business or other 
relationship between the entity and the City, or the termination of any contract in 
accordance with its terms.  

c. Any evidence of Fraud may be reported to the appropriate regulatory or other 
authorities.  

d. The City will pursue every reasonable effort to obtain recovery of losses due to 
Fraud. 

15. References and Resources 

This Policy should be read and applied in conjunction with the following references and 
resources as updated from time to time. Please note that some of the following 
documents may not be publically available. 

References to related bylaws, Council policies, and administrative directives 

 Conflict of Interest Policy 

 Conflict of Interest Provincial Offences Act Policy 

 Employee Code of Conduct 

 Employee Expense Policies (various) 

 Information Technology Use Policy  

 Respectful Workplace Policy 

 Purchasing Card Policy PUR-120 

 Purchasing By-Law 19-2018 

Revision History 

Date Description 

2018/03/07 Replaces Policy 2.14.0 Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy 

2019/09/25 Annual review resulted in minor edits to add clarity to provisions; 

adding definitions for person and good faith; adding a complaint 

made in bad faith under the definition of fraud; adding reporting to a 
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Date Description 

member of the Senior Leadership Team any findings of fraud 

investigations as appropriate and additional provision on protection 

of whistleblowers from retaliation. Housekeeping edits to the 

template  Amended by Council Resolutions C353-2019 and AU035-

2019. 

 

2020/08/05 Next Scheduled Review (annual review) 
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Appendix 3: Operational Approach  
 
The following document describes the process followed by Internal Audit in handling 

allegations received via the City’s Ethics Hotline.  

There are three categories of potential allegations received via the City’s Ethics Hotline.  

• Allegations on matters that fall under the Accountability Offices as defined by the 
Municipal Act, 2001 in Part V.1 Accountability and Transparency 

• Allegations implicating identifiable senior positions, including the Chief Administrative 
Officer (“CAO”), Department Heads, City Treasurer, City Solicitor, Director of Internal 
Audit, Director of Human Resources, and City Clerk 

• All other allegations  

Each of these categories has separate handling instructions described in more detail below. A 
diagram of the process flow for handling each category of allegations is located on the last 
page of this document. 

Allegations that Fall Under the Accountability Offices as defined by the Municipal Act, 
2001 

From time to time, allegations intended for the City’s Accountability Offices as defined by the 
Municipal Act, 2001, do come through the City’s Ethics Hotline. Internal Audit will forward 
those allegations to the appropriate Accountability Offices and close the cases. It is important 
to note that the City of Brampton Ethics Hotline does not act as an intake service for any of the 
Accountability Offices. 

The City has established three Accountability Offices: The Integrity Commissioner, Lobbyist 
Registrar, and Closed Meeting Investigator. In addition, the Ontario Ombudsman currently 
functions as Brampton’s Municipal Ombudsman. 

Allegations Implicating Identifiable Senior Positions  

Allegations implicating one or more of the identifiable senior positions will be outsourced to a 
third-party investigator. These identifiable senior positions include the CAO, Department 
Heads, City Clerk, City Solicitor, City Treasurer, Director of Human Resources or Director of 
Internal Audit. 

The objectives for handling these types of allegations are to: 

• Minimize staff involvement in investigations that involve Senior Leadership; and, 

• Retain a third-party investigator as quickly as possible after receiving an allegation 

through the Ethics Hotline. The only exception is the Director of Internal Audit, where an 
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allegation implicating the Director of Internal Audit will be forwarded to the CAO for 

review. 

 

The role of the Director of Internal Audit in an investigation is restricted to administering the 

third-party investigator contract and coordinating activities where necessary. Accordingly, the 

Director will not participate in nor influence the investigation.   

 

On matters to be presented to the City Council, the Director of Internal Audit will communicate 

through the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Audit Committee and coordinate with the third-party 

investigator. 

 

All Other Allegations  

Internal Audit will manage all other allegations and the related investigations that do not 
implicate members of the City Council nor identifiable senior positions. The investigations will 
be handled based on the scope of the implications: 

• Internal Audit will investigate those allegations that Internal Audit deems to have 
corporate-wide implications.  

• Allegations that do not have a corporate implication may be delegated to management 
with a request to report back on the disposition of the allegations.  

 

Process Description 

Workflow Diagram 

A diagram of the process flow for handling each category of allegations is located on the last 
page of this document. The workflow follows the basic framework already in place for 
investigating cases of alleged fraud. Key process points are numbered to facilitate discussion. 

Managing the Case Management System 

The ClearView Case Management System (CMS) notifies the Internal Audit Director (and 
designated Internal Audit staff) of new reports received by the Ethics Hotline. Internal Audit 
may create reports in the CMS when a case is reported directly to them or may direct City staff 
to create a report. Internal Audit handles all further updates and the closing of CMS cases. 
Internal Audit will provide an update to the Audit Committee on reports received and their 
status.  

Reporting of Allegations Delegated to Management for Investigation   

Internal Audit, when delegating the investigation of the allegations to management, will request 
a report back on the disposition of the allegations and the rationale behind the disposition 
within a certain time frame. Once management submits the results of the investigation to 
Internal Audit, Internal Audit will review the disposition and the rationale behind the disposition 
and close the allegations. Internal Audit may ask clarification questions or advise further 
investigative steps to be taken before closing the allegations.  
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Roster 

Internal Audit is in the process of establishing a roster of prequalified firms specializing in 
investigations. Firms on the roster can be engaged more quickly to perform the assessment or 
investigation of allegations. 
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Report 
Staff Report 

The Corporation of the City of Brampton  
                                    6/12/2023 
 

 
Date:   2023-05-31 
 
Subject:  Internal Audit Work Plan Status Update    
  
Contact:  Claire Mu, Director, Internal Audit, 905-874-2215, 

fang.mu@brampton.ca 
 
Report Number: CAO's Office-2023-501 
 
Recommendations: 
1. That the report titled: Internal Audit Work Plan Status Update to the Audit 

Committee Meeting of June 12, 2023, be received. 
 

Overview: 

 To provide an update regarding the Internal Audit Work Plan and progress against 

the plan, as set out in Appendix 1. 

 The 2023 Internal Audit Work Plan is at risk and unlikely to be completed. 

o Staff retention and attraction remain an issue. 

o Internal Audit currently has two vacant audit positions and one seconded 

role, with the secondment ending in July. Recruitment is ongoing for the two 

audit positions. 

o 25% of the plan is on hold until new auditors can be onboarded. 

o Internal Audit and Human Resources re-evaluated Internal Audit positions 

to offer candidates more competitive compensation.  

o Internal Audit aims to fill all positions by Q3/4 this year.  

 A Senior Advisor, Audit Communications role was added to Internal Audit in the 

2023 budget, and recruitment is underway. 

 
Background: 
 
The Director of Internal Audit is required to report periodically to the Audit Committee 

regarding the Internal Audit Work Plan (‘Work Plan’) and progress against the plan. The 

Work Plan may be adjusted based on any information, issues, or concerns that have 
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been identified. The Director is also responsible for communicating the impact of 

resource limitations on the Work Plan, adjustments, and significant changes to the Work 

Plan. The current 2023 Internal Audit Work Plan was presented at the February 21, 

2023, meeting of the Audit Committee. 

 
Current Situation: 
 
2023 Internal Audit Work Plan  
 
It is unlikely that Internal Audit will complete the 2023 Work Plan due to staff departures 
and a lack of qualified auditors applying for the vacant positions. The primary reason 
cited by applicants that turn down job offers and departing employees is better wages 
and growth opportunities elsewhere. 
 
Internal Audit and Human Resources worked on re-evaluating the audit positions and 
wage bands, and the City is now in a better position to offer candidates competitive 
compensation. This work has taken several months to complete and is significant in 
stabilizing the workforce for Internal Audit. We aim to fill all vacancies in Q3/Q4 of this 
year. 

Appendix 1 sets out the status of the 2023 Audit Work Plan. Two of the eight 
planned audits are on hold and may be deferred to 2024, pending hiring recruitment 
results. Our next Audit Committee work plan update will provide a clearer picture. 
One audit is complete, and four are underway and scheduled to be presented at the 
September and December meetings of the Audit Committee.  

Planned Policy Work – Completed 

 We worked with the CAO’s Office, City Clerk, and Legal Service to clarify the 

Corporate Fraud Governance Framework.  

 We worked with the City Clerk and the Legal Services staff on joining the 

Audit Committee Terms of Reference and Internal Audit Charter for 

presentation to the Audit Committee for approval and enactment in a By-law. 

Other Planned Work – Impacted by the Staffing Constraints 

 We will continue to monitor the Ethics Hotline and provide advice on the 

investigations on a best-effort basis to focus on the audit work plan.  

 We continue to work towards IIA compliance.  

 The automation of the Management Action Plan follow-up processes is on 

hold pending staff availability. 

 

Page 86 of 196



Corporate Implications: 
 
Financial Implications:  

N/A 

Other Implications:  

N/A 

  
Term of Council Priorities: 
 
This report achieves the Term of Council Priority of ‘Brampton is a well-run city’ by 

establishing a risk-based audit Work-Plan which promotes corporate accountability, 

values, and governance best practices.  

 
Conclusion: 
 
The Internal Audit Work Plan will be reviewed regularly and updated when needed. 

Internal Audit intends to keep the Work Plan agile and flexible, ensuring that identified 

and emerging risks are appropriately addressed. The Plan is designed to add value to 

the organization and provide the highest standard of professional, independent, and 

timely solutions in partnership with City departments. 

 
 
 
 
Authored by:      Reviewed and approved by:  
________________________    ________________________ 
Richard Gervais, Senior Advisor     Claire Mu, Director 
Internal Audit        Internal Audit    
   

     
    

Attachments: 
Appendix 1: 2023 Internal Audit Work Plan 
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Appendix 2: Internal Audit Work-Plan 2023 
  
The following activities can be found in this appendix: 

• The Status of planned 2023 audit engagements; and, 

• Other audit projects on the horizon that can be used as replacement projects for 
the 2023 audit engagements or projects to be taken on if resources are available 

 

Planned 2023 Audit Engagements 

Engagements Scope of work Plan Status 

Data Privacy and 
Security 

Assess the effectiveness of IT management 
controls that ensure the privacy, confidentiality, and 
integrity of data in keeping with City policies and 
external requirements. This audit scope would 
include data-at-rest and data-in-transit managed by 
the City and key vendors. 

In Progress  

Q4 Audit 
Committee 

Cyber Risk Audit To provide an independent assessment of whether 
the City of Brampton’s Information Technology (IT) 
systems and assets are adequately protected from 
external and internal cyber threats. The 
engagement will focus on testing cyber security 
controls to ensure their functionality and 
effectiveness. 

In Progress  

Q4 Audit 
Committee 

Bovaird Barn To audit matters related to the acquisition and 
relocation of a historic agricultural building, the 
Robinson barn, from Caledon to the Historic 
Bovaird House site in Brampton. This was added to 
the Internal Audit Work Plan through Committee of 
Council resolution CW420-2022. 

In progress 
 
Q3 Audit 
Committee 

Asset 
Management – 
Public Works  

This audit will review of processes in place to 
procure, store, monitor, dispose and safeguard 
small movable machinery, equipment, tools used in 
City operations. 

On Hold 
 
Pending 
hiring 
process 
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Engagements Scope of work Plan Status 

By-Law 
Enforcement – 
Non-Parking 

This audit will review the processes and practices 
related to by-law enforcement activities. Audit staff 
will focus on specific by-laws and related 
enforcement activities.  

On Hold 
 
Pending 
hiring 
process 

Development 
Fees and 
Charges 

The audit will review the adequacy of controls 
around the development fee process and ensure 
fees collected are complete, accurate and timely. It 
will also assess compliance with relevant By-laws, 
policies and legislation including the Development 
Charges Act (1997). 

Complete 
 
Q2 Audit 
Committee 

Business and 
Property Tax 

The audit will review property tax processes, 
compliance with applicable policies, procedures, 
and the internal control framework to verify the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the property tax 
billing, collection, and refund process. 

In progress 
 
Q4 Audit 
Committee 
  
 

Fleet 
Maintenance 
(Non-Transit) 

The audit will review controls in place around fleet 
maintenance operations, including preventative 
maintenance, inspections and repairs. It will aim to 
determine the efficiency and effectiveness of 
current vehicle maintenance practices. 

Q4 Audit 
Committee 

Audits on the Horizon  

These are potential replacement projects in 2023 or projects to be taken on if 
additional resources are available. 
 

Engagements Scope of work 

PCard Purchases 

 

The audit will assess the adequacy of controls over purchases 
made with P-Cards. It includes an assessment of the P-Card 
policies and procedures as well as determining the extent of 
compliance through transactional analytics and testing.   

Fleet Asset 
Management 

The audit will review controls in place around vehicle 
acquisitions, disposals, utilization, and replacements. It will 
also include a review of rental vehicles and compliance with 
relevant by-laws, policies and procedures. 
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Report 
Staff Report 

The Corporation of the City of Brampton  
                                    6/12/2023 
 

Date:   2023-06-02 
 
Subject:  Status of Management Action Plans- Q1 2023 
  
Contact: Claire Mu, Director, Internal Audit, 905-874-2215, 

fang.mu@brampton.ca  
 
Report Number: CAO's Office-2023-514 
 
 
Recommendations: 

That the report titled: Status of Management Actions Plans- Q1 2023, to the Audit 
Committee Meeting of June 12, 2023, be received. 

 

Overview:  
 

 City departments are required to provide Internal Audit with an update on the 
current status and progress of all outstanding audit recommendations; 

 

 The objective of this report is for Internal Audit to inform Audit Committee 
members on the progress of the implementation of audit recommendations, 
as reported by management; 

 

 The information provided reflects the status management action plans on or 
before March 31, 2023;  

 

 As of March 31, 2023, there were 122 open recommendations, 71 were due 
according to the original management action plans, 44 were outstanding, 27 
action plans were completed, and 51 were not yet due;  
 

 Six audit reports were added to the map register in Q1 2023, adding 83 new 
recommendations; and, 
 

 Appendix 1 contains a summary report of the status of action plans. The 

Management Action Plan status details are set out in Appendix 2. 
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Background: 
 
Per the requirements of Standard 2500.A1 of the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, Internal Audit has established a follow-up 
process to monitor and ensure that management has successfully implemented their 
management action plans.  
 
Departments are required to provide a quarterly update to Internal Audit on the progress 
of implementing agreed-upon recommendations. Internal Audit reviews the comments 
submitted by the department and, where necessary, will meet with management to 
discuss the respective progress and comments.   
 
Upon complete implementation of the recommendations by management, Internal Audit 
will assess whether a follow-up audit is necessary to validate the operating 
effectiveness of the implemented processes and procedures. Where necessary, such 
follow-up audits are included in Internal Audit’s annual work plan and approved by the 
Audit Committee.   
 
This report summarizes the status of all recommendations implemented by 
management on or before March 31, 2023.   
 
Current Situation: 
 
By March 31, 2023, there were 122 open recommendations, 71 were due according to 
the original management action plans, 44 were outstanding, 27 action plans were 
completed, and 51 were not yet due.  
 
Recommendations and Management Action Plan statistics at a glance.  
 

Status of Recommendations Q1 

Total open recommendations 122 

Due 71 

Completed 27 

Outstanding  44 

Not yet due 51 

 
In this quarter, we added the recommendations from the Claim Management, Limited 
Tendering, Health and Safety, Parks Maintenance, User Fee, and IT Infrastructure and 
Cloud Mgmt audits to the register. 
 
Please refer to Appendix 1 for the details of the recommendations as of Q1 2023. For 
additional information on the outstanding recommendations (outstanding and not yet 
due), please refer to Appendix 2.  
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We have not verified the implementation status of completed management action plans 
due to resource constraints. We will be requesting additional resources in 2024 to address 
this unmet mandate. 
 
Corporate Implications: 
 
Financial Implications: 
N/A 
 
Other Implications: 
N/A 
 
Term of Council Priorities 
 
This report achieves the Term of Council Priority of ‘Brampton is a well-run city’ through 
establishing an internal audit follow-up procedure for implementing audit 
recommendations, which promotes Corporate accountability, values, and governance 
best practices. 
 
Conclusion 

Internal Audit is committed to continued collaboration with management in regularly 
reviewing, improving, and updating policies and procedures and enhancing efficiency and 
process effectiveness. 
 
Internal Audit encourages management and staff to continue striving to meet the target 
completion dates of the Management Action Plans. 
 
 
 
 
Authored by:     Reviewed and approved by:  
________________________   ________________________ 
Richard Gervais, Sr Advisor   Claire Mu, Director 
Internal Audit      Internal Audit     
  

     
  
 
Attachments:  
 
Appendix 1: Management Action Plans as of March 31, 2023 
Appendix 2: Management Action Plan Status Details as of March 31, 2023 
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Appendix 1 Management Action Plans as of March 31, 2023 

 As of March 31, 2023 

Audit Report Rating Year 
Recs 

Open Q1 
2023 

Recs 
Due Q1 

2023 
Completed Outstanding Not Yet Due 

HR Recruitment Follow-Up  2019 2 2  2  
HR Benefits (Phase 1)  2019 2 2  2  
Transit Operations  2020 2 2  2  
Cyber Security Assessment  N/A 2020 2 2  2  
Executive Expenses  2021 1 1  1  
Corporate Governance  2021 10 10  10  
Emergency Expenses  2021 2 2  2  
Vendor Performance Management  2021 2 2  2  
Realty Services – Gap Analysis N/A 2021 16 6  6 10 
Claim Management1  2022 13 12 8 4 1 
Health and Safety1  2022 12 5 5  7 
Limited Tendering1  2022 7 4 1 3 3 
Parks Maintenance1  2022 7 0   7 
User Fee1 N/A 2022 7 0   7 
IT Infrastructure and Cloud Mgmt1  2022 37 21 13 8 16 
    TOTAL 122 71 27 44 51 

1 Added in Q1 2023 
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APPENDIX 2- Management Action Plan Status Details as of March 31, 2023 

Please note that: 

• Management Action Plans marked as completed in this report will be omitted 
from future reports. 

• This table excludes Management Action Plans that are not yet due. 
• Dates under the “Updated Target Completion Date” column were provided by the 

client. 

Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

HR Recruitment- 2019 
1.4 Policies & Procedures 
Require Review and 
Update 

Q1 2020 Q2 2023 Oustanding 
Mandatory Training: E-Learning 
Recruitment and Inclusive 
Learning Series rolled out to 
hiring managers in January 
2023. In-person training being 
sourced through Talent and 
Organizational Development. 
Policy updated and reviewed 
with Commissioner, CSS  and 
submitted to CLT on April 27, 
2023, for approval. Once 
approved, will be submitted to 
Council for approval. Related 
SOP will be approved by 
Director, HR after Council has 
approved the policy. 

HR Recruitment- 2019 
1.7 Policies & Procedures 
Require Review and 
Update 

Q3 2020 Q2 2023 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

HR Benefits (Phase 1)- 
2019 
3.1 Validation of 
Practitioners for Short 
Term Disability (STD)  
Update the Short Term 
Disability Policy and 
related Standard 
Operating Procedures 
(SOP) 

Q4 2019 Q4 2023 Oustanding: Work is underway 
to update the STD Policy and 
related SOP by the end of Q3, 
2023. 

HR Benefits (Phase 1)- 
2019 
3.2 Validation of 
Practitioners for Short 
Term Disability (STD)  
Implement a process to 
validate that the individual 
authorizing the Short 
Term Disability is a 
licensed medical 
practitioner as determined 
by the Short Term 
Disability policy.  

Q4 2019 Q4 2023 Oustanding: The start of this 
work is dependent on the 
completion of recommendation 
3.1. 

Transit Operations- 
2020 
2. Scrap Sales & Potential 
Exposure 

Q1 2022 Q3 2023 Outstanding: Current citywide 
contract on scrap is up for re-
tendering. 
Completing specifications 
required additional time, RFP 
issuance is planned for Q3 
2023.                                           

Transit Operations- 
2020 
15. Attendance cards 
Mechanics and Stock 
Keepers 

Q4 2022 Q4 2023 Outstanding: New requirements 
and Corporate priorities 
impacted Transit’s project 
timelines, Project Team will 
provide new timelines as soon 
as some important milestones 
are achieved. 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Cyber Security- 2020 
6. Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

Q4 2021 Q4 2023 Outstanding: Activity on hold 
due to resource constraints. 
Resources assigned to new 
emerging threats. 

Cyber Security- 2020 
11. Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

Q4 2021 Q4 2023 Outstanding: Work being 
undertaken to get cost and effort 
estimates and identify a suitable 
solution to pursue. 

Executive Expenses- 
2021 
Support for converted 
amount of out of country 
expenses not always 
included 

Q4 2021 Q3 2023 Outstanding: Administrative 
Directive for Employee Business 
Expenses (FIN-160) has been 
reviewed and updated by 
Finance as well as reviewed by 
Corporate Policy Team. As per 
the recommendation from 
Corporate Policy Team. This 
amendment will be included in 
comprehensive Corporate report 
to Council along with all the 
other City policy amendments 
and additions. Corporate Policy 
team indicated that report will be 
going to Council in the fall of 
2023. 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
1.1 Implement an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) 
Program 

Q1 2022 Q2 2023 Outstanding: 
Intereviews for new recruit 

completed. Offer going 
out shortly. New recruit 
expected to be in place 
before end of Q2, as per 
target completion date.  

 
 
 
 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
1.2 Implement an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) 
Program 

Q2 2022 Q4 2023 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
1.3 Implement an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) 
Program 

Q4 2022 Q4 2023  

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
1.4 Implement an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) 
Program 

Q4 2022 Q4 2023 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
1.5 Implement an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) 
Program 

Q4 2022 Q4 2023 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
1.6 Implement an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) 
Program 

Q4 2022 Q4 2023 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
4. Exercise of Delegation 
of Powers and Authorities 

Q3 2021 Q4 2023 Outstanding: Review of 
Administrative Authority By-law 
and related policy update to 
start in Q2 2023 for completion 
by Q4 2023. 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
5.2 Council Code of 
Conduct for Council 
acknowledgement and 
review 

Q1 2022 Q3 2023 Outstanding: Code 
Acknowledgement form 
received from some Members. 
New Code updates to be 
coordinated through new 
Integrity Commissioner. 
Anticipate draft Code of 
Conduct for Council by Q3 
2023. 

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
6. Lack of Code of 
Conduct coverage for 
Citizen Appointees  

Q1 2022 Q3 2023 Outstanding: Work to be 
coordinated through new 
Integrity Commissioner. 
Anticipate draft Code for Citizen 
Committees by Q3 2023.  

Corporate Governance- 
2021 
7. Lack of common Policy 
to address complaints 

Q4 2021 Q4 2022 Outstanding: The policy is 
awaiting final approval from the 
main stakeholders. 

Emergency Expenses- 
2021 
1.1 Invoice Approval 
Process Needs to be 
Strengthened 

Q4 2021 Q4 2023 Outstanding: Automation 
Software went live in November 
2022 and is being deployed in 
stages. The remaining 
departments will go live by Q4 
2023. 

Emergency Expenses- 
2021 
1.2 Invoice Approval 
Process Needs to be 
Strengthened 

Q3 2022 Q4 2023 Outstanding: Automation 
Software went live in November 
2022 and is being deployed in 
stages. The remaining 
departments will go live by Q4 
2023. 

Vendor Performance 
Management- 2021 
1a Vendor Performance 
Evaluation Effectiveness 

Q1 2022 Q4 2022 Outstanding: Changes to the 
SOP were requested. Upon 
receipt of the input, the SOP 
and training material will be 
finalized. 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Vendor Performance 
Management- 2021 
2.2 Oversight and 
Utilization of Vendor 
Performance Data 

Q4 2022 Q3 2023 Outstanding: Currently 
benchmarking with other public 
agencies utilizing the Vendor 
Performance module and 
engaging with the vendor to 
map current process vs system 
capability. 

Realty Services - 2022 
1. Vacant Positions and 
High Turnover 

Q4 2022 Q3 2023 Outstanding: One position 
remaining to fill. 

Realty Services - 2022 
4. Transitional building 
report to Council 

Q4 2022 Q2 2023 Outstanding: Work in progress. 
Report targeted for June 2023. 

Realty Services - 2022 
6.1 Maintaining proof of 
Insurance from Tenants 

Q2 2022 Q2 2023 Outstanding: 

Realty Services - 2022 
6.2 Maintaining proof of 
Insurance from Tenants 

Q2 2022 Q4 2023 Outstanding: 

Realty Services - 2022 
9. Agreements with third-
party vendors 

Q1 2023 Q3 2023 
 

Outstanding: RFP will be posted in 
June 

Realty Services - 2022 
12. Charging User Fees 

Q1 2023 - Outstanding: 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Claims Management - 
2022 
1.1 – 1.3 Certificates of 
Insurance are not properly 
recorded and tracked to 
ensure the vendor has 
adequate insurance 
coverage to protect the 
City  

Q1 2023 Q2 2023 Outstanding: Over 2000 
contracts on the Bids & Tenders 
system were reviewed, and 
numerous Certificate of 
Insurance corrections were 
made; but this was just 
completed in March. COI SOP 
has been drafted and shared 
with Purchasing. Purchasing 
requires a follow-up meeting. 
We should have SOP 
completed and underway by the 
end of Q2. 

Claims Management - 
2022 
2.1 Risk evaluations not 
completed in the last few 
years  

Q1 2023 Completed 2 Stated inspections have been 
completed, and arrangements 
are underway for further 
inspections on an ongoing basis 

Claims Management - 
2022 
2.2 Risk evaluations not 
completed in the last few 
years  

Q1 2023 Completed Inspection reports have been 
sent to relevant stakeholders for 
actioning 

Claims Management - 
2022 
4.1 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs not 
available for prior years) 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed in Q1 

Claims Management - 
2022 
4.2 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs not 
available for prior years) 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed in Q1 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Claims Management - 
2022 
4.3 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs not 
available for prior years) 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed in Q1 

Claims Management - 
2022 
4.4 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs not 
available for prior years) 

Q1 2023 Q2 2023 Outstanding: Annual reports to 
be completed in Q2, and the 
KPI figures will be included in 
the 2022 report 

Claims Management - 
2022 
5 Trust fund expenditure 
details submitted by the 
external adjuster as part 
of the trust fund 
reconciliation are not 
verified by staff for 
accuracy and supporting 
evidence 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed: Trust fund review 
SOP was completed in Q1 and 
first trust fund reviews will be 
taking place twice annually. 

Claims Management - 
2022 
6.1 There is no formal 
quality assurance review 
process to ensure the 
accuracy and 
completeness of claims 
files 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed Q1 2023 

Claims Management - 
2022 
6.2 There is no formal 
quality assurance review 
process to ensure the 
accuracy and 
completeness of claims 
files 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed Q1 2023 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

Health and Safety 
1.2 Monthly Joint Health 
and Safety Committee 
inspections are not 
always complete 

Q1 2023 Completed Completed: In Q1 2023, 
completed via email to those 
JHSCs requesting workplace 
inspection schedule be 
completed where it was shown 
that JHSC members had not 
scheduled 

Health and Safety 
3.0 Required Health & 
Safety Training is not 
always complete 

Q2 2023 Completed Completed: All the actions were 
completed as outlined on 
February 22, 2023 .  Essential 
Learning information was 
compiled by active employee 
including reporting relationships. 
This information was shared 
with Department Heads for 
action and follow up. The due 
dates for all the essential 
learning courses were updated. 
The email communication 
included links to job aids to 
support.  A sample email sent to 
a Department Head is included 
as reference.  

Health and Safety 
6.0 Incident data is not 
always entered into 
Parklane in a timely 
manner. 

Q4 2023 Completed Completed: The process review 
for entering SREA information 
into the Parklane system was 
completed by March 1, 2023. 
The review included the incident 
reporting process, as well as a 
refresher for staff on how to 
enter data into the system. This 
ensures that staff are aware of 
and understand the 
requirements of the process. 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
1.0 Presented in camera  

2023/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
4.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/12/31 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
4.2 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/12/31 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
4.3 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/12/31 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
4.4 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/12/31 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
4.5 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/12/31 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
5.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2023/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
5.2 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2023/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
5.3 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2023/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
5.4 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2023/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
5.5 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2023/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
7.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

Completed 
during the 
Audit 

Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
7.2 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
8.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

Completed 
during the 
Audit 

Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
8.2 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/08/30 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
8.3 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/08/30 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 
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Audit and Finding/Issue 
Original 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Updated 
Target 

Completion 
Date 

Status as of Q1 2023 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
8.4 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

Completed 
during the 
Audit 

Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
9.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
9.2 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 Completed Completed 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
10.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 - Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 

IT Cloud Infrastructure 
and Cloud Management 
- 2022 
11.1 Presented in camera  
Details available upon 
request 

2022/12/31 2023/12/31 Outstanding 
 
Presented in camera. Details 
available upon request 
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Report 
Staff Report 

The Corporation of the City of Brampton  
                                    6/12/2023 
 

Date:   2023-05-31 
 
Subject:  Corporate Ethics Hotline Quarterly Report 
  
Contact: Claire Mu, Director, Internal Audit, 905-874-2215, 

fang.mu@brampton.ca  
 
Report Number: CAO's Office-2023-499 
 
 
Recommendations: 
That the report titled: Corporate Ethics Hotline Quarterly Report to the Audit 
Committee meeting of June 12, 2023, be received. 
 
 
 
 

Overview: 
 

 The Fraud Hotline was renamed the "Ethics Hotline" in 2023 to accurately 
reflect the mix of allegations coming through the Hotline. 

 

 Three new cases were reported between January 1, 2023, and May 31, 2023  
 

 Two cases are closed, and one is pending. 
 

 
 
Background: 
 
As part of the City of Brampton's ("the City") commitment to protecting its assets, a 
Fraud Framework to prevent, detect, and report fraud incidents and investigate any 
suspected acts of fraud was established. On July 4, 2016, the City launched the 
Corporate Fraud Prevention Hotline ("Fraud Hotline"), which allows City employees to 
report alleged incidents of fraud.  
 
The Fraud Hotline was renamed the "Ethics Hotline" in 2023 to better reflect the mix of 
allegations coming through the Hotline: violations of ethics and the Code of Conduct, 
waste, and fraud. 
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The City provided resources, at about $16,000 a year, to contract out the intake 
services to a third party. The Ethics Hotline intake service enables employees to report 
incidents of suspected violations of ethics and the Code of Conduct, waste, and fraud 
anonymously and confidentially, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Employees can 
submit a report through a secure third-party website or the telephone through a third-
party dedicated toll-free number. Internal Audit staff reports on Ethics Hotline activities 
quarterly to the Audit Committee. 
 
 
Current Situation: 
 
The Internal Audit Ethics Hotline status report to the Audit Committee includes statistics 

on the number and types of reports received. The nature of these reports is sensitive. 

Therefore, we have omitted information that could identify individuals from this report to 

protect the named individuals' privacy and maintain the reporters' anonymity.  

The Ethics Hotline received three new reports between January 1 and May 31, 2023.  

Case No Status Substantiated? Details 

8311576 Closed No An allegation of a conflict of interest involving 

an employee conducting personal business 

on City time and using City information to 

benefit their business. Delegated to 

management to investigate. 

4137936 Closed No An allegation of unethical conduct involving a 

City staff bypassing protocol for major 

contract changes on several capital 

construction projects resulting in 

overpayments to third parties. Delegated to 

management to investigate. Internal Audit 

closed this case to a future audit of capital 

construction projects focusing on the change 

order approval process.  

1168877 Open TBD Two allegations of unethical conduct and 

conflict of interest involving two City of 

Brampton employees who may be working for 

other employers during the City's work hours. 

We are waiting for the division to report back 

on the result of their investigations. 
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Corporate Implications: 
 
Financial Implications: 

There is no financial implication associated with this report.  

 
Other Implications: 

There is no other implication associated with this report. 
 
Term of Council Priorities: 
 
This report fulfills the Council Priority of 'Brampton is a well-run city" through the support 
of the Corporate Fraud Prevention Policy and Fraud Hotline, which promotes Corporate 
accountability, our Corporate values, and governance best practices. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
The Ethics Hotline enhances and strengthens the City's governance structure. It 
reinforces the Council's expectations regarding rules of behaviour and emphasizes the 
values of the City. Internal Audit will update the Audit Committee on complaints received 
through the Ethics Hotline or referred to Internal Audit and any related ongoing and 
completed investigations.                            
 
 
Authored by:     
 
 

 Reviewed by:      

Richard Gervais  Claire Mu 

Senior Advisor, Internal Audit 
 

 Director, Internal Audit 
  

   
 
Attachments: 
 
n/a 
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Report 
Staff Report 

Audit Committee 
The Corporation of the City of Brampton  

                                    6/12/2023 
 

 
Date:   2023-05-29    
 
Subject:  2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the City of 

Brampton    
 
Contact:  Nash Damer, Treasurer, Finance 
 
Report Number: Corporate Support Services-2023-485       
 
Recommendations: 
 
1. That, the report titled 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the 

City of Brampton, to the Audit Committee Meeting of June 12, 2023, be received; 

and 

 

2. That, the 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the City of 

Brampton, be approved 

 

Overview: 
 

 The 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements from the City 

Auditor KPMGLLP Chartered Accountants are being presented to the Audit 

Committee for approval.  

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) reporting standards and 

fully comply with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). 

 These consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position as 

at December 31, 2022 and the operating results for the year for the City, 

its Local Boards and Committees of Council including The Brampton 

Public Library Board and the Downtown Brampton Business 

Improvement Area. 
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 The financial reporting standards do not change the City’s budgeting 

process, how the tax levy is calculated or how funding decisions are 

made by Council.   

 A reconciliation of the operating results for tax levy purposes and PSAB 

adjusted consolidated financial statements is provided in Schedule A of 

this report. 

 As part of the annual audit, the City Auditor, KPMGLLP Chartered 

Accountants, conducted a review of Internal Controls and provides an 

Audit Findings Report to the Audit Committee. 

 KPMGLLP did not identify any process improvement areas or control 

deficiencies. 

 KPMGLLP did not identify any corrected or uncorrected misstatements. 
 

 During the year, management initiated process improvement initiative to 
review obligatory reserve fund transfers to projects resulting in a 
restatement of obligatory reserve fund balances.  
 

 
Background: 
 
The audit of the 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements by the City Auditor, KPMGLLP 

Chartered Accountants is complete and the statements are attached to this report 

(Appendix A – The Corporation of the City of Brampton; Appendix B – Trust Funds). The 

work KPMGLLP performed is conducted in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted 

Auditing Standards (GAAP) and relevant ethical requirements, including those pertaining 

to independence.  The work is also planned and performed to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

The 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the City of Brampton reflect the 

financial position as at December 31, 2022 and the results of operations for the year for 

the City and its Local Boards and Committees of Council.  The following Local Boards 

and Committees of Council which are included in these consolidated financial statements 

are accountable for the administration of their financial affairs and resources to the City 

and are owned or controlled by the City: 
 

 The Brampton Public Library Board 

 Downtown Brampton Business Improvement Area (DBBIA) 
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The consolidated financial statements for the 2022 fiscal year have been prepared in 

compliance with the requirements of the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada as required by the Province of Ontario. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented to the Audit Committee for review 

and approval, which are part of the key statutory functions of the Audit Committee.  

 
Current Situation: 
 
Audit Results 
 
KPMGLLP audited the consolidated financial statements of the City for the fiscal year 2022. 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s management.  

The audit resulted in KPMGLLP issuing an unqualified audit opinion, which means that the 

consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position and comply with 

PSAB municipal financial reporting requirements.  

 
Report Summary 
 
The consolidated financial statements presented in this report comprise the following 

statements:  
 

 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

 Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 

 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and 

 Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets  

 
The consolidated financial statements provide information on the City’s financial position 

including the value of assets and liabilities, cost of delivering the City’s municipal services 

and investment in capital projects, financing sources and investing activities.    

 

The City of Brampton’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with Canadian public sector accounting standards established by the PSAB of the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.   

 

There have been no new standards issued by PSAB for fiscal year ending December 31, 

2022. 

 

PSAB requires full accrual basis of accounting and financial reporting.  This provides for 

inclusion of certain items such as amortization of tangible capital assets and tangible 

capital assets contributed to the City through the subdivision assumption process.  
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The City uses a full accrual basis (PSAB) budgeting methodology. This methodology does 

not change how the tax levy is calculated, or how funding decisions are made by City 

Council.  The 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements reflects full accrual budget 

figures for comparison purposes.  

 

Appendix C shows the 2022 fiscal year tax-based operating results versus that of the 

PSAB based financial reporting.  

 
Highlights of 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements: 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (balance sheet) has two key 

components that make up accumulated surplus: net financial assets and non-financial 

assets (tangible capital assets, inventory and prepaid expenses).   
 

 “Net Financial Assets” is the net of assets (cash, investments, receivables and 

other assets) minus liabilities (accounts payable, capital lease obligation, deferred 

revenues and employee benefits and other liabilities) generated from the City’s 

operations, activities of capital projects and Reserves and Reserve Funds.  This 

value serves as a key indicator of the City’s ability to manage its cash resources 

to meet its financial obligations. The City’s 2022 net financial assets had a balance 

of $300 million (2021 - $302 million), a decrease of $2 million from 2021.   
 

 “Non-Financial Assets” primarily consists of the City’s investment in tangible capital 

assets of $4.1 billion (2021 - $4 billion).  A slight increase in tangible capital assets 

is attributable to the combination of assets constructed by the City and brought into 

service and assets contributed to the City through the subdivision assumption 

process.  

 
The accumulated surplus (retained earnings) as at December 31, 2022 is $4.4 billion 
(2021 - $4.3 billion), an increase of $77 million.  
 
 

Key items to note: 
  

 Decrease in cash, short-term and  

o Cash and short-term investments decreased from $414 million in 2021 to 

$326 million in 2022. The decrease in balance was mainly due to higher 

cash-outflow on capital projects compared to year before as well as there 

were receipt of Safe Restart Provincial funding in 2021.  
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 Increase in long-term investment balances 

 
o The City increased the allocation to longer-term investments to improve the 

overall earnings while ensuring a prudent amount of liquidity was 

maintained to meet the cash flow requirements for operating and capital 

needs. As a result, long-term investments increased from $877 million in 

2021 to $972 million in 2022. 

   

 Increase in Taxes Receivable 

o Taxes receivable increased from $59 million in 2021 to $74 million in 2022. 

It is likely that high inflation experienced throughout 2022 caused pressure 

on homeowners’ budgets.  Also, several interest rate hikes throughout the 

year would have been burdensome to variable rate mortgage holders. 

 

 City Hall West Tower Capital Lease Obligation 

 
o In 2014, the City entered into a capital lease arrangement for City Hall West 

Tower. The lease value has been recorded in the City’s consolidated 

financial statements as a tangible capital asset (TCA) with a corresponding 

capital lease obligation with remaining balance of $79 million as at 

December 31, 2022.  
 
 

 Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds  

o Any unspent development charges (DCs), gas tax funds and other 

obligatory reserves at the end of the fiscal year are recorded as deferred 

revenue.  Deferred revenue increased by $17 million from $699 in 2021 

(restated) to $716 in 2022 caused by the timing of capital project spending 

as well as increase in obligatory reserve receipts. 

 Employee Benefits and Other Liabilities 

o Employee benefits and other liabilities increased from $107 million in 2021 

to $122 million in 2022 mainly due to increase in actuarial valuations for 

vested sick leave, WSIB liability and early retirement liability.     

 Long-term Liabilities 

o In 2019 and 2021 the City acquired long-term sinking fund debt managed 

and issued by the Region of Peel.  The City has the responsibility for the 

annual contribution towards sinking funds that would be used to extinguish 

the debt at maturity. As at December 31, 2022 unsecured debenture net of 

sinking fund deposits was $41 million (2021 - $42 million). 
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 Net Book Value of Tangible Capital Assets 

 
o An increase of $78 million due to the infrastructure assets assumed from 

developers through subdivision agreements, property acquisitions, 

purchase of transit buses, road construction activities as well as facility 

construction.   

The Net Financial Assets position continues to be in a strong, positive position, which 

signifies that the City is fully able to meet its financial obligations.  

 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus (income statement) 

presents the sources and uses of City’s operating financial resources recognized in the 

reporting period. 

 
Accumulated Surplus represents the City’s equity (equivalent to retained earnings of a 

private business). 93% of the City’s Accumulated Surplus represents the City’s 

investment (net book value) in tangible capital assets required to deliver municipal 

services.  The remainder of the Accumulated Surplus consists of funds committed for 

capital projects, reserves and reserve funds.  Most of Accumulated Surplus is therefore 

not available to be used to moderate the annual tax levy since it would require selling City 

assets that are used to deliver municipal services. 

 
The 2022 Annual Surplus was $33 million lower than in 2021.  This was primarily driven 

by cost increases resulting from resumption as well as increase in programs and services 

with the highest impact being in Transit, Recreation, Legislative Services and Fire.   

Revenues: 
 
Total revenues in 2022 were $30 million higher than 2021 increasing from $959 million to 

$989 million.  Major factors contributing to this increase include:  
 

 $42 million increase in User Charges primarily in Transit and Recreation 

divisions. Transit realized an increase in its fare payment revenue of $23.7 million 

in comparison to 2021 actuals. This is due to the return of ridership in the second 

half of the year, with December rides surpassing pre-COVID levels by over 15%. 

While Recreation revenue remains lower than pre-COVID levels, there has been 

an increase of $11.1 million in Program Registration, Lessons Swim/Skate, Ice 

and Facility rentals as well as Yearly Fitness Passes revenues over 2021 actuals 

 $39 million increase in Development Levies Earned and Other Restricted Capital 

Contributions due to higher spending on capital project portfolio 

 $10 million increase in Property Taxation  
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Revenue increases were partially offset by:  
 

 $24 million decrease in Government Transfers. This was mainly due to lower 

revenue recognized from Provincial Safe Restart Program and COVID-19 

Recovery programs 

 Lower number of subdivisions assumed from developers resulted in a $41 million 

decrease in the Developer contributed tangible capital assets  
 

Expenses: 
 

Total operating expenses in 2022 were $63 million higher than 2021, increasing from 

$849 million to $912 million.  Included in this is a $1 million increase in amortization 

(depreciation) expense representing the value of tangible capital assets that were 

consumed during the year.  The amortization expense increased due to the $236 million 

in new tangible capital assets that were added during 2022.  Amortization expenses are 

non-cash in nature, meaning that there was no outlay of cash resources related to the 

expense.   

 
Following are key items driving the operating expense variance from 2021 to 2022: 
 

 Increase in labour expenses, primarily driven by resumption and increase in 

programs and services with the highest impact being in Transit, Recreation, 

Legislative Services and Fire   

 Expense increases in the areas of fuel, utilities, demand maintenance and 

contracted services were seen throughout the City with the biggest impact in 

Transit and the Brampton Public Library 

 $15 million increase in post-employment benefits and other liabilities 

 
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
 

This statement explains the change in the City’s Accumulated Surplus during the year.  It 

is intended to provide the reader of the consolidated financial statements with detailed 

information on non-financial assets including the acquisition of tangible capital assets and 

the use of the assets through the value of amortization.  This statement also provides 

reporting of other non-financial asset items that impact the change in annual surplus and 

the change in net financial assets.   
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows reports changes in cash and cash 

equivalents.  It provides information on how the City uses its cash for operating, investing 

and financing activities.  As at December 31, 2022 the City’s cash and cash equivalents 

had a balance of $326 million (2021 - $414 million).  

 

Audit Findings Report 
 
Each year as part of the annual audit, the City Auditor, KPMGLLP Chartered Accountants, 

conducts a review of Internal Controls and provides an Audit Findings Report to the Audit 

Committee with recommendations for improvement and accompanying management 

responses.  

   

The 2022 Audit Findings Report from KPMGLLP Chartered Accountants is attached to this 

report (Appendix D).   

KPMGLLP did not identify any process improvement areas or control deficiencies. 

 

KPMGLLP did not identify any corrected or uncorrected misstatements. 

 

In 2022, the City conducted process improvement initiative to review its application of 

accounting methodology to recognize revenue on Development Charges as well as other 

obligatory reserve funds (e.g. Cash-in-lieu of parkland, Federal and Provincial Gas 

Taxes).  Ultimate result of this exercise was to move away from year-end estimated PSAS 

adjustment and recognize revenue based on actual expenditures incurred. This method 

enable management to achieve higher level of accuracy as well as ease of reporting and 

consistency between internal and external reporting.  

 

As a result, the 2021 period was restated and adjusted to increase deferred revenue– 

obligatory reserve funds by $173 million, and decrease opening accumulated surplus as 

at January 1, 2021 by $173 million. This is a non-cash adjustment not affecting City’s tax 

based budget and actuals. 

 
Publication 
 

The 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements will be made public and posted on the City’s 

website. 

 
Corporate Implications: 
 
There are no corporate implications resulting from this report. 
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Term of Council Priorities: 
 
This report fulfils the Council Priority of a Well-Run City through strict adherence to 

effective financial management policies and supports Brampton’s 2040 Vision by 

ensuring sustainable financial operations. 

 
Conclusion: 
 
KPMGLLP audited the consolidated financial statements of the City for the fiscal year 2022. 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s management.  

The audit resulted in KPMGLLP issuing an unqualified audit opinion, which means that the 

consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position and comply with 

PSAB municipal financial reporting requirements. 
 

KPMGLLP Chartered Accountants also conducted a review of Internal Controls and 
provides an Audit Findings Report to the Audit Committee with recommendations for 
improvement.   

 
 
Authored by:     
 
 

 Reviewed by:      

   

Maja Kuzmanov, Senior Manager, 
Accounting Services/Deputy 
Treasurer 
 

 Nash Damer, Treasurer, Finance 
  

   
Approved by:      
 
 

 Submitted by:    

   

Alex Milojevic, Commissioner, 
Corporate Support Services  

 Marlon Kallideen,  
Chief Administrative Officer  

 
Attachments: 
 

 Appendix A - 2022 Audited Financial Statements – The Corporation of the City of 

Brampton  

 Appendix B - 2022 Audited Financial Statements – Trust Funds  

 Appendix C - 2022 Municipal Surplus Reconciliations, Tax Levy Purpose vs Financial 

Statements 

 Appendix D - Audit Findings Report (for the year ended December 31, 2022) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of  
The Corporation of the City of Brampton 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the 
City of Brampton (the Entity), which comprise: 

" the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 

" the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year 
then ended 

" the consolidated statement of change in net financial assets for the year then 
ended 

" the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

" and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022, 
and its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated change in net financial 
assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditor's report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. 

We also: 

" Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

" Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal 
control. 
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" Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

" Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.  However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

" Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

" Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 

" Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on 
the financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

DRAFT
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Vaughan, Canada 

_________________ 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022 2021 
 (Restated - 
 note 3) 

Financial Assets 

Cash and short-term investments (note 4) $ 326,384 $ 414,431 
Taxes receivable 74,243 58,538 
User charges receivable 3,814 3,175 
Accounts receivable 49,657 47,542 
Long-term investments (note 4) 971,530 876,553 
Other assets (note 5) 8,255 8,242 
  1,433,883 1,408,481 

Financial Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 145,553 141,295 
Capital lease obligation (note 6) 78,702 80,991 
Deferred revenue - general (note 8(a)) 30,553 35,273 
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (note 8(b)) 715,746 698,669 
Employee benefits and other liabilities (note 9) 122,285 107,498 
Long-term liabilities (note 7) 40,943 42,288 
  1,133,782 1,106,014 

Net financial assets 300,101 302,467 

Non-Financial Assets 

Tangible capital assets (note 15) 4,109,507 4,031,167 
Inventory and prepaids 12,726 11,673 
  4,122,233 4,042,840 

Guarantee (note 5) 
Commitments and contingencies (note 16) 
Contractual rights (note 19) 
Subsequent event (note 21) 

Accumulated surplus (note 11) $ 4,422,334 $ 4,345,307 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

  Budget 
  2022 2022 2021 
  (notes 1(q)  (Restated - 
  and 17)  note 3) 

Revenue: 
Property taxation $ 507,336 $ 503,328 $ 493,126 
Taxation from other governments 3,910 4,035 3,967 
User charges 188,343 173,493 131,095 
Government transfers (note 20) 1,598 13,848 37,570 
Development levies earned and 

other restricted capital 
contributions (note 8) 91,300 149,353 110,800 

Investment income 18,984 4,301 3,614 
Interest earned on reserves 14,897 12,439 11,881 
Penalties, fines and interest 33,307 33,453 32,682 
Developer contributed tangible 

capital assets (note 15(b)) 87,100 84,988 126,182 
Other 4,897 9,341 8,308 
  951,672 988,579 959,225 

Expenses (note 12): 
General government 215,287 97,321 93,910 
Protection to persons and 

property 142,899 145,030 137,514 
Transportation services 302,632 400,324 390,710 
Environmental services 13,156 32,680 27,769 
Health services (cemeteries) 667 655 685 
Social and family services 3,496 3,345 2,534 
Recreation and cultural services 172,302 195,984 164,098 
Planning and development services 32,567 36,213 31,850 
  883,006 911,552 849,070 

Annual surplus $ 68,666 77,027 110,155 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year   4,345,307 4,235,152 

Accumulated surplus, end of year   $ 4,422,334 $ 4,345,307 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

  Budget 
  2022 2022 2021 
  (notes 1(q)  (Restated -  
  and 17)  note 3) 

Annual surplus $ 53,769 $ 77,027 $ 110,155 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets – (150,613) (91,162) 
Developer contributed tangible  

capital assets (87,100) (84,988) (126,182) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 148,100  157,246 155,987 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets – 15 1,286 
Acquisition of inventory and prepaids – (17,756) (14,775) 
Use of inventory and prepaids – 16,703  21,943  

Change in net financial assets 114,769 (2,366) 57,252 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 302,467 302,467  245,215 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 417,236 $ 300,101 $ 302,467 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022 2021 
 (Restated - 
 Note 3) 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities: 
Annual surplus $ 77,027 $ 110,155 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 157,246 155,987 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 15 1,286 
Developer contributed tangible capital assets (84,988) (126,182) 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 
Taxes receivable (15,705) 18,961 
User charges receivable (639) (1,869) 
Accounts receivable and other assets (2,128) 3,170 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  4,258 2,906 
Deferred revenue - general (4,720) 22,991 
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds 17,077 88,081 
Employee benefits and other liabilities  14,787 4,872 
Inventory and prepaids (1,053) 7,168  

  161,177 287,526 

Capital activities: 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (150,613) (91,162) 

Financing activities: 
Repayment of capital lease obligation (2,289) (2,122) 
Receipt of funds through sinking fund debentures – 18,471 
Sinking fund deposits made (1,345) (737) 
  (3,634) 15,612 

Investing activities: 
Net increase in long-term investments (94,977) (108,945) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments (88,047) 103,031 

Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year 414,431  311,400 

Cash and short-term investments, end of year $ 326,384 $ 414,431  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Page 126 of 196



5 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

The Corporation of the City of Brampton (the "City") is a municipality in the Province of Ontario, 

Canada.  It conducts its operations guided by the provisions of provincial statutes such as the 

Municipal Act, 2001, Municipal Affairs Act, Development Charges Act and related legislation. 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the City are prepared by management in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles for local governments as recommended by the 

Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada ("CPA 

Canada").  Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by the City are as follows: 

(a) Reporting entity: 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and 

accumulated surplus of the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprising of all 

organizations, committees and local boards accountable for the administration of their 

financial affairs and resources to the City and which are owned or controlled by the City.  

These consolidated financial statements include: 

" Brampton Public Library Board (the "Library"); and 

" Downtown Brampton Business Improvement Area. 

Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these 

organizations are eliminated. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

6 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Non-consolidated entities: 

The following regional municipality and local boards are not consolidated and should be 

contacted directly if examination of their annual audited financial statements is desired: 

" The Regional Municipality of Peel ("Region of Peel"); 

" The Peel District School Board; 

" The Dufferin-Peel Catholic District School Board; 

" Conseil Scolaire de District du Centre-Sud Ouest; and 

" Conseil Scolaire de District Catholique Centre-Sud. 

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the City are not included in these 

consolidated financial statements but are reported separately on the trust funds' financial 

statements. 

(c) Accounting for region and school board transactions: 

The taxation, other revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations 

of The Region of Peel and the school boards are not reflected in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

(d) Basis of accounting: 

The City follows the accrual method of accounting.  Under the accrual method of 

accounting, revenue are recognized in the period in which the transactions or events that 

gave rise to the revenue occurred. 

Expenses are the cost of goods or services acquired in the period whether or not payment 

has been made or invoices received. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

7 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Cash and short-term investments: 

Cash and short-term investments include short-term highly liquid investments with terms to 

maturity of 90 days or less.  Cash and short-term investments are recorded at cost with 

write down to market when there is a decrease in value. 

(f) Long-term investments: 

Long-term investments consist of bonds and debentures and are recorded at amortized 

cost.  Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase of these investments are amortized 

over the term of the investments.  When there has been a loss of value that is other than a 

temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written down to market value to 

recognize the loss in the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus. 

(g) Other assets: 

Other assets are valued at cost and include long-term receivables.  Recoverability is 

assessed annually, and a valuation allowance is recorded when recoverability has been 

impaired.  Other assets including long-term receivables are written off when they are no 

longer recoverable. Recoveries of other assets including long-term receivables that have 

been previously written off are recognized in the year received.  Other assets including 

long-term receivables with significant concessionary terms are reported as an expense on 

the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus. 

(h) Contaminated sites: 

Contaminated sites are defined as the result of contamination being introduced that 

exceeds an environmental standard.  A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is 

recognized, net of any expected recoveries, when all of the following criteria are met: 

(i) an environmental standard exists; 

(ii) contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

(iii) the organization is directly responsible or accepts responsibility for the liability; 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

8 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(iv) future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(v) a reasonable estimate of the liability can be made. 

The liability is estimated based upon information that is available when the consolidated 

financial statements are prepared.  It is based upon the costs directly attributable to the 

remediation activities required using a present value measurement technique. 

(i) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets include tangible capital assets and inventory and prepaids.  They are 

not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of 

services. 

Inventory and prepaid expenses held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and 

replacement cost. 

(j) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost, 

less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, are amortized on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Land Unlimited 
Buildings and building improvements 10 - 40 
Furniture, computer and office equipment 2 - 20 
Infrastructure 10 - 40 
Land improvements 10 - 30 
Vehicles and machinery 7 - 15 
Assets under capital lease Lesser of useful life and lease term 

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal.  

Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

9 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Contributions of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 

date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(ii) Works of art and cultural and historic assets: 

Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these 

consolidated financial statements.  The City owns both works of art and historical 

treasures at various City-owned facilities.  These assets are deemed worthy of 

preservation because of the social rather than financial benefits they provide to the 

community. 

(iii) Interest capitalization: 

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or 

construction of a tangible capital asset. 

(iv) Leased tangible capital assets: 

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership 

of property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are 

accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses 

as incurred. 

(v) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair value could not be made, the tangible capital asset was 

recognized at a nominal value.  Land is the only category where nominal values were 

assigned. 

(k) Government transfers: 

Government transfers are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as revenue 

in the year in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are 

authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts 

can be made. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

10 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(l) Deferred revenue - general: 

Deferred revenue represents user charges and fees which have been collected but for 

which the related services have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as 

revenue in the fiscal year the services are performed. 

(m) Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds: 

The City receives gas taxes and transfer payments from other levels of government and 

development charges under the authority of Provincial Legislation and City By-Laws.  

These funds by their nature are restricted in their use and until applied to applicable capital 

works are recorded as deferred revenue.  Amounts applied to qualifying capital projects are 

recorded as revenue in the fiscal year they are expended. 

(n) Taxation and user charges revenue: 

Tax receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset, 

the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred.  User charges are recognized 

when measurable and earned. 

(o) Investment income: 

Investment income earned on available surplus funds is reported as revenue in the year 

earned.  Investment income earned on obligatory reserve funds is added to the fund 

balance and forms part of respective deferred revenue balances. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

11 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(p) Pensions and employee benefits: 

(i) The City provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods. 

These benefits include sick leave, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance 

Board Act ("WSIB") and life insurance, extended health and dental benefits for early 

retirees.  The costs of sick leave, benefits under WSIB and life insurance, extended 

health and dental benefits are actuarially determined using management's best 

estimate of salary escalation, accumulated sick days at retirement, insurance and 

health care cost trends, long-term inflation rates and discounted rates.  For self-insured 

retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over the periods 

of service provided by employees, such as compensated absences and health, dental 

and life insurance benefits for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the 

projected benefits method prorated on service.  Under this method, the benefit costs 

are recognized over the expected average service life of the employee group.  Any 

actuarial gains and losses related to the past service of employees are amortized over 

the expected average remaining service life of the employee group.  For those self-

insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from time to time, 

such as obligations for workers' compensation and life insurance and health care 

benefits for those on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period 

when the events occur.  Any actuarial gains or losses that are related to these benefits 

are recognized immediately in the year they arise. 

(ii) The costs of a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan, such as the Ontario 

Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") pensions which is accounted for 

as a defined contribution plan, are the employer's defined contributions to the plan in 

the year. 

Unamortized actuarial gains or losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 

expected average remaining service life of the related employee groups.  Unamortized 

actuarial gains/losses for event-triggered liabilities, such as those determined as claims 

related to WSIB are amortized over the average expected year during which the benefits 

will be paid. 

Costs related to prior period employee services arising out of plan amendments are 

recognized in the year in which the plan is amended. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

12 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(q) Budget figures: 

The City budgets for the following items on the consolidated statement of operations and 

accumulated surplus:  interest earned on reserves, developer contributed tangible capital 

assets and amortization expense. 

The City Council completes separate budget reviews for its operating and capital project 

budgets each year.  Both budgets are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations 

and accumulated surplus. 

The operating budget is based on projected operating expenses to be incurred during the 

current year.  Budgets established for capital projects are set on a project-oriented basis, 

the costs of which may be carried out over one or more fiscal years. 

(r) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions.  This affects the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year.  

Significant estimates and assumptions include allowance for doubtful accounts for certain 

accounts receivable, carrying value of tangible capital assets, provisions accrued liabilities 

and obligations related to employee future benefits.  The full extent of the impact that 

COVID-19 pandemic, including government and regulatory responses to the pandemic, will 

have on the Canadian economy and the City's operations remains uncertain at this time. 

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

(s) Related parties disclosure: 

A related party exists when one party has the ability to exercise control or shared control 

over the other.  Related parties include key management personnel, their close family 

members and the entities they control or have shared control over.  Related party 

transactions are disclosed if they occurred at a value different from that which would have 

been arrived at if parties were unrelated and the transaction has material effect on the 

consolidated financial statements.  As at December 31, 2022, there are no such related 

party transactions to disclose. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(t) Contingent assets: 

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations 

involving uncertainty which will be ultimately resolved when one of more future events 

occur that are not within the government's control.  Disclosure of a contingent asset is 

required under this standard when the occurrence of a confirming future event is likely.  As 

at December 31, 2022, there are no such contingent assets to disclose. 

(u) Contractual rights: 

Contractual rights require the disclosure of information in regards to future rights to 

economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result in a future 

economic benefit.  Such disclosure includes the nature, extent and timing of contractual 

rights.  The City is involved with various contracts and agreements arising in the ordinary 

course of business.  This results in contractual rights to economic resources.  Contractual 

rights are reported in note 19. 

(v) Assets: 

The assets standard provides additional guidance on the definition of assets and what is 

meant by economic resources, control, past transactions and events and from which future 

economic benefits are to be obtained.  For the year ended December 31, 2022, all material 

assets have been disclosed and reported within this definition. 

(w) Newly adopted accounting standards: 

There are no newly adopted accounting standards for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

Page 135 of 196



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF BRAMPTON 
DRAFT Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

14 

2. Future accounting pronouncements: 

These standards and amendments were not effective for the year ended December 31, 2021, 

and have therefore not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  

Management is currently assessing the impact of the following accounting standards updates 

on the future consolidated financial statements. 

(a) PS 1201, Financial Statement Presentation, was issued in June 2011.  This standard 

requires entities to present a new statement of remeasurement gains and losses separate 

from the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus.  This new 

statement includes unrealized gains and losses arising from remeasurement of financial 

instruments and items denominated in foreign currencies and any other comprehensive 

income that arises when a government includes the results of government business 

enterprises and partnerships.  This section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 

April 1, 2022 (the City's December 31, 2023 year-end) and applies when PS 3450, 

Financial Instruments, and PS 2601, Foreign Currency Translation, are adopted. 

(b) PS 3450, Financial Instruments, establishes the standards on accounting for and reporting 

all types of financial instruments including derivatives.  This standard is effective for fiscal 

periods beginning on or after April 1, 2022 (the City's December 31, 2023 year-end). 

(c) PS 2601, Foreign Currency Translation, establishes the standards on accounting for and 

reporting transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency.  This standard is  

effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after April 1, 2022 (the City's December 31, 2023 

year-end). Earlier adoption is permitted.  A public sector entity adopting this standard must 

also adopt the new financial instruments standard. 

(d) PS 3280, Asset Retirement Obligation, addresses the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of legal obligations associated with retirement of tangible 

capital assets in productive use.  This section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or 

after April 1, 2022 (the City's December 31, 2023 year-end).  

(e) PS 3400, Revenue, establishes a single framework to categorize revenue to enhance the 

consistency of revenue recognition and its measurement.  This section is effective for fiscal 

years beginning on or after April 1, 2023 (the City's December 31, 2024 year-end). 

(f) Public Sector Guideline 8, Purchased Intangibles, allows public sector entities to recognize 

intangibles purchased through an exchange transaction.  This guideline is effective for 

fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2023 (the City's December 31, 2024 year-end). 
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3. Restatement of prior year comparative figures: 

The comparative information presented in the consolidated financial statements has been 

adjusted for prior period adjustments relating to deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds 

reported in 2021.  The comparative information has been adjusted to reflect an increase in 

deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds of $173,056.  The amount previously reported for 

deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds was understated.  Prior to January 1, 2021, 

amounts previously reported for development and other contributions applied revenues were 

overstated by $173,056.  These unspent funds were recognized as revenue in advance of 

when they were earned. 

The impact of these changes has been adjusted and prior periods have been restated as 

follows: 

  As previously Restatement 
  reported adjustment As restated 

Consolidated statement of financial position: 

Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds  
at December 31, 2021 $ 525,613 $ 173,056 $ 698,669 

Total financial liabilities at December 31, 2021 932,958 173,056 1,106,014 
Accumulated surplus at December 31, 2021 4,518,363 (173,056) 4,345,307 

Consolidated statement of operations: 

Obligatory revenue earned for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 (including a 
reclassification of $13,329 from interest 
earned on reserves) $ 108,623 $ 2,177 $ 110,800 

Total revenues for the year ended  
December 31, 2021 957,048 2,177 959,225 

Annual surplus for the year ended  
December 31, 2021 107,978 2,177 110,155 

Accumulated surplus at January 1, 2021 4,410,385 (175,233) 4,235,152 
Accumulated surplus at December 31, 2021 4,518,363 (173,056) 4,345,307 

Consolidated statement of cash flows: 

Annual surplus at December 31, 2021 $ 107,978 $ 2,177 $ 110,155 
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds 

at December 31, 2021 90,258 (2,177) 88,081 
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4. Cash and investments: 

Cash and short-term investments of $326,384 (2021 - $414,431) includes short-term 

investments of $256,817 (2021 - $200,593) with a market value $256,817 (2021 - $200,593) at 

the end of the year. 

Long-term investments of $971,530 (2021 - $876,553) have a market value of $888,167 (2021 - 

$896,070) at the end of the year. 

As at December 31, 2022, the City's long-term investments measured at amortized cost exceed 

market value, representing a temporary decline in market value but no decline in the amortized 

cost value reported.  There is no impairment due to the low-risk nature of the investments, the 

high credit ratings of the issuers, and the City's intention to hold these investments to their 

maturities. 

5. Other assets: 

Included in other assets in the consolidated statement of financial position is $7,984 (2021 - 

$7,984) consisting of a long-term loan receivable of $6,000 advanced by the City towards the 

construction of the CAA Centre (formerly the "Powerade Centre") with a due date of August 31, 

2034 and a further $1,984 representing advances under the Loan and Priorities Agreement 

established in 1998 and bearing interest at the rate of 6.08% per annum. 

The City is also the guarantor for the Powerade Centre Term Loan ("Term Loan", previously a 

mortgage) held by the Royal Bank of Canada.  In 2017, the Term Loan, which has an 

amortization period ending in August 2034, was renegotiated with a 5-year term ending on 

March 21, 2022.  The Term Loan has an outstanding balance of $6,432 on December 31, 2022 

(2021 - $6,846). 

6. Capital lease obligation: 

In 2014, the City entered into a capital lease arrangement (the "agreement") for a City Hall 

West Tower. 

The agreement requires equal monthly lease payments over a period of 25 years until 2039.  At 

the expiry of the agreement, the legal title of the building will be transferred to the City. 
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6. Capital lease obligation (continued): 

Annual lease payments under the agreement are as follows: 

2023   $ 8,354 
2024  8,354 
2025  8,354 
2026  8,354 
2027  8,354 
2028 and thereafter  96,759 

Total minimum lease payments  138,529 

Less amount representing implicit interest at 7.59%  59,827 

Capital lease obligation   $ 78,702 

Included in interest expense reported in the consolidated statement of operations and 

accumulated surplus is $6,065 (2021 - $6,231) for interest expense related to the capital lease 

obligation. 

7. Long-term liabilities: 

The City has long-term debt managed and issued by the Region of Peel.  The City has the 

responsibility for the annual contribution towards sinking funds that would be used to extinguish 

the debt at maturity.  The total long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of 

financial position include the following: 

  2022 2021 

Unsecured debenture issued in 2019 by  
the Regional Municipality of Peel on  
behalf of the City, bearing interest at 3.85%, 
maturing on 2042 $ 24,554 $ 24,554 

Unsecured debenture issued in 2021 by  
the Regional Municipality of Peel on  
behalf of the City, bearing interest at 2.5%, 
maturing on 2042 18,471 18,471 

Less sinking fund deposits bearing interest at 2.5% 2,082 737 

  $ 40,943 $ 42,288 
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7. Long-term liabilities (continued): 

Actuarially determined funding contribution requirements for the next six years are as follows: 

2023   $ 1,338 
2024  1,358 
2025  1,378 
2026  1,399 
2027   1,420 
2028 and thereafter  29,208 
Interest to be earned on sinking fund debt  4,842 

Unsecured debenture, net of sinking fund deposits   $ 40,943 

Interest expense in the amount of $1,386 (2021 - $886) has been recognized on the 

consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus.  The annual sinking fund 

deposits and interest payments required to service the long-term liabilities of the municipality 

are within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 

Housing. 

8. Deferred revenue: 

(a) Deferred revenue - general: 

Deferred revenue - general is comprised of user charges for parks and recreation 

programs, transit advertising revenue applicable for the following year and unspent 

provincial funding for capital projects.  As at December 31, 2022, the deferred revenue - 

general amounted to $30,553 (2021 - 35,273). 

(b) Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds: 

Obligatory reserve funds are to be reported as deferred revenue.  This requirement is in 

place as Federal and Provincial legislation and other City by-laws and agreements may 

restrict how these funds may be used and under certain circumstances these funds may 

possibly be refunded. 
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8. Deferred revenue (continued): 

As at December 31, 2022, obligatory reserve funds amounted to $715,746 (2021 - 

$698,669).  This balance includes unspent development charges, unspent gas tax receipts 

as well as unspent funding for specific infrastructure projects received from federal and 

provincial governments. 

Details of these deferred revenue are as follows: 

   Amount 
   received Amount 
   including recognized as 
  Opening interest revenue Closing 
  (Restated - 
  note 3) 

Developer $ 350,302 $ 81,716 $ 48,386 $ 383,632 
Federal gas tax 112,773 37,506 48,013 102,266 
Provincial gas tax 5,444 16,284 15,728 6,000 
Other 230,150 30,924 37,226 223,848 

Total $ 698,669 $ 166,430 $ 149,353 $ 715,746 

Other deferred revenue includes other obligatory reserves such as developer deposits for 

subdivision maintenance and future construction. 

9. Employee benefits and other liabilities: 

The City provides certain employee benefits, which will require funding in future periods.  Under 

the sick-leave benefit plan, unused sick leave can accumulate and employees may become 

entitled to cash payment when they leave the City's employment.  With respect to 

responsibilities under provisions of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board ("WSIB"), the 

City has elected to be treated as a Schedule 2 employer and remits payments to the WSIB as 

required to fund disability payments.  An actuarial estimate of future liabilities has been 

completed and forms the basis for the estimated liability reported in these consolidated financial 

statements. 
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9. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

Employee benefits and other liabilities included in the consolidated financial statements are 

summarized below: 

  2022 2021 

WSIB $ 28,879 $ 22,904 
Vested sick leave benefits 30,398 27,833 
Vacation pay 14,892 11,154 
Non-pension post-employment benefits 39,176 36,279 
Self-insurance liability 8,665 9,199 
Other 275 129 

Total $ 122,285 $ 107,498 

As at December 31, 2022, the City has allocated reserves and reserve funds of $4,333 (2021 - 

$17,172) to fund some of these obligations.  Any additional requirements to fund these 

obligations will be covered by General Rate Stabilization Reserve. 

The most recent full actuarial valuation for WSIB, vested sick leave benefits and non-pension 

post-employment benefits was performed as at December 31, 2019. 
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9. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

The following table sets out the actuarial results for each of the plans as at December 31: 

     2022 2021 
    Non-pension 
   Vested post- 
   sick leave employment 
Item WSIB benefits benefits Total Total 

Accrued benefit obligation 
("ABO"), beginning of year $ 30,684 $ 34,887 $ 47,960 $ 113,531 $ 108,319 

Add: 
Actuarial loss     – 
Current benefit cost 3,887 3,398 2,531 9,816 9,385 
Increase due to  

survivor awards 2,865 – – 2,865 – 
Interest cost 1,090 1,311 1,803 4,204 4,012 

  38,526 39,596 52,294 130,416 121,716 

Less current benefit 
payments 2,967 3,245 2,266 8,478 8,184 

ABO, end of year 35,559 36,351 50,028 121,938 113,532 

Unamortized actuarial loss (6,680) (5,953) (10,852) (23,485) (26,516) 

Liability for benefits, 
end of year $ 28,879 $ 30,398 $ 39,176 $ 98,453 $ 87,016 

The amortization of actuarial gains and losses for the current year is in the amount of $3,031 

(2021 - $3,031). 

The actuarial valuations of the plans were based upon a number of assumptions about future 

events, which reflect management's best significant assumptions and estimates.  The following 

represents the more significant assumptions made: 

    Non-pension 
   Vested post- 
   sick leave employment 

 WSIB benefits benefits 

Expected inflation rate 1.75% 1.75% 1.75% 
Expected level of salary increases n/a 2.75% 2.75% 
Interest discount rate 3.50% 3.75% 3.75% 
Dental premium rates increase n/a n/a 3.75% 
Health care premium rates increase 6.75% n/a 6.75% 
Expected average remaining service life 1 years 14 years 15 years 
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10. Pension agreements: 

The City makes contributions to OMERS, which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of all 

permanent, full-time members of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit plan, which specifies the 

amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees, based on the length of 

service and rates of pay.  The City accounts for its participation in OMERS, as a defined 

contribution plan. 

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2022 was $32,130 (2021 - $31,619) for current service 

and is included as an expense on the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated 

surplus.  Employee contributions totaled $32,130 (2021 - $31,619). 

The City is current with all payments to OMERS, therefore, there is neither a surplus nor deficit 

with the pension plan contributions.  However, the OMERS pension plan had a deficit at 

December 31, 2022 of $6.7 billion based on actuarial valuation of plan assets. 

11. Accumulated surplus: 

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus, including funds committed for capital 

projects, and reserves and reserve funds as follows: 

  2022 2021 

Tangible capital assets $ 4,109,507 $ 4,031,167 
Deficit funds from committed capital projects 

and other (252,583) (238,888) 
  3,856,924 3,792,279 

Reserves 103,210 110,180 
Reserve funds 462,200 442,848 

Total $ 4,422,334 $ 4,345,307 
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12. Expenses by object: 

The following is a summary of the expenses reported on the consolidated statement of 

operations and accumulated surplus by object: 

  Budget 
  2022 2022 2021 

Salaries, wages and fringe benefits $ 495,892 $ 486,039 $ 437,509 
Materials and supplies 94,073 106,075 82,625 
Contracted services 121,640 139,155 148,958 
Rents and financial expenses 21,493 21,164 20,993 
Government transfers 1,803 1,858 1,713 
Amortization of tangible  

capital assets (note 15) 148,105 157,246 155,987 
Other – 15  1,285 

Total expenses $ 883,006 $ 911,552 $ 849,070 

13. Trust funds: 

Trust funds administered by the City amounted to $35,678 (2021 - $32,840) are presented in 

the separate financial statements of trust funds balances and operations.  As such balances  

are held in trust by the City for the benefit of others, they are not presented as part of the City's 

consolidated financial position or operations. 

" The City administers the following trust funds: 

" Cemeteries Care and Maintenance Trust; 

" Developers' Performance Deposits Trust; 

" Developer Front End Financing Trust; 

" Brampton Marketing Board, Greater Toronto Area and Greater Toronto Marketing Alliance; 

and 

" Brampton Sports Hall of Fame. 
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14. Public liability insurance: 

The City is self-insured for all lines of coverage including public liability, errors and omissions 

and Brampton Transit claims up to $1,000.  This is for any number of claims arising out of a  

single occurrence.  Outside coverage is in place for claims in excess of these limits. 

Claims settled during the year amounting to $3,651 (2021 - $3,775) have been provided for 

from the General Rate Stabilization Reserve, and are accordingly reported as expenses on the 

consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus. 

In the normal course of its operations, the City is subject to various litigation and claims.  Where 

management has assessed the likelihood of the success of the claim as more likely than not 

and where a reasonable estimate as to the exposure can be made, an accrual has been 

recorded in these consolidated financial statements.  In some instances, the ultimate outcome  

of these claims cannot be determined at this time.  However, the City's management believes 

that the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on its 

consolidated financial position. 

15. Tangible capital assets: 

The City has identified following major asset categories:  land; asset under capital lease; 

buildings and building improvements; furniture, computer and office equipment; infrastructure; 

land improvements and vehicles and machinery. 

  2021 Additions Disposals Transfers 2022 

Cost 

Land $ 1,723,639 $ 29,418 $ – $ – $ 1,753,057 
Asset under capital lease 93,500 – – – 93,500 
Buildings and building  

improvements 872,796 58,948 – – 931,744 
Furniture, computer and  

office equipment 92,584 5,056 (12,298) – 85,342 
Infrastructure 2,517,051 89,706 (167) – 2,606,590 
Land improvements 124,219 5,871 (1,343) – 128,747 
Vehicles and machinery 451,027 22,289 (11,703) – 461,613 
Assets under construction 92,913 151,711 – (127,398) 117,226 

Total $ 5,967,729 $ 362,999 $ (25,511) $ (127,398) $ 6,177,819 
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15. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

    Amortization 
  2021 Disposals expense 2022 

Accumulated amortization 

Land $ – $ – $ – $ – 
Asset under capital lease 27,738 – 3,740 31,478 
Buildings and building  

improvements 413,925 – 35,253 449,178 
Furniture, computer and  

office equipment 52,400 (12,293) 10,963 51,070 
Infrastructure 1,102,602 (167) 72,118 1,174,553 
Land improvements 60,634 (1,343) 5,954 65,245 
Vehicles and machinery 279,263 (11,693) 29,218 296,788 

Total $ 1,936,562 $ (25,496) $ 157,246 $ 2,068,312 

     2021 2022 

Net book value 

Land       $ 1,723,639 $ 1,753,057 
Asset under capital lease    65,762 62,022 
Buildings and building  

improvements    458,871 482,566 
Furniture, computer and  

office equipment    40,184 34,272 
Infrastructure    1,414,449 1,432,037 
Land improvements    63,585 63,502 
Vehicles and machinery    171,764 164,825 
Assets under construction    92,913 117,226 

Total       $ 4,031,167 $ 4,109,507 

(a) Assets under construction: 

Assets under construction having a value of $117,226 (2021 - $92,913) have not been 

amortized.  Amortization of these assets will commence when the assets are put into 

service. 

(b) Contributed tangible capital assets: 

Contributed capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of 

contribution.  Contributed capital assets are comprised of infrastructure assets acquired 

through subdivision assumptions.  The value of contributed assets received during the year 

is $84,988 (2021 - $126,182). 
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16. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Commitment for operating leases: 

The City leases facilities and equipment under operating leases expiring beyond 2026.  The 

minimum amounts payable under these arrangements are as follows: 

2023   $ 5,984 
2024  4,031 
2025  3,265 
2026   2,626 
2027 and thereafter  11,202 

    $ 27,108 

Excluded from these amounts is the capital lease obligation reported in note 6. 

(b) Contingent legal liabilities: 

As at December 31, 2022, there were various legal claims pending against the City arising 

in the ordinary course of its operations. The City has recorded a liability for certain 

uninsured claims, but has made no specific provision for those where the outcome is 

presently indeterminable.  See notes 9 and 14. 

17. Budget data: 

Budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based upon the 2022 

operating and capital budgets as approved by Council and adopted by the City at the 

December 8, 2021 meeting.  Adjustments to budgeted values were required to provide 

comparative budget values based on the components of full accrual basis of accounting.  The 

chart below reconciles the approved operating budget with the budget figures presented in 

these consolidated financial statements. 
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17. Budget data (continued): 

Revenue 

Approved operating budget   $ 784,983 

Less: 
Contributions from reserve fund  40,816 
Other  689 
   41,505 

Add: 
Development levies earned and  

other restricted capital contributions  91,300 
Interest earned on reserve  14,897 
Developer contributed assets  87,100 
   193,297 

Total reported on consolidated financial statements   $ 936,775 

Expenses

Approved operating budget   $ 784,983 

Less contributions to reserve funds  122,083 

Add: 
Other  6,506 
Operating projects budget  65,500 
Amortization  148,100 
   220,106 

Total reported on consolidated financial statements   $ 883,006 
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18. Segmented information: 

The City is a multifaceted municipal government that delivers a wide range of services that 

enhance quality of life to its citizens.  For additional information see the consolidated schedule 

of segment disclosure. 

Certain allocation methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial 

information.  Services are funded primarily by taxation and user fees.  Taxation revenue is 

allocated to the general government segment.  Certain government grants, user charges and 

other revenue have been allocated based upon the same allocation as the related expenses.  

User fees are allocated based upon the segment that generated the fee. 

City services are provided by various divisions whose activities are organized in the following 

segments for management reporting purposes: 

(a) General government: 

General government is comprised of Mayor and Councilor's as well as Corporate 

Management and Support sections. 

The departments within Corporate Management and Support sections are responsible for 

adopting bylaws and administrative policies; risk management; providing effective financial 

reporting, planning and controls; developing and maintaining flexible computer networks 

and resources to deliver information and telecommunications to City employees and the 

citizens of Brampton; acquiring, managing and disposing City assets; levying and collecting 

taxes. 

(b) Protection to persons and property: 

Protection services delivers Fire Emergency Services, By-law and Enforcement and POA 

administration.  The mandate of the Fire department is to provide fire protection and 

emergency response but also superior level of Fire Prevention and Public Education.  By-

law and Enforcement assist in maintaining Brampton as a safe, healthy and attractive City 

by responding to public concerns, patrolling City property and enforcing the City's by-laws. 
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18. Segmented information (continued): 

POA's mandate encompass the administration and prosecution of provincial offences, 

including those committed under the Highway Traffic Act, Compulsory Automobile 

Insurance Act, Trespass to Property Act, Liquor Licence Act, Municipal By-laws and minor 

federal offences. 

(c) Transportation services: 

The Works department manages various infrastructure projects as part of a 10-year capital 

program to expand and improve the City's road network and transportation infrastructure.  

In addition, major functions also include maintenance of road system (road resurfacing and 

snow clearing) and all associated infrastructure such as sidewalks, bridges and curbs. 

Brampton Transit is responsible for providing efficient and effective local public 

transportation service. 

(d) Environmental services: 

Environmental services are delivered by staff in the Works department. Primary 

responsibility of this section is catch basin and storm sewer maintenance.  In addition, the 

department performs watercourse maintenance in order to ensure public safety and 

environmental controls are in place.  Watercourse maintenance activities include controlling 

erosion, the removal of garbage and debris and responding to spills and illegal dumping to 

ensure water quality and proper cleanup. 

(e) Health, social and family services: 

Health, social and family services comprised cemetery operations and assistance to aged 

persons.  Assistance to aged persons includes senior's education tax rebate, senior snow 

clearing subsidy as well as maintenance of seniors centre. 
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18. Segmented information (continued): 

(f) Recreation and cultural services: 

The community services department is responsible for the delivery of Parks, Recreation 

and Cultural services.  The Parks Operations division maintains all parks, boulevards, 

sports fields, trees, horticultural displays, pathways and open space.  This division provides 

the residents of Brampton with safe, attractive, outdoor facilities delivered through a highly 

skilled and versatile workforce. 

The Recreation and Culture division is responsible for the delivery of all culture and 

recreation programs offered by the City and the day-to-day operation of all theatres and 

recreation buildings.  This division provides the City's front-line contact with the citizens of 

Brampton in Culture, Recreation Facilities and Programs providing many activities that 

enhance the richness and quality of life for residents. 

This section also contributes towards the information needs of the City's citizens through 

the provision of library services by the Library. 

(g) Planning and development services: 

The Planning and Development Department responsibilities encompass planning, design 

and development approvals, management of building permit processes, long-range 

Brampton official plan and growth management.  This department is also responsible for 

providing advice to City Council, the public, and the development/building industry with 

respect to a broad range of land use planning, development applications, urban design, 

public buildings and open space/facility development issues, development engineering, and 

transportation planning. 
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19. Contractual rights: 

The City is involved in various contracts and agreements arising in the ordinary course of 

business.  This results in contractual rights to economic resources, leading to both assets and 

revenue in the future. 

Future revenue from incoming lease agreements for City-owned properties are approximately 

$7,900 (2021 - $6,800).  The City also has a number of material Federal and Provincial funding 

agreements with estimated future funding of approximately $35,952 (2021 - $71,583). 

The timing of these funding agreements is as follows: 

2023   $ 35,952 

In addition, the City has a number of claims based agreements with estimated entitlements of 

$34,269 as at December 31, 2022. 

20. Government transfers: 

Transfers from other governments recognized in the current year: 

  2022 2021 

General government $ 4,227 $ 10,882 
Protection to persons and property 83 211 
Transportation services 4,546 25,419 
Environmental services 6 – 
Health, social and family services 83 102 
Recreation and cultural services 3,074 482 
Planning and development services 1,829 474 

Total funding $ 13,848 $ 37,570 
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20. Government transfers (continued): 

During 2022, the City received total funding of nil (2021 - $51,836) from the provincial 

government as part of the Safe Restart Agreement.  The Safe Restart Agreement is a federal 

investment to help provinces and territories safely restart their economies.  COVID-19 was a 

global pandemic that started at the beginning of 2020 and lasted until middle of 2020 fiscal 

year.  The City recognized $7,420 (2021 - $31,748) as government transfers reported for the 

current year, as per the funding allocation from the Province of Ontario.  The remaining 

$20,860 is unspent and has been reported in deferred revenue - general as at December 31, 

2022. 

21. Subsequent event: 

On March 29, 2022, City Council approved the credit facility arrangement with the Canada 

Infrastructure Bank ("CIB") for financing of Zero Emission Buses ("ZEBs") in the amount of up 

to $400 million between January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2027.  The CIB is charging the City 

an interest rate of 1% on funding accessed through the credit facility.  Repayment term is 15-

years for each round of financing discharged by CIB to the City.  Repayments of borrowing 

through the credit facility arrangement will be funded by operating savings realized as a result 

of fleet conversion to ZEBs.  As at December 31, 2022, there have been no draws against this 

credit facility. 

22. Comparative information: 

Certain 2021 comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the financial 

statement presentation adopted in the current year. 
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Dd]XRX_P[!8Rc(!.,,-(!Dd]XRX_P[!8UUPXab!8Rc(!<TeT[^_\T]c!;WPaVTb!8Rc!P]S!aT[PcTS![TVXb[PcX^]*!

JWT! UX]P]RXP[! bcPcT\T]cb!^U!JWT!;^a_^aPcX^]!^U! cWT!;Xch!^U!9aP\_c^]!Jadbc!>d]Sb! &cWT! "Jadbc!

>d]Sb"'! PaT! _aT_PaTS! Qh! \P]PVT\T]c! X]! PRR^aSP]RT! fXcW! VT]TaP[[h! PRRT_cTS! PRR^d]cX]V!

_aX]RX_[Tb!U^a![^RP[!V^eTa]\T]cb!Pb!aTR^\\T]STS!Qh!cWT!GdQ[XR!ITRc^a!8RR^d]cX]V!9^PaS!^U!cWT!

;WPacTaTS!Ga^UTbbX^]P[!8RR^d]cP]cb!^U!;P]PSP*!

&P'! %>I!;P_cX^]!U^a!HTRTX_cb%(!^cWTa!cWP]!X]cTaTbc!P]S![TccTab!^U!RaTSXc!aTRTX_cb(!PaT!aT_^acTS!^]!

ST_^bXcb! PaT! aTR^V]XiTS! Pb! aTeT]dT! d_^]! RPbW! aTRTX_c*! ! A]cTaTbc! X]R^\T! P]S! [TccTab! ^U!

RaTSXc!aTRTX_cb!PaT!aTR^aSTS!^]!cWT!PRRadP[!QPbXb!^U!PRR^d]cX]V*!

&Q'! HTcda]b! ^U! _TaU^a\P]RT! ST_^bXcb! PaT! aT_^acTS! X]! cWT! _TaX^Sb! X]! fWXRW! cWTh! PaT! _PhPQ[T!

TXcWTa! SXaTRc[h! Qh! cWT! Jadbc! >d]Sb! ^a! cWa^dVW! cWT! ;Xch! Ud]Sb*! ! 8[[! ^cWTa! Tg_T]SXcdaTb! PaT!

aT_^acTS!^]!cWT!PRRadP[!QPbXb!^U!PRR^d]cX]V*! !JWT!PRRadP[!QPbXb!^U!PRR^d]cX]V!aTR^V]XiTb!

Tg_T]SXcdaTb! Pb! cWTh! PaT! X]RdaaTS! P]S! \TPbdaPQ[T! Pb! P! aTbd[c! ^U! aTRTX_c! ^U! V^^Sb! ^a!

bTaeXRTb!P]S!cWT!RaTPcX^]!^U!P![TVP[!^Q[XVPcX^]!c^!_Ph*!

&R'! A]eTbc\T]cb(! X]R[dSX]V! P]h! cTa\! ST_^bXcb! ]^c! PePX[PQ[T! ^]! ST\P]S(! PaT! aT_^acTS! Pc! cWT!

[^fTa!^U!P\^acXiTS!R^bc!P]S!\PaZTc!eP[dT*!

&$! 0QC!DNLJ!PFC!/GPS,!

JWT! P\^d]cb! SdT! Ua^\+c^! cWT! ;Xch! aT_aTbT]c! P\^d]cb! Ua^\! SXUUTaT]c! >d]Sb(! PaT! ]^])X]cTaTbc!

QTPaX]V(!P]S!WPeT!]^!UXgTS!aT_Ph\T]c!cTa\b*!
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!

,1)-3!E^cTb!c^!>X]P]RXP[!IcPcT\T]cb!&R^]cX]dTS'!
!
MTPa!T]STS!<TRT\QTa!/-(!.,..!
!

!

0!

'$! /CJCPCNGCO!/@NC!@KB!6@GKPCK@KAC!=NQOP!2QKBO,!

JWT! ;Xch! \PX]cPX]b! bTeTaP[! RT\TcTaXTb(! X]R[dSX]V! cWT! U^[[^fX]V! fWXRW! WPeT! ;PaT! P]S!

DPX]cT]P]RT! Jadbc! >d]Sb! fWXRW! cWT! ;Xch! PS\X]XbcTab6! 9aP\_c^](! GPVT7! @X[[c^_! ?^aT7! IWX[^W7!

8[[^P7!?aPWP\beX[[T7!NX^]7!Dc*!F[XeTc7!Ic*!B^W]!)!;Pbc[T\^aT7!Ic*!B^W]!)!I]T[Va^eT7!Ic*!DPah!)!

Jd[[P\^aT7!P]S!=eT]cXST*!

A]cTaTbc! X]R^\T!PccaXQdcPQ[T! c^!TPRW!^U! cWT! X]SXeXSdP[!Jadbc!>d]Sb! cWPc! Xb! aTRTXeTS!SdaX]V!P]h!

_PacXRd[Pa! hTPa! Xb! caP]bUTaaTS! c^! cWT! ;Xch! HTeT]dT! >d]S! X]! cWPc! hTPa! c^! _PacXP[[h! ^UUbTc! cWT!

\PX]cT]P]RT!R^bc!U^a!TPRW!RT\TcTah!c^!fWXRW!cWT!X]SXeXSdP[!Jadbc!>d]Sb!aT[PcT*!!JWT!^_TaPcX^]b!

P]S!X]eTbc\T]cb!^U!cWT!Ud]S!PaT!d]STacPZT]!Qh!cWT!;Xch!X]!PRR^aSP]RT!fXcW!cWT!aTVd[PcX^]!^U!cWT!

";T\TcTaXTb!8Rc!&HTeXbTS'"*!

($! 0CRCILMCNO"!9CNDLNJ@KAC!0CMLOGPO!=NQOP,!

JWT!<TeT[^_Tab%!GTaU^a\P]RT!<T_^bXcb!Jadbc!fPb!TbcPQ[XbWTS!U^a!cWT!U^[[^fX]V!_da_^bTb6!

&P'! J^! W^[S! _TaU^a\P]RT! ST_^bXcb! \PST! Qh! X]SXeXSdP[! _PacXTb! c^! cWT! ;Xch! Pb! PbbdaP]RT! cWPc!

b_TRXUXR!^Q[XVPcX^]b!PVaTTS!d_^]!PaT!Ud[UX[[TS*!!F]RT!Ud[UX[[TS(!cWT!ST_^bXc!WT[S!Xb!aTcda]TS!c^!

cWT!aTb_TRcXeT!_Pach*!

&Q'! LWT]!P!_Pach!STeT[^_b!P!_a^_Tach! X]!cWT!;Xch(!VT]TaP[[h!P! [TccTa!^U!RaTSXc! Xb!^QcPX]TS!Ua^\!

cWT!_Pach%b!QP]Z(!fWXRW!_a^eXSTb!P!VdPaP]cTT!c^!cWT!;Xch!cWPc!cWT!R^]caPRc!fX[[!QT!R^\_[TcTS!

Pb!b_TRXUXTS*!!FcWTafXbT(!cWT!;Xch!Xb!PQ[T!c^!SaPf!d_^]!cWT![TccTa!^U!RaTSXc!P]S!c^!ST_^bXc!cWT!

Ud]Sb!X]!cWT!Jadbc!c^!QT![PcTa!dbTS!c^!_Ph!P!cWXaS!_Pach!c^!R^\_[TcT!cWT!R^]caPRc*!

)$! 0CRCILMCN!2NLKP!1KB!2GK@KAGKE!=NQOP!2QKB,!

JWT! >a^]c)=]S! >X]P]RX]V! Jadbc! >d]S! fPb! TbcPQ[XbWTS! X]! -55/! c^! aTRTXeT! R^]caXQdcX^]b! Ua^\!

STeT[^_Tab! U^a! bcdSXTb! P]S! R^]bcadRcX^]! ^U! bTaeXRTb! fWXRW! ]^c! ^][h! QT]TUXc! cWTXa! _PacXRd[Pa!

STeT[^_\T]c! Qdc! fX[[! P[b^! d[cX\PcT[h! QT]TUXc! ^cWTa! UdcdaT! STeT[^_\T]c*! JWT! >a^]c)=]S!

<TeT[^_Tab!_a^eXST! cWT! X]XcXP[! UX]P]RX]V! X]! [XTd!^U! cWT!;Xch! U^a! cWT! aT`dXaTS!bcdSXTb!P]S!RP_XcP[!

f^aZb! P]S! T]cTa! X]c^! PVaTT\T]cb! fXcW! cWT! ;Xch! c^! aTR^eTa! cWT! R^bcb! Pbb^RXPcTS! fXcW! ^cWTa!

QT]TUXcX]V![P]S^f]Tab!^]!P!QTbc!TUU^ac!QPbXb*!
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!

,1)-3!E^cTb!c^!>X]P]RXP[!IcPcT\T]cb!&R^]cX]dTS'!
!
MTPa!T]STS!<TRT\QTa!/-(!.,..!
!

!

1!

*$! .N@JMPLK!<MLNPO!4@II!LD!2@JC,!

JWT!9aP\_c^]!I_^acb!@P[[!^U!>P\T!&cWT!"9I@>"'!Xb!P!]^])_a^UXc!^aVP]XiPcX^]!cWPc!fPb!U^d]STS!

c^! aTR^V]XiT!P]S! W^]^da! cWT! WXbc^ah! ^U! b_^ac! X]! cWT! ;Xch! ^U! 9aP\_c^]! P]S! X]! _PacXRd[Pa! cW^bT!

_Tab^]b! fW^! WPeT! \PST! ^dcbcP]SX]V! R^]caXQdcX^]b! P]S! PRWXTeT\T]cb! X]! cWT! STeT[^_\T]c! ^U!

b_^ac!fXcWX]!cWT!R^\\d]Xch*!!JWT!9I@>!fX[[!R^[[TRc(!_aTbTaeT(!aTbTPaRW(!TgWXQXc!P]S!_a^\^cT!P[[!

cW^bT!^QYTRcb(!X\PVTb!P]S!WXbc^aXTb!fWXRW!PaT!STcTa\X]TS!c^!QT!bXV]XUXRP]c!c^!cWT!STeT[^_\T]c!

^U!b_^ac!X]!cWT!;Xch*!

+$! .N@JMPLK! 6@NHCPGKE! .L@NB#! 3NC@PCN! =LNLKPL! -NC@! @KB! 3NC@PCN! =LNLKPL! 6@NHCPGKE!

-IIG@KAC!=NQOP!2QKBO,!

JWT! 9aP\_c^]! DPaZTcX]V! 9^PaS! &cWT! "9D9"'(! cWT! ?aTPcTa! J^a^]c^! 8aTP! &cWT! "?J8"'! P]S! cWT!

?aTPcTa! J^a^]c^! DPaZTcX]V! 8[[XP]RT! &cWT! "?JD8"'! Jadbc! >d]Sb! fTaT! TbcPQ[XbWTS! c^! W^[S!

R^]caXQdcX^]b! \PST! Ua^\! cWT! STeT[^_\T]c! P]S! QdbX]Tbb! R^\\d]Xch*! ! JWT! Jadbc! >d]Sb! fTaT!

U^a\TS!Pb!_Pac]TabWX_b!QTcfTT]!cWT!9D9(!cWT!?J8!P]S!cWT!?JD8*!!JWTXa!\P]SPcT!Xb!c^!PccPX]!

R^a_^aPcT! P]S! \d]XRX_P[! b_^]b^abWX_! ^U! \PaZTcX]V! X]XcXPcXeTb! U^a! cWT! ;Xch(! cWT! ?J8! P]S! cWT!

?JD8*!
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Appendix C

The Corporation of the City of Brampton

2022 Municipal Surplus Reconciliation, Tax Levy purposes vs Consolidated Financial Statements ('000)

2022 2021

Surplus per CityWide Operating Summary, December 31 ( for tax levy purposes) -$           -$          

Add:  Net interfund transfer eliminated in consolidation 70,115 125,844

    Add:  Grants/subsidies and other revenue received directly by Capital projects 7,080 8,318
    Add:  Interest earned on reserves and reserve funds not included in the City's operating budget for tax levy purposes 12,439 11,891

Add:  Obligatory reserve fund revenues recognized during the year for project funding 149,353 110,800
Add:  Developers contributed assets recognized as municipal equity 84,988 126,182
Add:  Safe Restart/COVID-19 Revenue earned 7,420

Less:  PSAB adjustments re employee post retirement benefits and other legal liabilities 14,787 4,873
Less:  Expenses charged to Capital projects are reclassified as operating in nature 85,006 94,416
Less:  Amortization expense 153,775 155,988
Less:  Net cost of tangible capital assets disposed 9 1,285
Less:  Safe Restart/COVID-19 Deferred Revenue 20,089

     

Total municipal surplus before consolidation 77,818 106,384

Consolidated entities surplus/(deficit) & other ( net of consolidated eliminations, including the Library, BIA etc.): (791) 3,771

Total annual surplus per Consolidated Statement of Operations , December 31 77,027$     110,155$  
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